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LINDE CRYOGENICS LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

The directors present the strategic report for the company for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Review of the company's business and principal activities

The company is a member of the Linde plc group ("Linde Group”) and its ultimate parent company is Linde pic.
The company does not trade. The company's principal activity has been throughout the current and preceding
year an investment holding company for the Linde Group. It is envisaged that this will continue to be the principal
activity of the company fer the foreseeable future.

Performance of the company's business during the financial year

The results for the year are contained in the accompanying profit and loss account on page 7 which shows a loss
after tax for the financial year of $2,000 (2018: $11,997,0000).

Key performance indicators

The company's income is derived from dividends received from its subsidiary. The directors refer to the
company's level of income, its operating and retained profits, the value of its investments and net and current
asset values in evaluating the company's performance.

Position of the company's business at the year ended 31 December 2019

As at 31 December 2019 the company held net current assets of $50,000 (2018: $52,000) and net assets of
$167,148,000 (2018: $167,150,000).

Objectives and strategies

The company's primary objective and strategy is to continue as a helding company for investments in entities
that form part of the Linde Group.

Markets
Linde Cryogenics Limited holds an investment in a company based in the United Kingdom.
Risks and uncertainties

The principal risk and uncertainty facing the company includes but is not limited to investment risk. As an
investment holding company, the company is exposed to the risk of impairment through poor performing
subsidiaries. Impairment reviews are carried out to effectively manage and mitigate this risk.

The United Kingdom has left the European Union ("EU") ("Brexit"), and is now in a transition period before new
rules are expected to come into effect from 1 January 2021. The uncertainty of Brexit, poses potential financial
risks to our market and therefore to our business. However, any potential impact of Brexit will, to some extent, be
mitigated as the company's investment is located in the United Kingdom.

The directors acknowledge the current outbreak of Covid-19 and its potential to impact the economy and regions
in which the company operates. Whilst the directors continue to monitor this risk, as at the date of issuance of
these financial statements, there is no adverse material impact on the company's activities and the financial
position of the company remains positive.
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LINDE CRYOGENICS LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

This report was approved by the board of directors on g Da"f}"bc./ -‘ZCQC) and signed on its behalf
by:

Mrs S A Willia
Director
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LINDE CRYOGENICS LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.
Directors
The directors who held office during and after the year under review were;

Mr J M Bland (altemate director to Mrs S A Williams)
Mr B Patterson
Mrs S A Wiliams

The directors are not subject to retirement by rotation.
Dividends
No interim dividends were paid during the year (2018: $11,999,000).

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2019
(2018:5nit}.

Political contributions
The company made no political donations and did not incur any political expenditure during the year.
Disclosure of information to auditor

The directors holding office at the date of approval of this directors' report confirm that, so far as they are aware,
there is no relevant audit information of which the company’s auditor is unaware and each director has taken all
steps that ought to have been taken as directors to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the company’s auditor is aware of that information.

Auditor

Under section 487(2) of the Companies Act 2006, following the 2018 merger between the Linde GmbH (formely
Linde AG) and Linde Inc. (formerly Praxair,Inc.) the intention is for the Linde Plc Group auditor, PwC LLP, toc be
appointed as auditor of the Company.

This report was approved by the board of directors on 8 D€C€f-"bt/ 20120 and signed onits
behalf by:-

S K Kelly
Secretary

The Priestley Centre

10 Priestley Road

The Surrey Research Park
Guildford

Surrey

GU2 7XY

Engtand
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LINDE CRYOGENICS LIMITED

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE STRATEGIC REPORT,
DIRECTORS' REPORT AND THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for preparing the strategic report, the directors’ report and the financial statements
in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law they
have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with UK Accounting Standards and applicable
law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that
period.

In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:
+ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
» make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

+ state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

- assess the company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern; and

« use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They
are responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general
responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the company and
to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.
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LINDE CRYOGENICS LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF LINDE CRYOGENICS LIMITED

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Linde Cryogenics Limited (“the company”) for the year ended
31 December 2019 which comprise of the Profit and Loss account, the Balance Sheet, the Statement of
Changes of Equity and related notes, including the accounting policies in note 1.

In our opinion the financial statements:

. give a true and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at 31 December 2019 and of its profit for
the year then ended;

. have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting standards, including FRS 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework; and

- have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs {UK)") and
applicable law. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and
are independent of the company in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical
Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our
opinion

Going concern

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not intend to
liquidate the company or to cease its operations, and as they have concluded that the company's financial
position means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are no material uncertainties that could
have cast significant doubt over its ability to continue as a going concern for at least a year from the date of
approval of the financial statements (“the going concern period”).

We are required to report to you if we have concluded that the use of the going concern basis of accounting is
inappropriate or there is an undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt over the use of that
basis for a pericd of at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements. In our evaluation of the
directors’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the company’s business model and analysed how
those risks might affect the company's financial resources or ability to continue operations over the going
concern period. We have nothing to report in these respects.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes
that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the absence of
reference to a material uncertainty in this auditor's report is not a guarantee that the company will continue in
operation.

Directors’ report

The directors are responsible for the strategic report and directors’ report.  OQur opinion on the financial
statements does not cover that report and we do not express an audit opinion thereon.

Qur responsibility is to read the strategic report and directors’ report and, in doing so, consider whether, based
on our financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the
financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work:

. we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and directors’ report;
. in our opinion the information given in that report for the financial year is consistent with the financial
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LINDE CRYOGENICS LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF LINDE CRYOGENICS LIMITED

statements; and
. in our opinion that report has been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 20086. ,

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

. adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

. the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

. certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

. we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

. the directors were not entitled to take advantage of the small companies exemption from the requirement

to prepare a strategic report.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 4, the directors are responsible for: the preparation of
the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal control as they
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless they either intend to liquidate the company or o cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to
do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor's report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC's website at
www. frc.org. uk/auditresponsibilities.

The purpese of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Qur audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the
company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.
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LINDE CRYOGENICS LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REFORT TO THE MEMBERS OF LINDE CRYOGENICS LIMITED

Nick Plumb (Senior statutory auditor}

for and on behalf of

KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

1 Sovereign Square
Sovereign Square
Leeds

LS1 4DA

Date: 11 December 2020
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LINDE CRYOGENICS LIMITED

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Note
Income from shares in group undertakings 6
Interest payable and expenses 5
{Loss)/profit before tax
Tax on profit 7

Profit for the financial year

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

All of the above relates to continuing operations.

2019
$000

(2)

2018
3000

11,899
(2)

(2)

11,997

(2)

11,997

The company has no other comprehensive income in the year other than that included in the profit and loss

account above and therefore no separate statement of other comprehensive income has been prepared.
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LINDE CRYOGENICS LIMITED
REGISTERED NUMBER: 03412461

BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

Note
Non current assets
Investments 8
Current assets / (liabilities)
Debtors. amounts falling due within one year g
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 10

Net current assets
Net assets

Capital and reserves

Profit and loss account

Shareholders' funds

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

2019 2018
$000 $000
167,098 167,098
167,098 167,098
158 157
(108) (105)

50 52
167,148 167,150
167,148 167,150
167,148 167,150

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 8’ DCCﬁ"-"bC/ 2.09.0 and were

signed on its behalf by:

%\

Director
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LINDE CRYOGENICS LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Profit and
loss account Total equity
$000 $000
Balance at 1 January 2018 167,150 167,150
Loss for the year {2) (2)
Total comprehensive income for the year {2} {2)
Balance at 31 December 2019 167,148 167,148
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
Profit and
loss account Total equity
$000 $000
Balance at 1 January 2018 167,152 167,152
Profit for the year 11,997 11,997
Total comprehensive income for the year 11,997 11,997
Dividends: (11,899) (11,999)
167,150

Balance at 31 December 2018 167,150

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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LINDE CRYOGENICS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

1.

Accounting policies

Linde Cryogenics Limited is a company incorporated and domiciled in England in the UK. The
registered number is 03412461 and the registered address is The Priestley Centre, 10 Priestley
Road, The Surrey Research Park, Guildford, Surrey, GU2 7XY, England.

The company is exempt by virtue of the Companies Act 2006 from the requirement to prepare group
financial statements. These financial statements present information about the company as an
individual undertaking and not about its group.

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101
Reduced Disclosure Framework ("FRS 101").

In preparing these financial statements, the company applies the recognition, measurement and
disclosure requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU
(“Adopted IFRSs"), but makes amendments where necessary in order to comply with the Companies
Act 2006 and has set out below where advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been
taken.

The company's ultimate parent undertaking, Linde plc, includes the company in its consolidated
financial statements. The consolidated financial statements of Linde plc are prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reperting Standards and are available to the public and may be obtained
from its principal trading address at The Priestley Centre, 10 Priestley Road, The Surrey Research
Park, Guildford, Surrey, GU2 7XY, England.

In these financial statements, the company has applied the exemptions available under FRS 101 in
respect of the following disclosures:

- a Cash Flow Statement and related notes;

- comparative period reconciliations for share capital;

- disclosures in respect of transactions with wholly owned subsidiaries of the Linde Group;

- disclosures in respect of capital management;

- the effects of new but not yet effective IFRSs;

- disclosures in respect of the compensation of Key Management Personnel.

The accounting policies set out in this note have been applied consistently in preparing the financial
statements for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018.
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LINDE CRYOGENICS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

1. Accounting policies (continued)

1.1

1.2

1.3

Basis of preparation of financial statements
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis.
Going concern

The use of the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate because there are no material
uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt about the ability of the
company to continue as a going concern.

The company has net current assets and net assets and can therefore support itself for the
foreseeable future.

Covid 19 has been considered in the severe but plausible downside scenario for the going concern
assessment period of 18 months following the balance sheet date. The directors have not identified
any triggers to suggest the going concern basis of accounting is not appropriate in light of this
consideration. In the downside scenario, the directors assume that they do not receive any further
dividend income, and therefore fund their obligations with their current cash balances.

The forecasts are dependent on the company’s ability to draw on its cash balances on demand. The
company places its cash on deposit with Linde Finance BV, a fellow subsidiary of the company's
ultimate parent undertaking Linde plc. Under the terms of the deposit agreement between the
company and Linde Finance BV, the company is able to withdraw its cash balances without
restriction and on demand. The directors acknowledge that Linde Finance BV also holds similar
deposits and agreements with other entities within the wider Linde group and as a result the directors
do not have visibility of Linde Finance BV's ability to repay the company’s cash balances on demand
in downside scenarios from its own assets. However, Linde Finance BV has access to a $5bn
overdraft facility which expires in 26 March 2024 and which is undrawn at the time of signing of these
financial statements as well as a guarantee (the "Guarantee®) from Linde plc over its third party
creditors. These facilities are substantially in excess of Linde Finance BV's obligations to Linde
Group companies for cash balances placed on deposit and as a result the directors have concluded
that Linde Finance BV would be able to repay the company’s cash balance on demand throughout
the forecast period. In making this assessment, the directors have also considered Linde plc’s ability
to provide the Guarantee and have concluded that Linde ple has the intent and ability to do so.

Consequently, the directors are confident that the company will have sufficient funds to continue to
meet its liabilities as they fall due for at least 18 months from the date of approval of the financial
statements and therefore have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.

Functional currency
The functional currency of Linde Cryogenics Limited is US Dollars and the accounts are prepared

using its functional currency, which is the currency of the primary economic environment in which it
operates.
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LINDE CRYOGENICS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

1.

Accounting policies {(continued)

1.4

1.5

1.6

Foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are transiated to the company's functional currency at the foreign
exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are retranslated to the functional currency at the foreign
exchange rate ruling at that date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilittes denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at
fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at foreign exchange rates ruling at the date the
fair value was determined. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the
profit and loss account.

Classification of financial instruments issued by the company

Following the adoption of IAS 32, financial instruments issued by the company are treated as equity
only to the extent that they meet the following two conditions:

(a) they include no contractual obligations upon the company to deliver cash or other financial assets
or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are
potentially unfavourable to the company, and

(b} where the instrument will or may be settled in the company’s own equity instruments, it is either a
non-derivative that includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of the company’s own equity
instruments or is a derivative that will be settled by the company exchanging a fixed amount of cash
or other financial assets for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial liability.
Where the instrument so classified takes the legal form of the company’s own shares, the amounts
presented in these financial statements for called up share capital and share premium account
exclude amounts in relation to those shares.

Non-derivative financial instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity and debt securities, trade and
other debtors, cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and other creditors.

Trade and other debfors
Trade and other debtors are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition they are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Trade and other creditors
Trade and other creditors are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition they
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any impairment losses.
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LINDE CRYOGENICS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Accounting policies (continued)

1.7

1.8

1.9

Intra-group financial instruments

Where the company enters into financial guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebtedness of other
companies within its group, the company considers these to be insurance arrangements and
accounts for them as such. In this respect, the company treats the guarantee contract as a
contingent liability until such time as it becomes probable that the company will be required to make a
payment under the guarantee.

Income

Income from shares in group undertakings is recognised when dividends become a legally binding
liability of the company. In the case of interim dividends declared by the board, this is on payment of
the dividend. In the case of dividends approved by the company's members, this is recognised once
passed by the members.

Impairment excluding stocks, investment properties and deferred tax assets

Financial assets (including trade and other debfors)

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to
determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if
objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset,
and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can
be estimated reliably.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the
difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the asset's original effective interest rate. For financial instruments measured at cost
less impairment an impairment is calculated as the difference between its carrying amount and the
best estimate of the amount that the company would receive for the asset if it were to be sold at the
reporting date. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognised through the unwinding of
the discount. When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the
decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

1.10 Expenses

Interest receivable and Interest payable

Interest payable and similar charges include interest payable, finance charges on shares classified as
liabilities and finance leases recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method,
unwinding of the discount on provisions, and net foreign exchange losses that are recognised in the
profit and loss account {see foreign currency accounting policy). Borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or praduction of an asset that takes a substantial time to
be prepared for use, are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other interest receivable and
similar income include interest receivable on funds invested and net foreigh exchange gains.

Interest income and interest payable is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, using the effective
interest method. Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.
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LINDE CRYOGENICS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

1.

Accounting policies (continued})

1.11 Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the
profit and loss account except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or
other comprehensive income, in which case it is recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive
income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year,
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amcunts used for taxation purposes. The following
temporary differences are not provided for: the initial recognition of goodwill; the initial recognition of
assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit other than in a business
combination, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will
probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the
expected manner of realisaticn or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

1.12 Adopticn of new and revised standards

The company has applied IFRS 16 ‘Leases' for the first time for its annual reporting period
commencing 1 January 2019. Applying this new accounting standards has not had a material impact
on the company's financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019. There were no
amendments to other accounting standards or IFRIC interpretations that are effective for the year
ended 31 December 2019 which have had a material impact on the company's financial statements.
Further details in relation to IFRS 16 is noted below:

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 was adopted in full in 2019 by The BOC Group Limited, however due to the low value of the
assels being leased and materiality considerations applied, the low value lease exemption has been
applied. As such no transitional adjustments have been recognised in 2019 or are expected in future
periods unless the lease portfolio was seen to change materially.

Directors’ emoluments

The directors did not receive any remuneration during the year for services to the company (2018: 3nil).

Auditor's remuneration

The remuneration payable in relation to audit services of £3,100 (2018: £3,100) is borne by The BOC
Group Limited and is included in the aggregated fees disclosed in the financial statements of The BOC
Group Limited.
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LINDE CRYOGENICS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Employees

The company had no employees in the year. The company is not charged for the services provided to the

company by employees of other Linde Group companies.

Interest

Interest payable and similar expenses

Total interest expense on financial liabilities

Income from fixed investments

Dividends received from equity investments

Taxation

Analysis of credit in year
Current tax

UK corporation tax on profits for the period

Tax on profit

2019 2018
$000 3000
2 2

2 2
2019 2018
$G00 $600
- 11,999
2019 2018
$000 $000

Page 16



LINDE CRYOGENICS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Taxation (continued)

Factors affecting tax charge for the year

The tax assessed for the year is the same as (2018 - lower than) the standard rate of corporation tax in
the UK of 19% (20718~ 19%). The differences are explained below:

2019 2018
$000 $000
Profit before tax {2) 11,997
Profit multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2018 -
19%) - 2279
Effects of:
Income not taxable - (2,279)

Total tax charge for the year - -

Factors that may affect future tax charges

The standard rate of Corporation Tax in the UK is 19% and will remain at the same rate for the period
beginning on 1 April 2020.

Investments
Investments
in
subsidiary
companies
$000
Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2019 167,098
At 31 December 2019 167,098
Net book value
At 31 December 2019 167,098

At 31 December 2018 167,098
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LINDE CRYOGENICS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

10.

1.

12,

Debtors
2019 2018
$000 3000
Amounts falling due within one year
Amounts owed by group undertakings 158 157

158 157

Amounts owed by group undertaking of £158,000 (2018: £157,000) are unsecured, interest free and
repayable on demand.

Creditors
2019 2018
$000 $000
Amounts falling due within one year
Amounts owed to group undertakings 108 105

108 105

Amounts owed to group undertakings of £108,000 (2018: £105,000) are unsecured, interest bearing and
repayable on demand.

Share capital

2019 2018
$ 3
Allotted and fully paid

100 ordinary shares of £1.00 each 142 142

Post balance sheet event

The directors acknowledge the existence of the current cutbreak of Covid-19 and its potential to impact
the economy and regions in which the entity operates. As at the date of issuance of these financial
statements, there is no impact on the financial position of the entity, and no future impact is expected.

As part of the Directors impact assessment in relation to Covid-19, material estimates have been
considered individually. In addition, no impairment triggers have been noted in respect of investments
held in subsidiaries, a breakdown of these participating interests is included in note 14,
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LINDE CRYOGENICS LIMITED

NCTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Ultimate parent undertaking and parent company of larger group
The immediate parent undertaking is The BOC Group Limited.

The ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party of the company is Linde plc, which is registered in
Ireland at Ten Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin 2, D02 T380, Ireland.

Linde plc is the smallest and largest group to consolidate these financial statements. Copies of Linde
plc’s consolidated financial statements can be obtained from that company at its principal trading
address, The Priestley Centre, 10 Priestley Road, The Surrey Research Park, Guildford, Surrey GU2
7XY, England. The ultimate parent company was Linde GmbH (formerly Linde AG), a company
registered in Germany at Dr.-Carl-von-Linde-Stralle 6 - 14, Pullach, 82049 Germany, until 31 October
2018 when Linde plc acquired the majority of the shares of Linde GmbH.

Participating Interests

Subsidiary and associated undertakings

% of nominal % of nominal

Country of value heldas valueheldas Natureof
incorporation Name at31.12.2019 at31.12.2018 interest Registered Office
Republic of  BOC Gases 35 35 EUR 1.26 | F Kennedy Orive,
Ireland Irefand Holdings Ordinary Bluebell, Dublin 12,
Republic of  BOC Gases 3ot 350 EUR 126 | F Kennedy Drive,
Ireland Ireland Limited Ordinary Bluebell, Dublin 12,
The Priestley Centre,
Ush 1.00 10 Priestley Road, The
‘ BGC Investments
United Kingdam NG S 100 100 Ordinary Surrey Research Park,
0.
shares Guildford, Surrey, GU2
7XY, England
UsD 514.40
100 100 :
Crdinary A
Republic of BoC  (Trading) 35+ 35- EUR 1.26 | F Kennedy Drive,
Ireland Limited Ordinary Bluebeil, Dublin 12,
Republic of Cooper . Ny EUR 127 | F Kennedy Drive,
Ireland Cryoservice Ordinary Bluebell, Dublin 12,
(100 The Priestley Centre,
. Spalding Haulage X . ‘ 10 Prigstiey Road, The
United Kingdom T 100 100 Ordinary
Limited chares Surrey Research Park,

Guildford, Surrey, GU2

*

indirect interest
held
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Financial Highlights

Year ended December 31 o 2019 2018
Oollar amounts n millns, except pershave data e
Reported

Sales 28,228 14,836
Operating Profit 2,933 5,247
income from Continuing Opesations 2,183 4,273
Diluted Earnings Per Share frem Continuing Operations 4.00 12.79

Adjusted Pro Forma'

Sales 28,163 28,084
Operating Profit 5,272 4,796
Income fram Continuing Gperations 4,003 3,433
Diluted Earnings Per Share from Continuing Operations 7.34 6.19
After-Tax Return on Capital? 11.6% 10.3 %

Other information

Cash Flow from Qperations 6,119
Capital Expenditures 3,682
2019 Sales
£nd Markets’ . Business Segments ‘ fistribution Mode’
m Manufacturing Electronics . W ATEicas @ APAC (As13, Pacific) . = Packaged # On-Site
® Chemucals § Energy Food & Beverage m EMEA (Europe, ® Linde Engineering ' # Merchant  Cther
= Healtheare B Others ' Middle East & Alnca) m Global Other '
& Melals
6 0 80

29
: 24 Uy
390
90y
210
19 %
135
18 g 284
et Ny L0ob T RTINS pem s g g AR T oA Tl T D v CArtam nen CAAR
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Letter to Shareholders

Dear
Shareholders,

As 1 write this letter, the world is navigating an unprecedented
global health crisis, one that will shape our world for many
months if not years to come. In this chalienging time, itis more
important than ever to remain vigilant on safeguarding the
health and well-being of cur employees and communities white
reliably supplying products and services to our customers.

Currently, one of Linde's key priofities is the continuous supply
of oxygen and essential medical gases to support hospitals,
doctaors, aurses and other medical professionals as they cate
for COVID-19 patients. We are increasing the amount of oxygen
produced at our air separation plants and ase working very
closely with local healthcare providers lo anticipate demand
and adjust deliveries as required. Qur teams around the world
are working tirelessly to install new liguid oxygen tanks and
optimize cylinder filling plants to meet the surging demand
for vital medical gases. They are helping to increase critical
respiratory care capacity by setting up emergency sites and
transiticning patients to in-home care. | could not be prouder
of the resilicnce and resourcefulness demonstrated by Linde’s
employees in the face of this crisis.




Letter to Shareholders

This determination and commitment has been evident not just
in recent weeks but over the past year. 2019 marked our first
year as a merged company and the feam executed beaatituify.
Excluding the effects of currency, sales and EPS grew 4% and
23% respectively. ROC, the single most important metric for a
capital-intensive business, rose 130 basis points to 11.6% and we
dosed the year with an industry leading backlog of 510 billion.

Wwith respect to integration - it's largely done. We conducted
our first emplayee survey and ! am pleased with the results,
This is a good indication of how well we integrated two high-
quality companies in a refatively short period of time. We have
implemented strong processes and best practices at every
level of the new organization, making huge strides in building
a productivity-osiented culture. The focus on operational
excellence will help ensure success now and well into the
futuse. In particular, the ongoing expansion of our digital
tools and capabilities is invaluable and wilt drive continuous
improvement for many years to come.

Predictions on how the current crisis will affect global
economies in the long term are difficult to make, but | have
confidence in our ability to outperform given our resilient
business model and productivity opportunities to mitigate
any macroeconemic headwinds. As an example, during the
financial crisis of 2009 we nearly doubled our free cash flow
and continued to increase the annual dividend.

As a high-quality business with a team that knows how

to execute in both good and challenging times, we have
an opportunity to dramatically differentiate Linde in the
months and years ahead. For example, our commercial
contract ferms and conditicns ensure a steady stream of
cash flow irrespective of volumes. Furthermore, our products
are sgurced, produced and sold locally, and are therefore
nat directly subject to global supply chain or trade risks.
Additionally, our well-diversified portfotio has a significant
proportion of sales from resilient industries such as healthcare,
food, beverage and electronics. This combination of
contractual revenues, 3 well-diversified and cesilient portfalio
and localized markets enables us to better align our cost
structure with each markel reality.

Ouf record backlog of more than $10 billion in projects
provides a strong growth foundation for the next several
years. Many of these projecis will supply blue chip companies
such as Samsung, TSMC, Sinopec, ExxonMobil, Phillipse6 and
BASF and are all supposted by long-term ontracts to protect
expected returns.

Q2

All of these business traits result in a resilient business model
supported by a very robust and high-quality balance sheet.
Gur track record of expanding free ¢cash flow through the most
challenging economic cycles has enabled 27 straight years

of annual dividend growth and instills confidence that we'll
continue that trend going forward.

Our mission statement moking our world more productive
inchudes resource efficiency - making more with fess - and
being a good steward of the eavironment in the places we
live and work around the world. To that end, we announced
ambitious new climate change goals, including a commitment
to lower our GHG emissions intensity by 35 % by 2028, which
marks 10 years from the date of the merger. As the world drives
towards a low carbon futuse, we anticipate a new wave of
opportunities from decarbonization, including green hydrogen
for mobility, hydrogen for senewable fuels, and carbon capture
utilization and sequestration.

When you combine our resilient business model with a record
project backleg, strong balance sheet, growth opportunities
from decarbonization and a successful track record through
many cycles - you can see why | remain confident in our
ability to deliver outstanding value for stakehotders regardless
of the challenges we face.

stay safe!

e Hr

Steve Angel

Chief Executive Officer




Highlights

Singapore -
ExxonMobil Project

Single largest investment ($1.4bn)
for Linde

Linde has signed a long-term agreement with
ExxonMobil Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd. to support

the latest muli-billion dollar expansion of the
company’s integraled manufacturing complex
in Singapore. With an investment of $1.4 bilhion
this will be the single targest sale of gas
contract in the history of the newly merged
tinde and of its legacy companies.

The project will include building and operating
four additional gasifiers, a 1,200 metnic ton

per day air separation plant, as weli as Linde’s
propiietary downstream gas processing units
and sulphur recovery plants. Upon completion,
the investment will supply hydrogen, carbon
monoxide and synthesis gas to Bxxontiobil and
other customers on Jurong Island and quadruple
Linde's present capacity.

Linde Participates
in Swiss H, Joint
Venture

10 % stake in Hydrospider AG
acquired

The investment offers the opporiunity to shape
one of the most attractive projocts for green
hiydrogen and emission-free mobility in Europe.
Hydrospider will be preducing and marketing
green hydrogen from renewable electricity.
Linde wilt contribute ils expenence in the
construction and eperation of clectrolysis plants,

Sustainability -
Dow Jones World
Index

Included for 17 consecutive years

tinde has heen included in the Dow Jones
Sustamability Wworld index i its first year as a
new company. To be listed, the companies
must demonstrate continuous improvement in
a variety of ecenomic, ccological and social
criteria. Linde was rated as the third highest
company in the chemical sector.

s T T

|

Investment in
Electrolysis Technology

ITM Linde Electrolysis: Investment
of $50mm in the development of
electrolysis technology as part of
our H, strategy

The transaction provides Linde with a sliategic
investment in g world leading manufacturer

of integrated hydrogen energy sclutions.

In addition to its investment, Linde has formed a
joint venture (V) with ITM Power to implement
piojects based on ITM Power’s technology.

The )V will open new comimercial opportunities,
create capacity ta dehver a higher valume of
projects, sharten lead times, improve execution
and reduce cosls,

i R TS S AT § TR

1
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Linde Leadership

From left to right:

Eduardo Menezes Executive Vice President EMEA

Matt White Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Ofticer

Jiirgen Nowicki Executive Vice President and CED Linde Engineering
Steve Angel chief Executive Officer and Member of the Board of Directois
Anne Roby Executive Vice President

Sanjiv Lamba Executive Vice President APAC

Andreas Opfermann Executive Vice President Americas
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Board of Directors

Wolfgang Reitzle

Chairman,
Executive Commitiee
{Chairman)

Clemens Bdrsig

Audit Committee
{Chairman),
Nomination and
Governance Committee

Franz Fehrenbach

Compensation Committee,
Nomination and
Governance Committee

Victoria Ossadnik

Audit Committee,
{ompensalion Commitlee

For more information about Linde’s carporate gqovernance,

Steve Angel

Executive Commillee

Nance Dicciani

Audit Committee,
Compensation Committee

Edward Galante

Compensation Committee
{Chairman},
Aydit Committee

Martin Richenhagen

Compensation Committee,
Nomination and
Governance Committee

please visit cur website at www.linde.com/about-linde /corporate-gevernance

Ann-Kristin Achleitner

Compensation Committee,
Nomination and
Governance Committee

Thomas Enders

Executive Committee,
Audit Committee

Larry McVay

Audit Committee,
Nomination and
Governance Comrittee

Robert wood

Nomination and
Governance Committee
(Chairman),

Executive Commitlee

0%



Sustainable Development

Operate world's

Best-in-class first commercial

safety performance hydrogen storage

_ cavern
4x better than U.S. Occupational
Health and Safety Administration
industrial average for lost

workday case rate The most on purpose
H, electrolysis

operating experience
in the industry: 40 MW, 80 units

W R TR e B s s 4y

Several applications enabled

A IR T 3
i

2X more
. GHG emissions !
. to be avoided 300,000
; than were emitted in all of the students in our communities
company’s operations benefitted from employee
, : community engagement projects
Building
world’s first An industry feader in
hydrogen station diversity & inclusion

for fuel cell-powered
passenger trains

MEMBER OF

Oow Jones '
Sustainabhility Indices

In Collaboration with RobecoSAM ©

FTSE4Good
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Linde’s 2028 Climate Goals

B

~Invest +$1 billion in |
decarbonization
projects

As aresult, we

will lower our GHG
Spend at least

1/3 of our emissions intensity
R/&D annual by 359%, compared
budget with a 2018

on decarbonization base“ne,*




Our Mission, Vision and Values

Qur Mission

We live our mission of making our world
more productive every day. Through our
high-quality solutions, technologies and
services we are making our customers
more successful and helping to sustain

Our Vision and protect our planet.

We are committed to fuifilling our
vision to be the best performing global
industrial gases and engineering
company, where our people deliver
innovative and sustainable solutions
for our customers in a connected world.

Our Values

Integrity _
Inclusion

Community

Accountability
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FORWARD-LOOKING SIATEMENTS

This document contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-
looking statements are identified by terms and phrases such as: anticipate, believe, intend, estimate, expect, continue, should, could, may, plan, project,
predict, will, potential, forecast, and similar expressions. They are based on management’s reasonable expectations and assumptions as of the date the
statements are made but involve risks and uncertainties. These risks and uncertainties include, without limitation: the ability to successfully integrate the
Praxair and Linde AG businesses; regulatory or other requirements imposed as a result of the business combination of Praxair and I.inde AG that could
reduce anticipated benefits of the transaction; the risk that Linde plc may be unable tc achieve expected synergies or that it may take longer or be more costly
than expected to achieve those synergies; the performance of stock markets generally; developments in wotldwide and national economies and other
international events and circumstances, including trade conflicts and tariffs; changes in foreign currencies and in interest rates; the cost and availability of
electric power, natural gas and other raw materials; the ability to achieve price increases to offset cost increases; catastrophic events including natural
disasters, epidemics and acts of war and terrorism; the ability to attract, hire, and retain qualified personnel; the impact of changes in financial accounting
standards; the impact of changes in pension plan liabilities; the impact of tax, environmental, healthcare and other fegislation and government regulation in
jurisdictions in which the company operates, including the impact of the U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, the cost and outcomes of investigations,
litigation and regulatary proceedings; the impact of potential unusual or non-recurring items; continued timely development and market acceptance of new
products and applications; the impact of competitive products and pricing; future financial and eperating performance of major customers and industries
served; the impact of information technology system failures, network disruptions and breaches in data security; and the effectiveness and speed of
integrating new acquisitions into the business. These risks and uncertainties may cause actual future results or circumstances to differ materially from
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, International Financial Reporting Standards or adjusted projections, estimates or
other forward-looking statements.

Linde plc assumes no obligation to update or provide revisions to any forward-looking statement in response to changing circumstances. The above listed
risks and uncertainties are further described in Item 1A (Risk Faciors) in this report, which should be reviewed carefully. Please consider Linde plc’s forward-
loaking statements in light of those risks.
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Linde plc and Subsidiaries

PART 1
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

General

Linde plc is a poblic limited company formed under the laws of Ireland with its principal offices in the United Kingdom. Linde pic was formed jn 2017
in accordance with the requirements of the business combination agreement, dated June 1, 2017, as amended, between Linde plc, Praxair, Inc. ("Praxair”) and
Linde Aktiengeseilschaft (“Linde AG"). Effective October 31, 2018, the business combination was completed and Linde plc is comprised of the businesses of
Praxair and Linde AG (hereinafter the combined group will be referred to as “the company” or "Linde”).

The business combination brought together two leading companies in the global indusuial gases indusiry, leveraging the proven strengths of each.
Linde believes the merger will combine Linde AG’s long-held expertise in technology with Praxair’s efficient operating model, thus creating a glabal leader.
The rnmpany is expected to have strang positions in key geographies and end markets that will create a more diverse and balanced global portfolio.

Linde is the Jargest industrial gas company worldwide and is a major technological innovasor in the industrial gases mdusty. 1ts prithary plududds iu its
industrial gases business are atmospheric gases (oxygen, nitrogen, argon, and rare gases) and process gases (carbon dioxide, helium, hydrogen, electronic
gases, specialty gases, and acetylene). The company also designs and builds equipment that produces industrial gases primarily for internal use and offers
custemers a wide range of gas production and processing services such as olefin plants, natural gas plants, air separation plants, hydrogen and synthesis gas
plants and other types of plants.

Linde serves a diverse group of industries including healthcare, petroleum refining, manufacturing, food, beverage carbonation, fiber-optics, steel
making, aerospace, chernicals, electronics and water treatment.

In 2018, the company, Praxair and Linde AG entered into various agreements with regulatory authorities to satisfy antitrust requiremests to secure
approval to consummate the business combination. These agreements reguired the sale of the majority of Praxair's European industrial gases business
(completed on December 3, 2018), the majority of Linde AG's Americas industrial gases business (completed on March 1, 2019), select assets of Linde AG's
South Korea industrial gases business (completed April 30, 2019), select assets of Praxair's Indian industrial gases business (completed July 12, 2019}, select
assets of Linde AG's Indian industrial gases business (completed December 16, 2019} as well as cemain divestitures of other Praxair and Linde AG businesses
in Asia that are expected to be sold in 2020. As of December 31, 2018 and until the completion of the majority of such divestitures, Linde AG and Praxair
were obligated to operate their businesses globally as separate and independent companies, and not coordinate any of their commercial operations. The U.S.
Federal Trade Commission's (“FTC”) hold separate order (“HS0") restrictions were lifted March 1, 2019, concurrent with the sale of the required merger-
related divestitures in the United States. See Note 4 to the conselidated financial statements for additional information relating to divestisures.

Praxair was determined to be the accounting acquirer in the business combination. Accordingly, the historical financial statements of Praxair for the
perieds prior to the business combination are cansidered 1o be the historical financial statements of the company. The results of Linde AG are included in
Linde's consalidated results from the date of the completion of the busiaess combination forward. During 2018, the company reported its centinging
operations in six reporting segments under which it managed its operalions, assessed performance, and reported earnings: North America, South America,
Asia, Europe, Surface Technologies and Linde AG. Effective with the lifting of the hold separate order on March 1, 2019, new operating segments were
established. Linde’s industrial gases operations are managed on a geographic basis, which represents three of the company’s new repostable segments -
Ameticas, EMEA (Europe/Middle Fast/Africa), and APAC (Asia/South Pacific); a fourth reportable segment which represents the company's Engineering
busiriess, desigis and manufactures equipment for air separation and other industrial gas applications specifically for end customers and is managed on a
worldwide basis operating in all geographic segments, Other consists of corporate costs and a few smaller businesses, which individually do not meet the
guantitative thresholds for separate presentation.

Linde’s sales were $28,228 million, $14,836 million, and $11,358 million for 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. Refer to Item 7. Management's
Discussion and Analysis, for a discussion of cansalidated sales and Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements for addinonal information related to
Linde’s reportable segments.

Induscrial Gases Products and Manufacturing Processes

Atmospheric gases are the highest volume producis produced by Linde. Using air as its raw material, Linde produces oxygen, nitragen and argon
through several air separation processes of which cryogenic air separation is the most prevalent. Rare gases, such as keypton, neon and xenon, ate also
produced through cryogenic air separation. As a pioneer
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in the industrial gases industry, Linde is a leader in developing a wide range of proprietary and patented applications and supply systems technology. Linde
also led the development and commercialization of non-cryogenic air separation technologies for the pradnction of industrial gases. These teclimologies open
important new markets aimd uplitnize production capacity for the company by lowering the cost of supplying industrial gases. These technologies include
proprietary vacuum pressure swing adsorption (“VPSA”) and membrane separation to produce gaseous oxygen and nitrogen, respectively.

Process gases, including carbon dioxide, hydrogen, carbon monoxide, helium, specialty gases and acetylene are produced by methods other than air
separation. Most carbon dioxide is purchased from by-product sources, including chemical plants, refineries and industrial pracesses or is recovered from
carbon dioxide wells. Carbon dioxide is processed in Linde’s plants to produce commercial and food-grade carbon dioxide. Hydrogen and carbon monoxide
can be produced by either steam methane reforming or auto-thermal reforming of natural gas or other feed streams such as naphtha. Hydrogen is alse
produced by purifying by-product sources obtained from the chemical and petrochemical industries. Acetylene is primarily scurced as a chemical by-product,
but may also be produced from calcium carbide and water.

Industrial Gases Distribution

There are three basic distribution methods for industrial gases: (i) en-site or tonnage; (i} merchant or bulk liquid; and (iii) packaged or cylinder gases.
These distribution methods are often integrated, with products from ali three supply modes caming from the same plant. The method of supply is generally
determined by the lowest cost means of meeting the customer’s needs, depending upon [actors such as volume requirements, purity, patiern of usage, and the
form in which the product is used (as a gas or as a cryogenic liquid).

On-site. Customers that require the largest volumes of product (typically oxygen, nitrogen and hydrogen) and that have a relatively constant demand
pattern are supplied by cryogenic and process gas on-site plants. Linde constructs plants on or adjacent to these customers’ sites and supplies the product
directly 1o customers by pipeline. On-site product supply contracts generally are total requirement contracts with terms typicaliy ranging from 10-20 years
and containing minimum purchase requirements and price escalation provisions. Many of the cryogenic on-site plants also produce liguid preducts for the
merchant market. Therefore, plants are typically not dedicated to a single customer. Advanced air separation processes allow on-site delivery to customers
with smaller volume requiremeats. Customers nsing these systems usually enter into requirement contracts with terms typically ranging from ten to twenty
years.

Merchant. The merchant business is generally associated with distributable liquid oxygen, nitrogen, argon, carbon dioxide, hydroger and helium. The
deliveries generally are made from Linde’s plants by tanker trucks to storage containers at the customer'’s site which are owned and maintained by Linde and
leased to the customer, Due 1o distribution cost, merchant oxygen and nitrogen generally have a relatively small distribution radius from the plants at which
they are produced. Merchant argon, hydrogen and helium can be shipped much lenger distances. The customer agreements used in the merchant business are
usually three to seven-year requirement contracts.

Packaged Gases. Customers requiring smatl volumes are supplied products in metal containers called cylinders, under medium to high pressure.
Packaged gases include atmospheric gases, carbon dioxide, hydrogen, helium, acetylene and related products. Linde also produces and distributes in cylinders
a wide range of specialty gases and mixtures. Cylinders may be delivered to the customer’s site or picked up by the customer at a packaging facility or retail
store. Packaged gases are generally sold under one to three-year supply contracts and through purchase orders.

A substantial amount of the cylinder gases sold in the United States are distributed by independent distributors that buy merchant gases in liquid form
and repackage the products in their facilities. Packaged gas distributors, including Linde, also distribute hardgoods and welding equipment purchased from
independent manufacturers. Over time, Linde has acquired a number of independent industrial gases and welding preducts distributors at various locations in
the United States and continues to sell merchant gases to other independent distributors. Between its own distribution business, joint ventures and sales to
independent distributors, Linde is represented in 48 states, the District of Columbia and Puerto Rice.

Engineering

Linde’s Engineering business has a global presence, with its focus on market segments such as olefin, natural gas, air separation, hydrogen and synthesis
gas plants. The company utilizes its own extensive process engineering know-fiow in the planning, project development and construction of turnkey industrial
plants and associated services. Linde plants are used in a wide variety of fields: in the petrochemical and chemical industries, in refineries and fertilizer plants,
to recover air gases, to produce hydragen and synthesis gases, to treat narural gas and to produce noble gases. The Fngineering business either supplies plant
components and services directly to the customer or to the industrial gas business of Linde which operates the plants an behalf of the customer under a long-
term gases supply contraclt.
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Inventories — Linde carries inventories of merchant and cylinder gases, hardgoods and coatings matertals to supply products to its customers on a reasonable
delivery schedule. On-site plants and pipeline camplexes have linvited inventory. Inventary obsolescence is not matertal 1o Linde’s business.

Customers — Linde is not dependent upon a single cusiomer or a few customers.

International — Linde is a global enterprise with approximately 70% of its 2019 sales cutside of the United States. The company also has majarity or wholly
owned subsidiaries that operate in approximately 45 Luropean, Middle Eastern and African countries (including Germany, France, Sweden, the Republic of
South Africa, and the United Kingdom); approximately 20 Asian and South Pacific countries (including China, Taiwan, India and Australia); and
approximately 20 countries in North and Seuth America (including Canada, Mexico and Brazil).

The company also has equity methed investnents operating in Europe, Asia, Africa, the Middle East, and North America.

Linde’s international business is subject to risks customarily encountesed in foreign operations, including fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates,
import and export controls, and other economic, political and regulatory policies of local governments. Also, see ften 1A. “Risk Factors” and ltem 7A.
“Quantitative and Quatitative Lasclosures About Makel Riskh.”

Seasonality — Linde’s business is generally not subject to seasonal fluctuations to any significant extent.

Research and Development — Linde’s research and development is directed toward development of gas processing, separation and liquefaction technologies,
improving distribution of indusirial gases and the development of new markets and applications for these gases. This results in the development of new
advanced air separation, hydrogen, synthesis gas, natural gas, adsorption and chemical process technologies as well as the frequent introduction of new
industrial gas applications. Research and development is primarily conducted at Pullach, Germany, Tonawanda, New York, Burr Ridge, Tllinois and Shanghai,
China,

Patents and Trademarks — Linde owns or licenses a large number of patents that relate to a wide variety of products and processes. Linde’s patents expire at
various tmes over the next 20 years. While these patents and licenses are considered hmpartant te its individual businesses, Linde daes not cousider its
business as a whole to be materially dependent upon any one particular patent, or patent license, or family of patents. Linde also owns a large number of
wademarks, of which the "Linde” wademark is the most significant.

Raw Materials and Energy Costs — Energy is the single largest cost item in the production apd distribution of industrial gases. Most of Linde’s energy
requirements are in the form of electricity, natural gas and diesel fue! for distribution. The company mitigates electricity, natural gas, and hydrocarbon price
Auctuaticns contractually through pricing formulas, surcharges, and cost pass—through and telling arrangements.

The supply of energy has not been a significant issue in the geographic areas where the company conducts business. However, energy availability and price is
unpredictable and may pose unforeseen furure risks.

Far carbon dioxide, carbon monoxide, heltum, hydrogen, specialty gases and surface technologies, raw materials ave targely purchased from autside sources.
Linde has contracts or commitments for, or readily available sources of, most of these raw materials; however, their long-term availability and prices are
subject to market conditions.

Cempetition — Linde participates in highly competitive markets in the industrial gases, engineering and healthcare businesses, which are characterized by a
mixture of local, regional and glebal players, all of which exert competitive pressure on the parties. In locations where Linde has pipeline networks, which
enable the company to provide reliable and economic supply of products to larger customers, Linde derives a competitive advantage.

Corupetitoss in the industrial and medical gases industry include global and regional companies such as [Air Liquide S$.A., Air Products and Chemicals, Inc.,
Messer Gyoup Gmbl, Mitsubishi Chemical Holdings Corporation (through Taiyo Nippon Sanso Corporation) as well as an extensive number of small to
medium size independent industrial gas companies which compete locally as producers or disiributors. In addition, a significant portion of the international
gases market relates to custemer-owned plants.

Employees and Labor Relations - As of December 31, 2019, Linde had 79,886 employees worldwide. Linde has collective bargaining agreements with
unions at aumerous locations throughout the world, which expire at various dates. Linde considers relations with its employees to be satisfactory.

Environment — Information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the section captioned “Manageiment’s Discussion and Analysis ~
Environmental Matters” in ltem 7 of this 10-K.
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Available Information — The company makes its periodic and current reports available, free of charge, on or through its website, www.linde.com, as soon as
practicable after such material is electronically filed with, ar furnished to, the Securities aund Exchange Commission ("SEC™). Investors may alsc access from
the company website other investor information such as press releases and presentations. Information on the company’s website is not incorporated by
reference herein. In addition, the public may read and copy any materials filed with the SEC free of charge at the SEC’s website, www.sec.gov, that contains
reports, proxy information statements and other information regarding tssuers that file electronically.

Executive Officers — The following Executive Officers have been elected by the Board of Directers and serve at the pleasure of the Board. [t is expected that
the Board will elect officers annually following each annual meeting of shareholders.

Stephen F. Angel, 64, is Chief Executive Officer of Linde. Prior to that, Mr. Angel was Chairman, President and CEQ ef Praxair, Inc. since 2007. Angel
joined Praxair in 2001 as an executive vice president and was named president and chief operating officer in February 2006. Prior to joiring Praxair, Angel
spent 22 years in a variety of management positions with General Electric. Angel serves on the board of directors of PPG Industries and the U.S -China
Business Council and is a member of The Business Council. Angel received a bachetor of science degree in civil engineering from North Carclina State
University and an MBA from Loyola College in Baltimore,

Dr. Christian Bruch, age 49, became an executive officer and a member of the Management Committee of Linde in connection with the business combination
in October 2018. He is afso the Head of Engineering for Linde and is a member of the Executive Board of Linde AG. Dr. Bruch joined The Linde Group's
Gases Division in 2004 as a Business Developiment Manager for Airgases. [n 2006 he became the Head of Tonnage Business Development for air separation
projects in Europe, the Middle East and Africa. In 2009 he transferred to the Engineering Division, where he was responsible for the product line Air
Separation Plants. In 2013 he was appointed a member of the Board of Directors at the Engineering Division, a position he held until becoming a member of
the Executive Board of Linde AG at the beginning of 2015 responsible for the Linde Engineering Division and the Corporate & Support Function Technology
& Innovation. Prior to joining The Linde Group, Dr. Bruch worked for the Swiss Institute of Technology in Ziirich and for the RWE Group in Essen,
Germany.

Kelcey E. Hoyt, age 50, became the Chief Accounting Officer of Linde in connection with the business combination in October 2018. Prior to this, she served
as Vice President and Controller of Praxair, loc. effecdve August 1, 2016. Prior ta becoming Cantroller, she served as Praxair’s Director of Investor Relations
since 2010. She joined Praxair in 2002 and served as Director of Corporate Accounting and SEC Reporting through 2008, and later served as Controller for
various divisions within Praxair’s North American Industrial Gas business. Previously, she had five years of experience in audit at KPMG, LLP.

Sanjiv Lamba age 55, became an executive officer and a member of the Management Committee of Linde in connection with the business combination in
October 2018. He is the Head of APAC. Mr. Lamba was appointed a Member of the Executive Board of Linde AG in 2011, responsible for the Asia, Pacific
segment of the Gases Division, for Global Gases Businesses Helium & Rare Gases, Electronics as well as Asia Joint Venture Management. Mr. Lamba started
his career 1989 with BOC India in Finance where he progressed to become Director of Finance. He was appointed Managing Director for BOC’s India’s
business in 2001. Throughout his vears with BOC/Linde, he has worked in a number of geographies including Germany, the UK, Singapore and India where
he has held numerous roles across the organization.

Eduardo F. Menezes, age 56, became an executive officer and a member of the Management Commitiee of Linde in connection with the business combination
in October 2018. He is the Head of EMEA. Mr. Menezes previously served as Executive Vice President of Praxair, Inc, since 2012, responsible for Praxair
Europe, Praxair Mexico, Praxair South America and Praxair Asia. From 2010 to March 2011, he was a Vice President of Praxair with responsibility for the
North American Industrial Gases business and was named senior vice president in 2011, From 2007 to 2010, he was President of Praxair Europe. He served
as Managing Director of Praxair’s business in Mexico from 2004 to 2067, as Vice President and General Manager for Praxair Distributicn, Inc. from 2003 10
2004 and as Vice President, U.S. West Region, for North American Industrial Gases, from 2000 to 2003.

Dr. Andreas Opfermann, 48, became Executive Vice President of Americas and a member of the Management Coramittee of Linde in November 2019. Prior
ta this, from 2016-2019, he was the regional business unit leader for Linde’s Narth European region. Dr. Opfermann jeined Linde in 2005 initially in
Corporate Strategy. He has subsequently served as Head of Innovation Management from 2008 to 2016, Head of Clean Energy and Innovation Management
from 2010 to 2014, and Head of Technology and Innovation from 2015 to 2016, responsible for all Linde research and development. Before joining Linde, le
held positions at McKinsey & Company.
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Anne K. Roby, age 55, became an executive officer and a member of the Management Committee of Linde in connection with the business combinatien in
October 2018. She is the Head of Global Functions. Prior w this, Dy, Roby served as Senior Vice President of Praxair, Inc. since January 1, 2G14, responsible
for Global Supply Systems, R&D, Global Marker Development, Global Operations Excellence, Global Strategic Sales, Global Procurement, Sustainability
and Safety, Health and Enviranment. From 2011te 2013, she served as President of Praxair Asia, responsible for Praxair’s industrial gases business in China,
India, South Korea and Thailand as well as the electronics market globally. In 2010, Dr. Roby became President of Praxair Elecuonics, after having served as
Vice Prasident, Global Sales, for Praxair from 2009 to 2010. Prior to this, she was Vice President of the Praxair U.S. South Region from 2008 te 2009. Dr.
Roby joined Praxair in 1991 as a development asseciate in the company’s R&[J organization and was promoted to other positiens of increasing responsibility.

Matt J. White, age 47, became an executive officer and a member of the Management Committee of Linde in connection with the business combination in
October 2018. He is the Chief Financial Officer for Linde. He previously served as the Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Praxair, Inc. since
January I, 2014. Prior to this, Mr. White was President of Praxair Canada from 2611-2614. He joined Praxair in 2004 as finance director for the company’s
Jargest business unit, North American Industrial Gases. In 2008, he became Vice President and Conoller of Praxair, Inc., then was named Vice President and
Treasurer in 2010, Before joining Praxair, White was vice president, finance, at Fisher Scientific and before that he held various financial positions, including
group controller, at GenTek, a manufacturing and performance chemicals company.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Due to the size and geographic reach of the company’s operations, a wide range of factors, many of which are outside of the company’s contrel,
could materially affect the company’s future operations and financial performance. Management believes the following risks may significandy impact the
company:

The company may fail to realize the anticipated strategic and financial benefits sought from the business combination.

The company may not realize all of the ancicipated benefits of the business combination between Praxair, Inc, and Linde AG, which was completed
an October 31, 2018. The success of the business combination will depend on, among other things, the company’s ability to combine Praxair, Inc.’s and Linde
AG’s businesses in a manner that facilitates growth and realizes the anticipated annual synergies and cost reductions without adversely affecting current
revenues and investments in future growth. The actual integration will continue to involve complex operational, technological and personnel-related
challenges. Difficulties in the integration of the businesses, which may result in significant costs and delays, include:

- managing a significantly larger combined group;

+ aligning and executing the strategy of the company;

»  integrating and unifying the offerings and services available to customers and coordinating distribution and marketing efforts in geographically
separate organizations;

»  coordinadng corporate and administrative infrastructures and aligning insurance coverage;

= coordinating accounting, reporting, information technolegy, communications, administration and other systems;

= addressing possible differences in corporate cultures and management philosophies;

+  the company being subject to Irish laws and regulations and legal action in Ireland;

*  coordinating the compliance program and uniform financial reporting, information technology and other standards, centrols, procedures and
policies;

= the implementation, ultimate impact and outcome of post-completion reorganization transactions, which may be delayed;

+ unforeseen and unexpected liabilities related to the business combination or the combined businesses;

*  managing tax costs ar inefficiencies associated with integrating aperations;

»  identifying and eliminating 1edundant and underperforming functions and assets; and

«  effecting actions that may be required in connection with obtaining regulatory approvals.

These and other factors could result in increased costs and diversion of management’s time and energy, as well as decreases in the amount of
expected revenue and earnings. The integration process and other disruptions resulting frem the business combination may also adversely affect the
company’s relationships with employees, suppliers, custemers, distributors, licensors and others with whom Praxair, Inc. and Linde AG have business or
other dealings, and difficulties in integrating the businesses could harm the reputation of the company.

1f the company is not able to successfully integrate the businesses of Praxair, Inc. and Linde AG in an efficient, cost-effective and timely manner, the
anticipated benefits and cost savings of the business combination may not be realized fully, or at all, or may take longer to realize than expected.

Weakening economic conditions in markets in which Linde does business may adversely impact its financial results and/or cash flows.

Linde serves a diverse group of industries across more than 100 countries, which generally leads to financial stability through various business
cycles. However, a broad decline in general economic or business conditions in the industries served by its customers could adversely affect the demand for
Linde’s products and impair the ability of its customers to satisfy their obtigations to Linde, resulting in uncollected receivables and/or unanticipated contract
terminations ar project delays. For example, global political and economic uncertainty could reduce investment activities of Linde’s customers, which could
adversely affect 1.inde’s business.

In addition, many of Linde’s customers are in businesses that are cyclical in nature, such as the chemicals, electronics, metals and energy industries,
Downturns in these industries may adversely impact Linde during these cycles. Additionally, such conditions could impact the utilization of Linde’s
manufacturing capacity which may require it to
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recognize impairment losses on tangible assets such as property, plant and equipment, as well as intangible assets such as goodwill, customer relationships or
intellectial property.

Increases in the cost of energy and raw materials and/or disruption in the supply of these materials cowdd result in lost sales or reduced profitahility.

Energy is the single largest cost item in the production and disaibution of industrial gases. Most of Linde's energy requirements are in the form of
electricity, natural gas and diesel fuel for distuiburion. Linde attemnpis to minimize the financial impact of variability in these costs through the management of
customer contracts and reducing demand through operational productivity and energy efficiency. Large customer contracts typically have escalation and pass-
through clauses to recover energy and feedstock costs. Such attempts may not successfully mitigate cost variability, which could negatively impact Linde’s
financial condition or results of operations. The supply of energy has not been a significant issue in the geographic areas where Linde conducts business.
However, regional energy conditions are unpredictable and may pose future risk.

Far carbon dioxide, carbun monoxide, helium, hydrogen, specialty gases and surface technologies, raw materials are largely porchased from outside
sources. Where feasible, Linde sources several of these raw materials, including carbon dioxide, hydrogen and calcium carbide, as chemical or industrial
byproducts. In addition, Linde has coniracts or commitments for, ot readily available sources of, most of these raw materials; however, their long-term
availahility and prices are subject to market canditicns. A disruption in supply of such raw materials could impact Linde’s ability to meet contractual supply
COMIIlitments.

Linde’s international operations are subject to the risks of doing business abroad and international events and circumstances may adversely impact its
business, financial condition or results of operations.

Linde has substantial international operations which are subject to risks including devaluations in currency exchange rates, transportation delays and
interruptions, political and economic instability and disruptions, restrictions on the twansfer of funds, trade conflicts and the imposition of duties and tarifis,
import and export contrals, changes in governmental policies, labor unrest, possible nationalization and/or expropriation of assets, domestic and internatinnal
tax laws and compliance with governmental regulations. These events could have an adverse effect on the international operations of Linde in the future by
redncing the demand for its products, decreasing the prices at which it can sell its products, reducing the revenue from international operations or otherwise
having an adverse effect on its business, For example, Linde has a meaningful presence in the UK. and the U.K.’s ongoing exit process from the EU has
contigued to cause, and may in the future cause, political and economic uncertainty, which could have an adverse impact on the markets which Linde
supplies.

Currency exchange rote fluctuations and other related risks may adversely affect Linde's results.

Because a significant portion of Linde's revenue is denominated in currencies other than its reporting currency, the U.S. dollar, changes in exchange
rates will praduce fluctuations in revenue, costs and earnings and may also affect the hook value of assets and liabilities and related equity. Although the
company from time to time utilizes foreign exchange forward contracss to hedge these exposnres, its efforts to minimize carrency exposure through such
hedging transactions may not be successful depending on market and business conditions. As a result, fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates could
adversely affect Linde’s financial condition, resulis of operations or cash flaws.

Macroeconomic factors may impact Linde’s ability to obtain financing or increase the cost of obtaining financing which may adversely impact Linde's
financial results and/or cash flows.

Volatility and disruption in the 11.5., Enropean and global credit and equity markets, from time to time, could make it more difficult for Linde to
obtain financing for its operations and/or could incresse the cost of obtaining financing. In addition, Linde’s borrowing costs can be affected by short- and
long-term debt ratings assigned by independent rating agencies which are based, in significant part, on its performance as measured by certain criteria such as
interest caverage and leverage ratios, A decrease in these debt ratings could increase the cast of borrowing ur make it more difficult to obtain financing,
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An impairment of goodwill or intangible assets could negatively impact the company’'s financial resulits.

As of December 31, 2019, the net carrying value of goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets was $27 billion and $2 billion, respectively,
primarily as a result of the business combination and the related acquisition method of accounting applied to Linde AG. In accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, the company periodically assesses these assets to determine if they are impaired. Significant negative industry or economic
trends, disruptions to business, unexpected significant changes or planned changes in use cf the assets, divestitures and sustained market capitalization
declines may result in recognition of impairments to goodwill or other indefinite-lived assets. Any charges relating to such impairments ¢ould have a material
adverse impact on Linde's results of operations in the periods recognized.

Catastrophic events could disrupt the operations of Linde and/or its customers and suppliers and may have a significant adverse impact on the results of
operations.

The occurrence of catastrophic events or natural disasters such as extreme weather, including hurricanes and floods; health epidemics; and acts of
war of terrorism, could disrupt or delay Linde’s ability to produce and distribute its products 1o customers and could potentially expose Linde to third-party
liability claims. In addition, such events could impact Linde’s customers and suppliers resulting in temporary or long-term outages and/or the limitation of
supply of energy and other raw materials used in normal business operations. Linde evaluates the direct and indirect business risks, consults with vendors,
insurance providers and industry experts, makes investments in suitably resilient design and technolegy, and conducts regular reviews of the business risks
with management. Despite these steps, however, these situations are outside Linde’s contrel and may have a significant adverse impact on its financial results.

The inability to attract and retain qualified personnel may adversely impact Linde’s business.

If Linde fails to attract, hive and retain qualified personnel, it may not be able to develop, market or sell its products or successfully manage its
business, Linde is dependent upon a highly skilled, experienced and efficient workforce to be successful. Much of Linde’s competitive advantage is based on
the expertise and experience of key personnel regarding marketing, technology, manufacturing and distribution infrastructure, systems and products. The
inability to attract and hire qualified individuals or the loss of key employees in very skilled areas could have a negative effect on Linde’s financial results.

If Linde fails to keep pace with technological advances in the industry or if new technology initiatives do not become commercially accepted, customers
may not continue to buy Linde’s products and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Linde’s research and development is directed toward developing new and improved metheds for the production and distribution of industrial gases,
the design and construction of plants and toward developing new markets and applications for the use of industrial and process gases. This results in the
introduction of new applications and the develepment of new advanced air separation process technologies. As a result of these efforts, Linde develops new
and proprietary technologies and employs necessary measures to protect such technologies within the global geographies in which Linde operates. These
technologies help Linde to create a competitive advantage and to provide a platform to grow its business. If Linde’s research and development activities do
not keep pace with competitors or if Linde does not create new technologies that benefit customers, future results of operations could be adversely affected.

Risks related to pension benefit plans may adversely impoct Linde’s results of operations and cash flows.

Pension benefits represent significant financial abligations that will be ultimately settled in the future with employees who meet eligibility
requirements. Because of the uncenainties involved in estimating the timing and amount of future payments and asset returns, significant estimates are
required to calculate pension expense and liabilities related to Linde’s plans. Linde utilizes the services of independent actuaries, whose models are used 1o
facilitate these calculations. Several key assumptions are used in the actuarial models to calculate pension expense and liability amounts recorded in the
consolidated financial statements. In particular, significant changes in actual investment returns on pension assets, discount rates, or legistative or regulatory
changes could impact future results of operations and required pension contributions,
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Operational risks may adversely impact Linde’s business or results of operations,

Linde’s operating results are dependent on the continued operation of its production facilities and its ability to meet customer contract Tequirements
and other needs. Insufficient or excess capacity threatens Linde’s abili¢y to generate competitive profit margins and may expose Linde 1o liabilities related to
contract commitments. Operating results are also dependent on Linde’s ability to complete new construction projects on time, on budget and in accordance
with performance requirements. Failure to do so may expose Linde’s business to loss of revenue, potential litigation and loss of business reputation.

Also inherent in the management af Linde’s production facilities and delivery systems, including storage, vehicle transporcadon and pipelines, are
aperational risks that require continuous trafning, oversight and control. Material operating failures at production, starage facilities or pipelines, including fire,
toxic release and explosians, or the occurrence of vehicle transportation accidents could result in loss of life, damage to the environment, loss of production
and/or extensive property damage, all of which may negatively impact Linde’s financial results.

Linde may be subject to information technology system failures, network disruptions and breachies in data security.

Linde relies on information technology systems and networks for business and operational activities, and also stoves and processes sensitive business
and proprietary information in these systems and networks. These systems are susceptible to outages due to fire, flood, power Toss, tefecommunications
failures, viruses, break-ins and similar events, or breaches of security.

Linde has taken steps to address these risks and concerns by implementing advanced security technologies, internal controls, network and data center
resiliency and recovery process, Despite these steps, however, operational failures and breaches of security from increasingly sophisticated cyber threats
could lead 10 the loss or disclusure of confidential information, result in business interruption or malfunction or regulatory actions and have a material adverse
impact on Linde’s operations, reputation and financial results,

The inability to effectively integrate acquisitions or colloborate with joint venture partners could adversely impact Linde’s financial position and resufts of
opergations.

T addition to the business combination, Linde has evaluated and expects to continue to evaluate, a wide array of potential strategic acquisitions and
joint ventures. Many of these transactions, if consummated, could be material to its financial condition and results of aperations. In additien, the process of
integrating an acyuired company, business or group of assets may create unforeseen operating difficulties and expenditures. Althaugh historically Linde has
been successful with its acquisition strategy and execation, the areas where Linde may face risks include:

«  the need to implement or remediate controls, procedures and palicies appropriate for a larger public company at companies that prior to the
acquisition lacked these controls, procedures and policies;

«  diversion of management time and focus from operating existing business to acquisition integration challenges;

+  cultural challenges associated with integrating emplayees from the acquired company into the exising organization;

«  the need to integrate each company's acceunling, management information, human resources and other administrative systems to permit
effeclive management;

«  difficulty with the assimilation of acquired operations and products;

»  failure to achieve targeted synergies and cost reductions; and

«  inability to refain key emplayees and business relationships of acquired companies,

Fareign acquisitions and joint ventures involve unique risks in addition to those mentioned herein, including those refated to integration of operations
across different cultures and languages, currency risks and the particu)ar economic, political and regulatory risks assoctated with specific countries.

Also, the anticipated benefit of potential future acquisitions may not materialize. Future acguisitions or dispositions could resuly in the incurrence of
debt, contingent liabilides or amortization experises, or impairments of poodwill, any of which could adversely impact Linde’s financial results.
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Linde is subject to a variety of international laws and government regulations and changes in, or failure to comply with, these laws or regulotions could
have an adverse impact on the company’s business. financial position and results of operations.

Linde is subject to regulations in the following areas, among others:

+ environmental protection, including climate change and energy efficiency laws and policies;

+  domestic and international tax laws and currency controls;

«  safety;

«  securities laws applicable in the {Jnited States, the European Union, Germany, Ireland, and nther jurisdictions;
= rade and import/export restrictions, as well as economic sanctions laws;

= antitrust matters;

«  data protection;

»  global anti-bribery laws, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act; and

+  healthcare regnlations.

Changes in these or ather regulatory areas, such as evolving environmental legislation in China, may impact Linde’s profitability and may give rise
to new or increased compliance risks: it may become more complex and costly to ensure compliance, and the level of sanctions in the event of non-
compliance may rise. Such changes may alsc restrict Linde’s ability to compete effectively in the marketplace. Noncompliance with such laws and regulations
could result in penalties or sarictions, cancellation of marketing rights or restrictions on participation in, ov even exclusion from, public tender proceedings, all
of which could have a material adverse impact on Linde’s financial results and/or reputation.

Doing business globally requires Linde to comply with anti-corruption, trade, compliance and economic sanctions and similar laws, and to
implement policies and procedures designed to ensure that its employees and other intermediaries comply with the applicable restrictions. These restrictions
include prohibitions on the sale or supply of certain products, services and any other economic resources to embargoed or sanctioned countries, governments,
persons and entities. Compliance with these restrictions requires, among other things, screening of business partners. Despite its commitment to legal
compliance and corporate ethics, the company cannot ensure that its policies and procedures will always protect it from intentional, reckless or negligent acts
commnitted by empleyees or agents under the applicable laws. If Linde fails to comply with laws governing the conduct of international operations, Linde may
be subject to criminal and civil penalties and ather remedial measures, which could materially adversely affect its reputation, business and results of
operations.

The outcome of litigation or governmental investigations may adversely impact the company’s business or results of operations,

Linde’s subsidiaries are party to various lawsuits and governmental investigations arising in the ordinary course of business. Adverse outcomes in
some or all of the claims pending may result in sigrificant monetary damages or injunctive relief that could adversely affect Linde’s ability to conduct
business. Linde and its subsidiaries may in the future become subject te further ctaims and litigation, which is impossible to predict. The litigation and other
claims Linde faces are subject to inherent uncertainties. Legal or regulatory judgments or agreed settlements might give rise to expenses which are not
covered, or are not fully covered, by insurance benefits and may also lead to negative publicity and reputational damage. An unfavorable outcome or
determination could cause a material adverse impact on the company's resulls of operations.

Paotential product defects or inadequate customer care may adversely impact Linde’s business or results of operations.

Risks associated with products and services may result in potential liability claims, the loss of customers or damage to Linde’s reputation. Principal
possible causes of risks associated with products and services are product defects or an inadequate level of customer care when Linde is providing services.

Linde is exposed 1o legal risks relating to product liability in the countries where it operates, including countries such as the United States, where
legal risks (in particular through class actions) have historically been more significant than in other countries. The putcome of any pending or future produocts
and services proceedings or investigations cannot be predicted and legal or regulatory judgments or agreed settlements may give rise to significant losses,
costs and expenses.

The manufacturing and sale of products as well as the construction of plants by Linde may give rise 1o risks associated with the productien, filling,
storage, handling and transport of raw materials, goods or waste. Industrial gases are
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potentially hazardous substances and medical gases and the related healthcare services must comply with ihe relevant specifications in order to net adversely
affect the health of patients treated with them.

Linde’s products and services, if defective or not handled or performed appyopriately, may lead to personal injuries, business interruptions,
environmental damages or other significant damages, which may result, among other consequences, in liability, losses, monetary penalties or compensation
payments, environmental clean-up costs or other costs and expenses, exclusion from cerain market sectors deemed important for future development of the
business and loss of reputation. All these consequences could have a material adverse effect on Linde’s business and results of operations.

U.S. civil linbilities may not be enforceable against Linde.

Linde is organized under the laws of Ireland and substanual portions of its assets will be located outside of the United States. In addition, certain
directors and officers of Linde and its subsidiaries reside outside the United States. As a result, it may be difficubt for investors to effect service of pracess
within the United States upon Linde or such persons, or to enforce outside the United States judgments obtained against such persons in U.S. courts in any
action, including actions predicated upon the civil Habilly provisivus vl (i U.S. federal securitios fawe Tnaddifinn, it may be difficuit for investors to
enforce, in original actions brought in courts in jurisdictions located cutside the United States, rights predicated upon the U.S. federal securities laws.

A judgment for the payment of money rendered by a court in the United States based on civil liability would not be automatically enforceable in
{reland. There is no treaty between Ireland and the United States providing for the reciprocal enforcement of foreign judgments, The following requirements
must be met before the foreign judgment will be deemed to be enforceable in Ireland (i) the judgment must be for a definite sum, (ii) the judgment must be
final and conclusive; and (jii) the judgment must be provided by a court of competent jurisdiction.

An Irish court will also exercise its right to refuse judgment if the foreign judgment (i) was obtained by fraud; (ii) viclated Irish public policy; (iii) is
in breach of natural justice; or (iv) if the judgment is irreconcilable with an earlier foreign judgment.

1n addition, there is doubt as ta whether an Irish court would accept jurisdiction and impose civil lability on Linde or such persons i an criginal
action predicated solely upon the U.S. federal securities laws brought in a court of competent jurisdiction in Ireland against Linde or such member, officer or
expert, respectively.

Changes in tax faws or policy could adversely impact the company’s financigf position or results of operations.

Linde and its subsidiaries are subject to the tax rules and regulations in the U.S., Germany, Ireland, the U.K. and other countries in which they
operate. Those tax rules and regulations are suhject to change on a prospective or retroactive basis. Under current economic and political conditions, including
the U.K.’s ongoing exit process from the EU, tax rates and policies in any jurisdiction, including the U.S,, the U.K. and the EU, are subject to significant
change. In particular, since Linde is currently treated as U.K. tax resident, any potential changes in the tax rules applying to UK. tax-resident companies
would directly affect Linde.

A change in Linde’s tax residency could have a negative effect on the company's future profitability and may trigger taxes on dividends or exit
charges, If Linde ceases to be resident in the United Kingdom and becomes resident in another jurisdiction, it may be subject to United Kingdom exit charges,
and/or could become liable for additional tax charges in the other jurisdiction. If Linde were to be treated as resident in more than one jurisdiction, it could be
subject ta duplicative taxation. Farthermore, although T.inde is incarporated in freland and i not expected ta be weated as @ domestic corporation for U.S.
federal income 1ax purpeses, it is possible chat the IRS could disagree with this result or that changes in U.S, federal income tax law could alter this result. If
the IRS successfully asserted such a position or the law were to change, significant adverse tax cansequences may result for Linde, the company and Linde’s
shareholders.

When tax rules change, this may result in a higher tax expense and the need to make higher tax payments. In addition, changes in tax legislation may
have a significant impact on Linde’s and its subsidiaries’ tax receivables and tax liabilities as well as on their deferved tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
and uncertainty about the tax environment in some regions may restrict their opportunities te enforce their respective rights under the law. Linde also operates
in counries with complex tax regulations which could be interpreted in different ways. Interpretations of these regulations or changes in the tax system might
have an adverse impact on the tax liabilities, profitability and business operations of
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Linde. Linde and its subsidiaries are subject to periodic audits by the tax authorities in various jurisdictions or other review actions by the relevanr financial or
tax authorities. The ultimate tax outcome may differ from the amounts recuided in Linde's or its subsidiaries’ financial statements and may materially affect

their respective financial results for the period when such determination is made.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Linde has received no written SEC. staff comments regarding any of its Exchange Act reports which remain unresolved.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Linde plc's principal executive offices are located in owned office space in Guildford, United Kingdom. Linde alse owns principal administrative office
space in Danbury, Connecticut and Houstor, Texas, United States; Pultach, Germany; and Siagapare.

Due (0 the nature of Linde’s industrial gas products, it is generally uneconomical to transport them distances greater than a few hundred miles from the
production facility. As a result, Linde operares a significant number of production facilites spread globally throughout a number of geographic regions.

The following is a description of production facilities for Linde by segment. No significant portion of these assets was leased at December 31, 2019,
Generally, these facilities are fully utilized and are sufficient (0 meet the company's manufacwuring needs.

Americas

The Americas segment operates production facilities primarily in the U.S., Canada, Mexico and Brazil, approximately 350 of which are mainly
CIyogenic air separation plants, hydrogen plants and carbon dioxide plants. There are five major pipeline complexes in North America located in northern
Indiana, Houston, along the Gulf Coast of Texas, Detroit and Louisiana. Many of the South American plants support one pipeline complex in Southern Brazil.
Also tocated throughout the Americas are noncryogenic air separation plants, packaged gas facilities and other smaller plant facilities.

EMEA

The EMEA segment has production facilities primarily in Italy, Spain, Germany, the Benelux region, the United Kingdom, Scandinavia and Russia
which include approximately 230 cryogenic air separation plants and carbon dioxide plants. Also located threughout Europe are noncryogenic air separation
plants, packaged gas facilities and other smaller plant facilities.

APAC

The APAC segment has production facilities Yocated primarily in China, Korea, India and Thailand, approximately 230 of which are cryogenic ajr
separation plants and carbon dioxide plants. Also located throughout Asia are noncryogenic air separation plants, hydrogen, packaged gas and other
production facilities.

Engincering

The Linde Engineering business designs and constructs turnkey process plants for third-party customers as well as for the Linde gases businesses in
many locations worldwide, such as olefin plants, natural gas plants, air separation plants, hydrogen and synthesis gas plants. Plant components are produced
in owned factories in Pullach and Tacherting, Germany; Hesinque, France; Oklahoma, United States; and Dalian, China.

ITEM3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the section captioned “INotes 10 Consolidated Financial Statemnents - 19.
Commitments and Contingencies” in Ttem 8 of this 10-K.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Nat Applicable
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PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR RECISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHULDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Linde plc shares trade on the New York Steck Exchange (“NYSE™) and the Frankfurt Stock Exchange (*FSE”) under the ticker symbol “LIN”. At
December 31, 2019 there were 9,322 shareholders of recard.

Purchases of Equity Securities — Certain information regarding purchases made by or on behalf of the company or any affiliated purchaser (as defined
in Rule 10b-18(a}3) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) of its ordinary shares during the three months ended December 31, 2015 is
provided below:

Total Number of

Total Shares Purchased as Approximate Dollar
Number of Part of Publicly Value of Shares that
Shares Average Announced May Yet be Purchased
Purchased Price Paid Program (1) Under the Program (2)
Period (Thousards} Per Share {Thousands} (Millions)
October 2019 716 % 191.19 716§ 4,322
November 2019 1,039 205.74
December 2019 1,896 % 207.31 1,896 $ 3,715
Fourth Quarter 2019 3651 % 203.70 3,651 3¥715

(N On January 22, 2019 the company’s board of directors approved the repurchase of $6.0 billion of its erdinary shares {"2019 program"} which could
take place from time to time on the open market (and could include the use of 10b5-1 trading plans), subject to market and business conditions. The
2019 program has a maximum repurchase amount of 15% of outstanding shares and a stated expiration date of February 1, 2021.

(2) As of December 31, 2019, the company repurchased $2.3 billion of its ordinary shares pursuant to the 2015 program, keaving an additional $3.7
billion authorized.
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Peer Performance Table — The graph below compares the most recent five-year cumulative returns of the common stock of Praxair, the company's
predecessor, tirough October 31, 2018 and Linde's ordinary shares from October 31, 2018 through December 31, 2019 with those of the Standard & Poor’s
500 Index (“SPX"} and the SS Materials Index (“SS5MATR") which covers 22 companies, incfuding Linde, The figures assume an initial invesiment of $100
on December 31, 2014 and that all dividends have been reinvested.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
(Dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

The year ended December 31, 2019 reflects the results of both Praxair and Linde AG for the eatire year. The year ended December 31, 2018 reflects the results of Praxair
tor the entire year and the results of Linde AG for the period beginning after October 31, 2018 (the merger date), including the impacts of purchase accounting (See Nates 1, 3
and 4 to the consolidated tinancial statements}. The historical perivds prior to 2018 reflect the results o! Praxair,

Year Ended December 31, 2019(a) 2018(a) 2017(a) 2016(a) 2015{a)
From the Consolidated Statements of Income
Sales $ 28228  § 14836  § 1,36 10469 $ 10,710
Cosr of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amaortization 16,644 9,020 6,382 5,790 5832
Selling, general and administrative 3,457 1,629 1,207 1,145 1,152
Depreciation and amontization 4675 1.830 1,184 1,122 1.106
Research and development 184 113 93 92 93
Cost reduction programs and other charges 567 309 52 96 163
Net gain on sale of businesses 164 3,294 — — _
Other income (expenses) —net 53 18 4 23 28
Operating profit 2,933 5,247 2,444 2,247 2,370
Interest expense — net 38 202 161 190 161
Net pension and OPEB cost (benefit), excluding service ost (32 @) 4) 9 49
Invone frum continuing vperativns befure income taxes and equity
investrnents 2927 5.049 2,287 2,048 2,160
Income taxes on coniinuing cperations 769 817 1,026 551 612
Income from continuing operations before equity investments 2,158 4.232 1,261 1,497 1,548
Inceme from equity invesiments 14 56 47 41 43
Income from continuing operations {including noncontrolling interests) 2272 4.288 1308 1588 1,501
Noncontrolling interests from continting operations (89 (15) (61) (38) (44)
Income from continuing operations 3 2.183 5 4273 4 1.247 & 1.500 $ 1.547

Per Share Data — Linde plc Shareholders

Basic earnings per share from continuing operations § 4.03 S 12.93 5 436 S 525 % 539
Dilused earnings per share from continuing operations $ a0 s 1279 § 432 8 521 § 535
Cash dividends per share $ 350 0§ 330 8 ERFERI 300§ 286
‘Weighted Average Shares Outstanding (000's) (b)

Basic shares suistanding 541,094 330,401 206,261 285,677 287,005
Diluted shares outstanding 545,170 334,127 289,114 287,757 289,055

Other Information and Ratios

Total assets

$ 86,612 3 93,386 3 20436 § 19,332 $ 18,319
Totl debt 5 12936 § 15296 § 9000 $ 9515 § 9,231
Cash flaw from operations $ 6119 3 3654 % 3081 % 2789 § 2,695
Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities 3 1,189 5 =363 $ a4 % 070 8 (1.40%)
Net cash used for financing activities 3 (H997) § (4998 3 (L656) % (B59) § (1,310)
Capital experditures s 1082 S 1583 5 13§ 1465 § 1541
Shares outstanding {006’s) 534,361 547,242 286.777 284,501 284,579
Number of emplayees 79,086 80820 26.461 26,498 26,657

(a) Amounts tor 2019 include: (i) charges of $567 million ter cost reduction programs and ather charges primarily related to the merger and synergies, (if) pension

settlement charges of $87 million related o lump sum benefit payments made from pension plans, (iii) a net gain on sdle of businesses of $164 million and
(iv) the purchase accounting impacts of the merger of $1,952 million.
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Amounts for 2018 include: (i} charges of $369 million for rransaction costs and other charges primarily related to the merger, (ii) gension setlemertt charges of $14
million related to lump sum benefit payments made from pension plans, (iii) income tax benefit, net of $17 million due to U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act and other tax
charges, {iv) a net gain on sale of businesses of $3,294 million, (v} bond redemption costs of $26 million, and (vi) the purchase accounting impacts of the merger of
$714 millicn.

Amounts for 2017 include: (i) charges ol $52 millivn for wansaction costy related 10 the merger, (i) a pension seilement charge of 32 millivn related 16 lump sum
benefit paymemnts made from an internaticnai pension plan, and (iil) income 1ax charges, net of $394 million due © U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act.

Amounts for 2016 include: (i) a $16 million charge to interest expense related 1o the redemption of the $3.25 million 5.20% notes due 2017, (ii) a pre—+ax pension
settiement charge ot $4 million refated to lump sum benefit payments made from the U.S. supplemental pension plan, and (ifi) pre—ax charges of $96 million
primarily related t cost reduction actions.

Amounts tor 2015 include: (i) a pre-tax charge of 5165 million related 1o the cost reduction program and other charges; and (i) a pre-tax charge of $7 million related
to a pension sertlement.

See Nows 1, 3,4, 5, 7, 13 and 18 to the consolidated tinancial statements.

(1) As a result of the merger, share amounts for the year ended December 31, 2u18 reflect die weighted averaging effect of Pravair shares ourstanding prior wo October 31,
2018 and Linde shares outstanding from Qceaber 31, 2018 through December 31, 2018.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion of die company’s financial condition and results of aperatiens should be read together with its consolidated financial
statements and notes to the consclidated financial statements included in Item & of this Form 10-K.

Page
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New Accounting Standards 31
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures )

MERGER OF PRAXAIR, INC. AND LINDE AG

Linde ple ("Linde"} is a public limited company formed under the laws of Ireland in 2017 in accordance with the requirements of the business
combination agreement between Praxair, Inc. ("Praxair") and Linde Aktiengeselischaft ("Linde AG"}. On October 31, 2018 Praxair and Linde AG combined
their respective businesses through an all-stock transaction, and became subsidiaries of Linde plc (collectively referred to as the “business combination” or
“merger"). The business combination of Praxair and Linde AG has been accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting under the provisions of
Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification 805, “Business Combinations,” with Praxair representing the accounting
acquirer under this guidance. Accordingly, the historical financial statements of Praxair for the periods prior to the merger are considered to be the historical
financial statements of Linde. The results of Linde AG are included in Linde’s consolidated results from the merger date forward. The Linde shares trade on
the New York Stock Exchange and the Frankfurt Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol “LIN”. See Notes 1 and 3 to the consolidated financial statements
for additional infonnation.

In connection with the husiness combination, the company, Praxair and Linde AG, entered into various agreements with regulatory authorities to satisfy
anti-trust requirements to secure approval o consummate the business combination. These agreements required the sale of the majority of Praxair’s European
businesses (completed on December 3, 2018), a significant portion of Linde AG’s Americas business (completed on March 1, 2019), select assets of Linde
AG’s South Korean industrial gases business (completed April 30, 2019), select assets of Praxair's Indian industrial gases business (completed July 12, 2019),
select assets of Linde AG's Indian industrial gases business (completed December 16, 2019} as well as certain divestitures of other Praxair and Linde AG
businesses in Asia that are currently expected to be sold in 2020 (collectively, the “merger-related divestitures™). In the consolidated financial statements
included in Item 8, Praxair’s merger-telated divestitures are included in the results of operations uniil sold and Linde AG’s merger-related divestitures are
accounted for as discontinued operations. See Notes 1, 3 and 4 to the consolidated financial statements included in Trem 8 for additional information relating
to merger-related divestitures.

Additionally, to obtain merger approval in the United States Linde, Praxair and Linde AG entered inte an agreement with the U.S. Federal Trade
Commisston dated Qctober 1, 2018 (“hold separate order” or “HSO”). Under the HSO, the company, Praxair and Linde AG agreed to continue to operate
Linde AG and Praxair as independent, ongoing, economicalty viable, competitive businesses held separate, distinct, and apart from each other's operations;
and not coordinate any aspect of their operations until certain divestitures in the United States were completed. Accordingly, Linde had accounted for Linde
AG as a separate segment for 2018 reporting purposes effective with the merger date. Prior to the merger date, the company’s Linde AG segment did not
exist. Since the FTC hold separate order restrictions were lifted effective March 1, 2019, the company subsequently implemenied a new segment structure as
follows: Americas; EMEA
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(Europe/Middle East/Africa); APAC (Asia/South Pacific) and Engineering. This new management organization siructure was implemented during the first
quarter 2019 and, accordingly, segment information has been retrospectively recast for all prior periods.

ITEMS AFFECTING COMPARABILITY

Because Praxair and Linde AG combined their respective businesses effective with the merger date of October 31, 2018, the year ended December 31,
2019 reflects the vesults and cash flows of the cembined business, while the year ended December 31, 2018 includes twelve manths of Praxair and two
months of Linde AG. Due to the size of Linde AG’s businesses prior to tile nierger, the reported resules for 2019 and 2018 periods are not comparable. The
balance sheets at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 are comparable because both periods reflect the merger.

Pro Forma fncome Statement Information

Therefore, to assist with a discussion of die 2019 and 2018 vecults nn A romparable basis, certain supplemental unaudited pro forma income statement
information is provided on both a consolidated and segment basis (referred to as "pro forma incame statement information” or “pro futiud iufuimation™).

The pro forma information has been prepared on a basis consistent with Article 11 of Regulation $-X, assuming the merger and merger-related
divestitures had been consummated on January 1, 2018, In preparing this pro forma information, the historical financial information has been adjusted to give
effect to pro forma Adjustments that are (i) directly attributable to the business combination and other transactions presented herein, such as the merger-
relared divestitures, (if) faceuaily supportable, and (iii) expected to have a continuting impact on the combined entity’s consolidated results. The pro farma
information is based on management's assumptions and is presented for Mustrative purposes and does not purport to represent what the results of operations
would acmally have been if the business combination and merget-related divestitures had eccurred as of the dates indicated or what the results would be for
any future periods. Pro forma information was not developed for the year ended December 31, 2017. Also, the pro forma information does not include the
impact of any revenue, coss or other operating synergies that may result from the business combination or any related restructuring costs.

[
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

With the merger, Tinde is the leading industrial gas conpany wurldwide. The company's primary products in its industrial gases business are
atmospheric gases (oxygen, nitrogen, argon, rare gases) and process gases (carbon dioxide, helium, hydrogen, electronic gases, specialty gases, acetylene).
The company also designs, engineers, and builds equipment that produces industrial gases primarily for internal use; and offers its customers a wide range of
gas production and processing services such as olefin plans, natural gas plants, air separation plants, hydrogen and synthesis gas plants and other types of
plants.

Linde's industrial gas operations are managed on a geographical basis and in 2019 83% of sales were generated by Linde’s three geographic segments
(Americas, EMEA and APAC) and the remaining 17% is related primarily to the Engineering segment, and to a lesser extent Other (see Note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements for operating segment details).

Linde serves a diverse group of indusiries including healthcare, petroleum refining, manufacturing, food, beverage carbonation, fiber-optics, steel
making, aerospace, chemicals and water treatment. The diversity of end-markets supports financial stability for Linde in varied business cycles.

Linde generates most of its revenues and earnings in the following twelve geographies where the company has its sirongest market positions and where
distribution and production nperations allow the company o deliver the highest level of service to its customers at the lowest cost.

Europe, Middle East and Africa

North and South America (" Americas") (“EMEA™} Asia and Pacific (“APAC”)
United States Germany China & Taiwan
Brazil United Kingdom Australia
Mexico Lastern Europe South Korea
Canada India

The company manufactures and distributes its induswrial gas products through networks of thousands of production plants, pipeline complexes,
distribution centers and delivery vehicles. Major pipeline complexes are primarily located in the United States. These networks are a competitive advantage,
providing the foundation of reliable product supply to the company’s customer base. The majority of Linde’s business is conducted through loug-term
contracts which provide stability in cash flow and the ability to pass through changes in energy and feedstock costs to customers. The company has growth
opportunities in all major geographies and in diverse end-markets such as energy, electronics, chemicals, metals, healthcare, food and beverage, and
aerospace.
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY - FINANCIAL RESULTS & OUTLOOK
2019 Year in review

On October 31, 2018 Praxair and Linde AG combined their respective businesses through an all-stock merger transaction, and became subsidiaries
of Linde plc. The year ended December 31, 2018 reflects the results of Praxair for the entire year and the results of Linde AG for the period beginning after
October 31, 2018,

«  Sales of $28,228 million were 90% above 2018 sales of $14,836 million, primarily driven by the merger that contributed 89% te sales, net of
divestitures. Underlying sales increased 156 driven by 3% higher pricing across all geographic segments and 1% volume growth, partially offset by
unfavorable cutrency translation and lower cost pass-through.

~  Reported operating profit of $2,933 million was 44% below 2018 primarily driven by the net gain on sale of businesses in 2018 parnally offset by
the immpact of the merger, including purchase accounting impacts, in the curreit year. On an adjusted pro forma basis, operating profit increased
$476 million, or 10%, for 2019 versus 2018, as the impacts of higher pricing and volumes were partially offset by unfavorable currency impacts
and cost inflation.*

+  Income from continuing aperations of $2,183 million and diluted earnings per share from continuing operations of $4.00 decreased from $4,273
million and $12.79, respectively in 2018. Adjusted pro forma income from continuing operations of $4,003 million and adjusted pro forma diluted
earnings per share from continuing operations of $7.34 were 17% and 19%, respectively above 2018 adjusted pra forma amounts *

+  Cash flow from opetations was $6,119 million, or 22% of sales. Capital expenditures were $3,682 million; dividends paid were $1,891 million; net
purchases of ordinary shares of $2,586 million; and debt repayments, net were $1,260 million.

* A recongiliation of the adjusted pro forma amounts can be found in the "Supplemental Pro Forma Income Statement Information” and "Non-GA AP
Financial Measures™ section in this MD&A. See Notes 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 13 and 18 to the censolidated financial statements.

2020 Qutlook

The company’s business is te build, own, and operate industrial gas plants in order to supply atmospheric and process gases to chstomers. As such,
Linde believes that its sale of gas project backlog is one indicator of future sales growth. At December 31, 2019, Linde’s sale of gas backlog of large projects
under construction was $4.4 billion. This represents the total estimated capital cost of large plants under coustruction, APAC and Americas represent 64
percent and 29 percent of the backlog, respectively, with the remaining backlog in EMEA. These plants will primarily supply custcmers in the energy,
chemical, and electrenics end-markets.

The above ouilook should be read in conjunction with the section entitled “Forward-Looking Statements.”

LLinde provides quarierly updates on operating results, material trends that may affect financial performance, and financial guidance via earnings
releases and investor teleconferences, These materials are available on the company’s website, www.linde.com, bui are not incorporated herein.
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CONSOLIDATED RESULTS AND OTHER INFORMATION

The following table provides summary wfunuadion for 2019, 2018 and 2017. The reported amounts are GAAP amounts from the Consclidated
Statements of Income. The pro forma and adjusted pro forima amounts are intended to supplement investors' understanding of the company's financial
information and are not a substitute for GAAP measures. The year ended December 31, 2018 reflects the results of Praxair for the entire year and the results
of Linde AG for the period beginning after October 31, 2018 (the merger date), including the impacts of purchase accounting (See Notes 1, 3 and 4 to the
consolidated financial staternents), The historical periods prior to 2018 reflect the results of Praxair, Inc:

Reported Amounis (GAAP)

Pro Forma Amounts {a)

(Millions of dollars, except per share data) 2019 vs. 2018 vs.

Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017 2018 2017 2019 2018 2019 vs. 2018

Reported Amounts

Sales $ 28228 5 1483 § 11,38 90 % 31% $ 28163 § 28084 —%

Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciavon and amortization $ 16,644 $ 9,020 g 6,382 85 % 41% % 16.584 $ 16,929 (2)%
As a percent of sales 59.0% 60.8% 56,20 58.9% 60.3%

Selling, general and administrative § 3457 I 1629 g 1207 2% 1% § 3,456 5 1635 (5%
As a percent of sales 12.9% 11.0% 10.6% 12.3% 12.9%

Depreciation and amortization $ 4573 S 1830 0§ 1134 155 % 5% §5 0 4675 % 494 (5%

Cost reduction programs and other charges {b) s 567 8 209 5 52 5 377 s 56

Net gain on sale of businesses (b) 5 164 It 3.J94 5 o 5 _ 5 __

Operating Profit $ 2933 0§ 5247 5 2add (44)% 15% § 295 $ 2561 15%
Operating margin 10.4% 35.4% 21.5% 10.5% 5.1%

Interest expense —net s KL 202 % 161 (81)% 5% § B S 379 (90)%

Net pension and OPEB cost (benefit), excluding service cost $ 30 % @ s (4 200 % —o% % (129) 5 (163) 22)%

Effective tax rate 26.3% 16.2% 44.9% 24.6% 28.5%

Income from equity investments s 14§ % S 47 104 % 19% % 4 s 2 115%

Noncontralling interests from continuing operations 3 89 § (15 § ®1) 75)% $ 59 s _

lncome from continuing operations 5 2,183 % 4,273 g 1,247 (49)Y% 243% % 2.322 3 1.729 4%

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations $ am % 1279 & 432 (69)% 1% % § 425 8§ i 37%

Diluted shares outstanding (¢} 545,170 334,127 286,114 62 % 16 % 545,170 533,151 (21%

Number of employees 79,886 80,820 26,461

Adjusted Pro forma Amounts (d)

Operating profit 3 5,272 3 4,796 10%
Operaling margin 18.7% 17.1%

incomme from continuing operations [ 4003 $ 3433 17 %

Diluted earmngs per share from continuing operations $ 734 5 5.19 199

Oiher Financial Data (d)

EBITDA and pro forma EBI'TDA from continuing

operations % 7,722 g 7,133 L) 3.675 8% 4% § 7,744 3 7.537 3%
As percent of sales 27.4% 48.1% 32.4% (43)% 8% 27.5% 26.8%

Adjusted pro forma EBITDA from continuing,

operaticns % 4.178 s 7603 8%
As percent of sales 29.0% 27.1%

(a) Pro Ioima amounts ere supplementdl w the GAAP presentations and are prepared on a basis consistent with Anicle 11 ol Regulation 5-X. See "Supplemental Pro Forma lncome

Statement Information” and “Non-G AAT Reconciliations” sections af this MD& AL
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1)) See Notes 4 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

© As a result of the merger, share amounts for the year ended December 31, 2018 reflect the weighted averaging effect of Fraxair shares outanding prior 1o October 31, 2018 and Linde
shdres outstanding from Ociober 31, 2018 through December 31, 2018,

{y Adjusted pro fornia amounts and Other Finandial Data are non-GAAP performance measures. A reconciliation ol reporied amounts to adjusted pro [urma amounts can be found in the
"Supplemental Pro Forma Income Statement Information” ard "Nan-GAAP Reconciltatians” sections of this MD&A,

Results of Operations

The following table provides a summary of changes in consolidated reported and pro forma sales:

2019 vs. 2018 2018 vs. 2017
% Change % Change
Reported Pro forma Reported
Factors Contributing to Changes - Sales
Volume 1% 2% 4%
Price/Mix 3% 2% 2%
Cost pass-through (1¥% (1)% 1%
Cuirency (21% (4)% (11%
Acquisidons/Divestitures 83 % 1% 25%
90 % — % 31 %
2019 Compared With 2018
Sales

Reported sales increased $13,392 million, or 90% for the year primarily due to the merger, net of related divestitures. On a pro forma basis sales
increased $79 millien in 2019 compared to 2018,

On a reported basis, sales increased 90% to $28,228 million in 2019 compared to $14,836 million in 2018 primarily due to the merger, net of related
divestitures. Volume increased sales by 1% driven by higher volumes largely in the APAC segment, including new project start-ups. Higher pricing across all
geographic sepments contributed 3% to sales. Currency translarion decreased sales by 2% driven by the weakening of the Brazilian real, Canadian dollar and
Chinese yuan against the US dollar. Lower cost pass-through, primarily natursal gas, decrcased sales by 1% with minimal impact on operating profic.

On a pro forma basis, sales were relatively flar with prior year. Volume growth of 2% was largely driven by higher volumes in the Americas and
APAC segments, including new project start-ups. Higher pricing across the gases segments caneuibuted 2% to sales. Unfavorable currency translation,
primarily driven by the weakening of the Euro, British pound, Chinese yuan and Australian dollas, decreased sales by 4%, Lower cost pass-through, primarily
natural gas, decreased sales by 1% with minimal impact on operating profit. Acquisitions, largely in the Americas segment, coniributed 1% to sales.

Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization
Reparted cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization increased $7,624 million, or 85%, for the year primarily due to the merger, net of
related divestitures.

O a pro forma basis, cost of sales, exclusive of depreciatian and amortization decreased $345 millian 6r 2% in 2019 as compared to 2018. Fro
forma cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization was 58.9% of sales in the year versus 60.3% of sales for 2018, The decrease as a percentage of
sales in the year was due primarily to higher pricing.

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Reported selling, general and administrative ("SG&A") expenses increased $1,828 million, or 112%, in 2019 to $3,457 millien primarily due to the
merger. On a pro forma basis, SG&A decreased $179 million, or 5%, versus the 2018 peried.

On a reparted basis, SG&A Increased 112% in 2019, primarily due (o the merger. SG&A was 12.2% of sales in 2019 versus 11.0% in 2018,
prisnarily due to the merger,
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On a pro forma basis, SG&A decreased 5% in 2019 versus 2018. SG&A was 12.3% of sales in 2019 versus 12.9% in 2018, Currency impacts
decreased SG& A by approximately $145 million in the 2019 periud. Excluding currency lmpacts, underlying SG&A decreased due to cost reduction actions
and productivity improvements which also drove the improvement of SG&A as a percentage of sales in the period.

Depreciation and amortization

Reported depreciation and amortization expense increased $2,845 million, or 155%, versus 2018. The increase is primarily due to the merger,
including $1,940 million of purchase accounting impacts related to the depreciation and amartization of the fair valve adjustments of fixed assets and
intangible assets acquired in the merger.

On a pro forma basis, depreciation and amortization expense decreased $249 miilion, or 5%, versus 2018. Currency movements decreased
depreciation and amortization by approximately $197 million for the year. Excluding currency effects, depreciation and amortization expense decreased
approximately $32 million, primarily driven by measurement period adjustments recognized in 2019 (see Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements),
partially cffset by increases due to large project start-ups.

Cost reduction programs and other charges

Linde recarded cost reduction programs and other charges of $567 million and $309 million for 2019 and 2018, respectively, primarily related to
merger and synergy-related costs and an asset impairment in the third quarter 2019 of approximately $73 million related to a joint venture in APAC resulting
from an unfaverable arbitration ruling (see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements).

On an adjusted pro forma basis, these costs have been eliminated in both periods.
Operating profit

Reported operating profit decreased $2,314 mitlion in 2019, or 44%, primarily driven by the net gain on sale of businesses in 2018 partially offset by
the impact of the merger, including purchase accounting impacts, in the current year. On an adjusted pro forma basis, operating profit increased $476 million,
or 10%, for 2019 versus 2018.

On a reported basis, operating profit decreased $2,314 million, or 44%. 2019 includes Linde AG's operating results for the full year and a gain on
merger-related divestitures of $164 million, which was offset by $1,952 million which primarily related to $1,940 million of purchase accounting charges for
additional depreciation and amortization, and $567 million in cost reduction program and other charges. 2018 included Linde AG's operating results from
October 31, 2018 forward and a gain on merger-related divestitures of $3,294 million, partially offset by purchase accounting impacts of $714 million and
8309 million of merger-related charges.

On an adjusted pro forma basis, which excludes the impacts of purchase accounting, cost reduction programs and other charges and net gains from
merger-related divestitures, operating profit increased $476 million, or 10%, as the impacts of higher pricing and volumes were partially offset by unfavorable
currency impacts and cost inflation. A discussion of eperating profit by segment is included in the segment discussion that follows,

Interest expense - net

Reported interest expense —net in 2019 decreased $164 million, or 81%, versus 2018. On an adjusted pro forma basis interest expense decreased
$145 million, or 52% in 2019 as compared to 2018.

On a reported basis, interest expense - net decreased $164 million in 2619 and inciuded a decrease of $36 million related to purchase accounting
impacts on the fair value of debt acquired in the merger. Excluding this purchase accounting impace, reported interest expense decreased $68 million in the
year as interest on debt acquired in the merger was more than offset by higher interest income.

On an adjusted pro forma basis, interest expense - net decreased $145 million in 2019 primarity due to lower debt levels and higher interest income,
Net pension and OPEB cost (benefit), excluding service cost

Reported net pension and GPES cost (benefit), excluding service cost was a benefit of $32 million in 2019 versus a benefit of $4 million in 2018 and
included pension setlement charges of $97 million and a net $8 million curtailment charge (see Note 18 te the consolidated financial statements). Fxcluding
the impact of these charges, the net pension and OPEB benefit, excluding service cost increased $133 million in 2019, primarily due to the impaci of pension
and OPEB plans acquired in the merger.

On an adjusted pro forma basis, net pension and OPEB {benefit}, excluding service cost was a benefit of $129 million in 2019 versus a benefit of
$165 million in 2018.
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Effective tax rate

The reported effective tax rate ("ETR") for 2019 was 26.3% versus 16.2% in 2018. 2018 included the impact of the sale of Praxair's European
industrial gas business (see Note 7 to the consofidated financial statements).

On an adjusted pro forma basis, the ETR for 2019 was 24.0% versus 25.8% in 2018.
Income from equity investments

Reported income from equity investiments for 2019 increased $58 million to $114 million largely related to investments in APAC and EMEA. This
increase is primarily related to the merger.

On an adjusted pro forma basis, income from equity investments for 2019 increased $55 miltian o $171 million. The increase is primarily related to
increased earnings from equity investments.

Noncontrolling interests from continuing operations

At December 31, 2019, noncontrolling interests from continuing operations consisted primarily of noncontrolling shaveholders’ investments in
APAC (primarily in China) and surface technologies,

Reported noncontrolling interests from continuing gperations increased $74 million to $89 million in 2019 from $15 million in 2018, primarily
driven by the merger. 2019 noncontrolling interests includes a $33 million impact for an asset impairment charge in the third quarter related 10 a joint venture
in APAC (see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements).

On an adjusted pro forma basis, noncontrolling interests from continuing operations increased $10 million in 2019 driven by higher income from
continuing gperatiens.

Income from continuintg operations

Reported income from cominuing operations decreased $2,000 million, or 49%, primarily due to the 2018 gain on mesger-relared divestirures,
partially offset by the merger. Qther impacts related to interest - net; net pension and OPEB cost (benefit), excluding service cost; income taxes; income from
equity investments; and noncontrolling interest largely offset in the aggregate.

On an adjusted pro forma basis, which excludes the impacts of purchase accounting and other non-GAAP adjustments, income from continuing
operations increased $570 million, or 17%, in 2019 primarily due to higher adjusted pro forma aperating profit, lower adjusted pro forma interest expense-net,
lower adjusted ETR, and higher adjusted pro forma income from equity investments.

Diluted earnings per share from contimiing operations

Reported diluted earnings per share from coatinuing operations decreased $8.79, or 69%, in 2019 as compared to 2018, primasily due to lower net
income from continuing eperations and higher diluted shares outstanding as a result of the merger.

On an adjusted pro forma basis, diluted EPS ot $7.34 in 2018 increased 19% versus 2018, primarily due to higher adjusted pro forma income from
continuing operatians and lower diluted shares cutstanding.

Employees

The numbes of employees at December 31, 2019 was 79,886, a decrease ol 934 employees from December 31, 2018 primarily driven by cost
reduction actions partially offset by acquisitions.

Other Financial Data
EBITDA mncreased to $7,722 million in 2019 from $7,133 million in 2018, primarily due to the merger.

Adjusted pro forma EBITDA from continuing operations increased to $8,178 million for 2019 as compared to $7,603 million in 2018 primarily due
ta higher income from continuing operations versus the prior year period.

See the "Supplemental Pro Forma lncome Statement Information” for pro forma amounts and "Non-GAAP Reconciliations” fer adjusted pro forma
amounts sections below for definitions and reconciliations of these pro forma and adjusted pro forma non-GAAFP measures to reported GAAP amounts.

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Other comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2019 of 3435 million resulted primarily from a decrease in the funded status of the
company's largest retirernent programs. Driven by the low discount rate environment,
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the ather comprehensive loss of $544 millien related to the remeasurement of such retirement programs was partially offset by benefits from cumularive
translation adjustments, The translation adjustments reflect the impact of translating luvdl currency foreign subsidiary financial statements 10 U.S. dollars, and
are largely driven by the movement of the U.S. dollar against major currencies including the Eurg, the Chinese yuan and the British pound. See the
"Currency” section of the MD&A for exchange rates used for translation purposes and Nate 9 to the consolidated financial statements for a summary of the
currency translation adjustment component of accumulated other comprehensive income by segment.

2018 Compared With 2017

Sales increased 31% to $14,836 millicn in 2018 compared to $11,358 million in 2017 primarily reflecting the merger with Linde AG which contributed
25% to sales, net of divestitures. Underlying sales increased 6% driven by higher volumes and pricing. Volume growth of 4% was driven by higher volumes
in North America and Asia, including new project start-ups. Higher overall pricing across all geographic segments contributed 2% to sales. Currency
translation impact decreased sales by 1%. Higher cost pass-through, primarily natural gas, increased sales by 1% with minimal impact on operating profit.
The divestture of Praxair's European businesses in December of 2018 decreased sales by 1%.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $422 million, or 35%, in 2018 to $1,629 million primarily due to the merger, SG&A was 11,0%
of sales in 2018 versus 10.6% in 2017, primarily due te the merger.

Depreciation and amortization expense increased $646 million, or 55%, versus 2017. The increase is primarily due to the merger, including $346
million of purchase accounting impacts related to the fair vatue of fixed assets and intangible assets acquired in the merger.

Cost reduction programs and other charges were $309 million and $52 million in 2018 and 2017, respectively and are primarily related to the merger.
See Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

Net gain on the sale of businesses was $3,294 million and related primarily to the divestiture of Praxair's European industrial gases business in
connection with the merger, See Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Other income (expenses} —net in 2018 was a $18 million benefit versus a $4 million benefit in 2017 (see Note 9 to the consclidated financial statements
for a summary of major components). In North America, 2018 included a $30 million asset impairment charge which was mare than effset by $43 million of
gains on asset disposals. In Asia, 2018 included a $22 million asset impairment charge, offset by a litigation settlement gain.

Reported operating profit of 5,247 million in 2018 was $2,803 million, or 115% higher than reported operating profit of $2,444 million in 2017, 2018
includes a net gain on sale of businesses of $3,294 million, partially offset by ransaction costs and other charges of $309 million, and purchase accounting
impacts of $714 million related to the Linde AG merger (see Notes 4, 5 and 3, respectively, to the consolidated financial statements). 2017 included
transaction costs of $52 million (see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements). Excluding the impact of these items, adjusted operating profit of $2,976
million in 2018 was $480 million, or 19%, higher than adjusted cperating profit of $2,496 million in 2017 driven primarily by the merger. Higher volumes
and price in the geographic segments and surface technologies alse contributed to operating profit growth. A discussion of operating profit by segment is
included in the segment discussion that follows.

Reported interest expense — net in 2018 increased $41 million, or 25%, versus 2017. 2018 included charges of $26 million relating to the early
redemption of notes and a decrease of $21 million related to purchase accounting impacts related to the fair value of debt acquired in the merger (see Notes 13
and 3 1o the consulidated financial statements, respectively). Excluding these impacts, adjusted interest expense of $197 million increased $36 million, or
22%, largely attributable to interest on the debt acquired in the merger and lower capitalized interest. See Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements for
further informaticon relating to interest expense.

‘The reported effective tax rate ("ETR") for 2018 was 16.2% versus 44.9% in 2017. The decrease in the ETR for the 2018 period versus the U.5.
statutory rate of 21% was primarily due to the impact of the sale of Praxair's European industrial gases business. The increase in the ETR for the 2017 pericd
versus the U.S. statutery rate of 35% was primarily due to the net $354 million charge related to the Tax Act. Excluding these and other smaller impacts as set
forth in the "Non-G AAP financial measures” section of this MD&A, on an adjusted basis the ETR for the 2018 and 2017 periods was 23.8% and 27.29%,
respectively. The decrease was driven primarily by the impact of the Tax Act enacted in the fourth quarter of 2017 which lowered the U.S. statutory tax rate
from 35% in 2017 to 21% in 2018 (see Note 7 ta the consolidated financial statements).

Equity income increased $9 million in 2018 versus 2017 and included charges of $9 million for purchase accounting impacts related to the fair value
step up of equity investments acquired in the merger. Excluding this impact, equity income increased $18 million, primarily driven by income from equity
investrnents acquired in the merger.
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At December 31, 2018, reported noncontrolling interests from continuing operagons consisted primarily of noncontrolling sharehalders’ investments in
Asia (primarily in China) and surface technologies. Reported noncontrolling interests from continuing operations decreased $46 million ta $15 millica in
2018 from $61 million in 2017. 2018 includes the impact of the merger and related purchase accounting impacis. Excluding these impacts, adjusted
noncontrolling interests from continuing operations of $73 million increased $12 million, or 20%, primarily due to nonconirolling interests acquired in the
merger.

Reported income from continuing operations for 2018 was $4,273 million, $3,026 million, or 243%, higher than reported income from centinuing
operations of $1,247 million in 2017. Adjusted income from continning operations of $2,121 million in 2018 was $431 milliew, or 26%, higher than adjusted
income from continuing operations of $1,690 million in 2017 primarily due to higher adjusted operating profii and a lower effective tax rate.

Reported diluted earnings per shave from continuing operations ("EPS") of $12.79 in 2018 increased $8.47 per diluted shave, or 196% from $4.32 in
2017. Adjusted diluted EPS of $6.33 in 2018 increased $.50 per diluted share, or 9%, from adjusted diluted EPS of $5.85 in 2017. The increase in adjusted
diluted EPS was primarily due to the merger and higher adjusted income from continuing eperations; partially effset by an increase in diluted shares resulting
fromt equiry acquired in the merger.

Other comprehensive losses for the year ended December 31, 2018 of $299 million resulted primarily from (i) a $221 million unfavorable impact in the
funded status of Linde’s retirement obtigations and (ii) adverse currency translation adjustments of $76 million, net of a benefit of $318 million velated (o the
release of currency wanslation adjustments on Praxair’s European business (See Note 4 to the consalidated financial statements}. The decrease in the funded
status of retirement cbligations was primarily the result of higher current year actuarial losses, as the impacy of higher U.S. disconnt rates was largely offset
by a lower actual return on assets. Unfavorable translation adjustments reflect the impact of translating local currency foreign subsidiary financial statements
into U.S. dollars, and are largely driven by the strengthening of the U.S, dollar against major currencies including the Euro, Brazilian real and Canadian
dallar,

Unfavorable currency translation adjustments included $343 million in South America and $145 million in Asia, partially offset by favorable currency
translation adjustments of $231 million related to Linde AG (primarily Europe and Asia) representing translation impacts for the petiod from merger date
through December 31, 2018. Remaining other comprehensive josses of $2 million relate to the amortization of deferred losses on the company’s derivatives
and unrealized losses on available for sale securities. Refer to the Currency section of the MD&A and Notes 9 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

The rlumber of employees at December 31, 2018 was 80,820, an increase of 54,359 employees from December 31, 2017 primarily driven by an increase
ot approximately 56,000 related ta the merget partially offset by a decrease of approximately 2,500 from the divestiture of Praxair's Evropean industial gases
business.

Other Financial Daca

Earnings before interest taxes depreciation and amartization ("EBITDA™) increased $3,458 million to $7,133 million in 2018 from $3,675 million in
2017. EBITDA in 2018 inciudes a gain ou sale of businesses and purchase accounting impacts, and both periods include transaction and other costs.
Excluding the impacts of these items, adjusted EBITDA increased $78% million to $4,516 million in 2018 from $3,727 million in 2017 driven by the
consolidation of Linde AG starting Ociober 31, 2018, and higher adjusied income from continuing eperations plus depreciation and amortization versus the
prior year,

See the “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” section for definitions and reconciliation of these non-GAAP measures to reported amounis,

Related Party Transactions

‘The company’s related parties are primarily uncousolidated equity affiliates. 'The company did not engage in any material transactions involving related
parties that included terms or other aspects that differ from thase which would be negotiated with independent parties.
Envirommental Matters

Linde’s principal operations relate to the production and distributicn of aunospheric and other industrial gases, which historically have not had a
significant impact on the environment. However, worldwide costs relaiing 1o environmental
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protection may centinue to grow due to increasingly stringent laws and regulations, and Linde’s ongoing commitment to rigorous internal standards. In
addition, Linde may face physical risks from climate change and extreme weatlies.

Climate Change

Linde operates in jurisdictions that have, or are developing, laws and/or regulations to reduce or mitigate the perceived adverse effects of greenhouse
gas ("GHG™) emissions and faces a highly uncertain regulatory environment in this area. For example, the U.5. Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA”")
has promulgated rutes requiring reporting of GHG emissions, and Linde and many of its suppliers and customers are subject to these rules. EPA has also
promulgated regulations to restrict GHG emissions, including final rules regulating GHG emissions from light-duty vehicles and certain large manufacturing
facilities, many of which ave Linde suppliers or customers. ln addition to these developments in the United States, GHGs are regulated in the Eurcpean Union
under the Emissions Trading System, which has wide implications for the company's customers and may impact certain operations of Linde in Eurape. There
are also requirements for mandatory reporting in Canada, which apply to certain Linde aperations and will be used in developing cap-and-trade regulations on
GHG emissions. These regulations are expected to impact certain Linde facilities in Canada. Climate change and energy efficiency laws and policies are also
being widely introduced in jurisdictions throughout Latin America and parts of Asia. China has announced plans to implement its national carbon emissions
trading system in 2020, though it does not appear the regulations will have a direct impact on GHG emissions from Linde facilities. Ameng other impacts,
such regulations are expected to raise the cost of energy, which is a significant cost for Linde. Nevertheless, Linde's long-term customer contracts routinely
provide rights 1o recover increased electricity, natural gas, and other costs that are incurred by the company as a result of climate change regulation.

Linde anticipates continued growth in its hydrogen business, as hydrogen is essential to refineries that use it to remove sulfur from transportation fuels
in order to meet ambient air quality standards in the United States and fuel standards in other regions. Hydrogen production plants and a large number of other
manufacturing and electricity-generating plants have been tdentified ir California and the European Uniun as a source of carbon diexide emissions and these
plants are subject to cap-and-trade regulations in those jurisdictions. Linde believes it will be able to mitigate the costs of these regulations through the terms
of its product supply contracts. However, legislation that limits GHG emissions may impact growth by increasing capital, compliance, operating and
maintenance costs and/or decreasing demand.

To manage business risks from current and potential GHG emissicn regulation as well as physical consequences of climate change, Linde actively
monitors current developments, evaluates the direct and indirect business risks, and takes appropriate actions. Among others, actions include: increasing
relevant resources and training; maintaining contingency plans; obtaining advice and counsel from expert vendors, insurance providers and industry experts;
incorporating GHG provisions in commercial agreements; and conducting regular reviews of the business risks with management. Although there are
considerable uncertainties, Linde believes that the business risk from potential regulations can be effectively managed through its commercial contracts.
Additionally, Linde does nat anticipate any material effects regarding its plant operations or business arising from potential physical risks of climate change.

Linde continuously seeks opportunities to optimize energy use and GHG footprint through research and development in customer applications and
rigorous operational energy efficiency, investment in renewable energy, and purchasing hydrogen as a chemical byproduct where feasible, Linde maintains
related performance improvement targets and reports progress against these targets regularly to business management and annually to Linde's Board of
Directors.

At the same time, Linde may benefit from business opportunities arising from governmental regulaticn of GHG and other emissions; uncertain costs of
energy and certain natural resources; the development of renewable energy alternatives; and new technologies that help extract natural gas, improve air
quality, increase energy efficiency and mitigate the impacts of climate change. T.inde continues to develop new applications that can lower emissions,
including GHG emissions, in Linde's processes and help customers lower energy consumption and increase preduct throughput. Stricter regulation of water
quality in emerging economies such as China provide a growing market for a number of gases, e.g., oxygen for wastewater treatment. Increased concern
about drought in areas such as California and Australia may create additional markets for carbon dioxide for desalinaticn. Renewable fuel standards in the
European Union and U.S. create a market for second-generation biofuels which use industrial gases such as oxygen, carbon dioxide, and hydrogen.

Costs Relating to the Protection of the Environment

Fnvironmental protaction costs in 2019 were not significant. Linde anticipates that future annual environmental pratection expenditures will be similar
to 2019, subject wo any significant changes in existing laws and regulations. Based
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on histarical results and current estimates, management does not believe that environmental expenditures will have a material adverse effect on the
consolidated financial position, the consolidated results of operations or cash flows in any given year.

Legal Proceedings

See Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements for infermation concerning legal proceedings.
Retirement Benefits
Pensions

The uet periodic benefit cast for the U.S. and international pension plans was $107 millien in 2619, $24 million in 2018 and $58 million in 2017. The
net periodic pension cost far 2019 includes pension settlement charges of $97 million related to lump sum payments, which were triggered by either a change
in control provision or merger—related divestitures and a net curtailment charge of $8 million for termination benefits, primarily in cennection with a defined
benefit pension plan freeze, Setdement charges for 2018 and 2017 were $14 million and 52 million, respectively.

The funded status (pension benefit obligation ("PBO") less the fair value of plan assets) for the U.S. plans was a deficit of $504 million as of
December 31, 2019 and a deficit of $356 million at December 31, 2018. The funded status for international plans was a deficit of $1,801 million as of
December 31, 2019 and a deficit of $1,241 million at December 31, 2018. In the U.S, the benefit from the actual return on assets more than offset the impacts
of unfavorable liability experience, resulting from the law discount rate environment. For the international plans, the unfavorable impact of lower discount
rates autweighed favorable plan asset experience.

Global pensisn contributinns were $94 million in 2618, $87 million in 2048 and $19 million in 2017. At a minimum, Linde contributes to its pension
plans to comply with local regulatory requirements (e.g., ERISA in the United States). Discretionary contributions in excess of the local minimum
requirements are made based on many factors, including long-term projections of the plans’ funded status, the economic environment, potential risk of
overfunding, pension insurance costs and aliernative uses of cash. Changes te these factors can impact the timing of discretionary contributions from year to
year. Estimated required contributions for 2020 are currenty expected to be in the range of $50 miliion to $80 million.

Linde assumes expected returns on plan assets for 2020 of 7.00% and 5.31% for the U.S. and international plans, respectively, which are consistent with
the long-term expected retutms on its investment portfolios.

Excluding the impact of any settlements, 2020 consolidated pension expense is expected to be a benefit of approximately $45 million. The benefit
derived from the expected return on assets assumption for Linde's most signilicant plans is anticipated ro more than offset the expense from service and
interest cost accruals and the amortization of deferred losses.

Refer 1o the Critical Accounting Policies section and Note 18 to the consalidated financial statements for a more detailed discussion of the company’s
retirement benefits, including a description of the various retirement plans and the assumptions used in the calculation of net periodic benefit cost and funded
status.

Insurance

Linde purchases insurance to limit a variety of property and casualty risks, including those related to property, business interruption, third-party liability
and workers’ compensation. Currently, the company self retains up tv $10 million per occurrence for vehicle liability in the United States, $5 million per
occurrence for workers' compensation and general liability. In addition, the company self retains risk up to $5 million at its various properties worldwide for
property damage resulting from fire, Qood and other perils effecting its properties along with a separate 35 million deductible on all business interruption
resulting from a major peril loss. To mitigate its aggregate loss potential above these refentions, the company purchases catastrophic insurance coverage from
highly rated insurance compantes. The company does not currently aperate or participate in any captive insurance companies or other non-traditonal risk
ransfer alternatives.

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the company had recorded a total of $66 millipn and $60 million, respectively, representing an estimaie of the retained
liability for the ultimate cost of claims incurred and vnpaid as of the balance sheet dates. The estimated liability is established using statistical analysis and is
based upon historical experience, actuarial assurnptions and professional judgment. These estimates are subject ta the effecis of wends in loss severity and
frequency and are subject 1o a significant degree of inherent variability, If actual claims differ from the company’s estimates, they will be adjusted at that time
and financial results could be impacted.

Linde recognizes estimated insurance proceeds relating to damages at the time of Loss anly to the extent of incurred losses. Any insurance recoveries for
business interruption and for property damages in excess of the net book value of the property are recognized only when realized or pending payments
confirmed by its insurance companies.
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SEGMENT DISCUSSION

Effective October 31, 2018, Praxair and Linde AG completed the previcusly announced merger, resulting in the formation of Linde plc {see Note 1
to the consolidated financial statements for additional information on the merger). As a result of the merger and effective with the lifting of the hold separate
order effective an March 1, 2019, new operating segments were created which are used by the company's Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM") to
allocate company resources and assess performance. Linde's operations consist of two major product lines: industrial gases and engineering. As further
described in the following paragraph, Linde’s industrial gases operations are managed on a geographic basis, which represents three of the company's new
reportable segments - Americas, EMEA (Europe/Middle East/Africa), and APAC (Asia’South Pacific); a fourth reportable segment which represents the
company's Engineering business, designs and manufactures equipment for air separation and other industrial gas applications specifically for end customers
and is managed on a worldwide basis operating in all geographic segments. Other consists of corporate costs and a few smaller businesses which individually
do not meet the quantitative thresholds for separate presentation.

The industrial gases product line centers cn the manufacturing and distribution of atmospheric gases {oxygen, nitrogen, argon, rare gases) and
process gases (carbon dicxide, helinm, hydrogen, elecironic gases, specialty gases, acetylene). Many of these products are co-products of the same
manufacturing precess. Linde manufactures and disuibutes nearly all of its products and manages its customer relationships on a regional basis. Linde's
industrial gases are distributed to various end-markets within a regional segment through one of three basic distribution methods: on-site or tonnage; merchant
or bulk; and packaged or cylinder gases. The distribution methods are generally integrated in order to best meet the customer’s needs and very few of its
products can be economically transporied outside of a region. Therefore, the distribution eccnomics are specific to the various geographies in which the
company operates and are consistent with how management assesses performance.

The company’s measure of profivloss for segment reporting purposes remains unchanged - Segment operating profit. Segment operating profit is
defined as operating profit excluding purchase accounting impacts of the Linde AG merger, intercompany royalties, and items not indicative of ongoing
business trends. This is the manner in which the company’s CODM assesses performance and allocates resources. For a description of Linde's previous
operating segments, refer to Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements of Linde's 2018 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The table below presents sales and operating profit information about reportable segments and Other for the year ended December 31, 2019, 2018
and 2017. The year ended December 31, 2019 reflects the results of both Praxair and Linde AG for the entire year. The year ended December 31, 2018
reflects the results of Praxair for the entire year and the results of Linde AG for the period beginning after October 31, 2018 (the merger date), including the
tmpacts of purchase accounting (See Notes 1, 3 and 4 to the consolidated financial statements). The historical periods prior to 2018 reflect the results of
Praxair. Prior periads presented have been recast to be consistent with the new segment structure.:
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Reported Variance
(Millions of dollars)
Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017 2019 vs, 2018 2018 vs. 2017
Sales
Americas 5 10,993 % 8,017 % 7,204 37% 11%
EMEA 6,643 2,644 1,520 151% 74%
APAC 5,839 2,446 1,571 139% 56%
Engineering 2,799 459 N/A N/M N/A
Other 1,954 1,270 1,063 54% 19%
3 23228 % 14,836 % 11,358 90% 31%
Operating Profit
Americas 5 2578 § 2,053 % 1,854 26% 11%
EMEA 1,367 481 317 184% 52%
APAC 1,198 465 329 158% 41%
Engineering 390 14 N/A N/M N/A
Other (245) 37 (4) NM N/M
Segment operating profit 5,288 2,976 2,496 78% 19%
Reconciliation to reported operating Profit :
Cost reduction programs and other charges
{Note 5) (567} (309) (52}
Net gain on sale of businesses 164 3,294 N/A
Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (1,952) (714) N/A
Total operating profit $ 2933 § 5247 % 2,444
Pro Forma Variance
{Dollar antounts in millions)
Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2019 vs. 2018
Sales
Americas $ 10,989 8§ 10,539 49
EMEA 6,643 6,991 G)%
APAC 5779 5,950 (3)%
Engineering 2,789 2,792 —%
Qther 1,953 1,812 8%
$ 28,163 S 28,084 — %
Operating Profit
Americas $ 2577 S 2,433 6%
EMEA 1,367 1,344 2%
APAC 1,184 1,029 15%
Engineering 390 285 37%
Other (246) (295) (17)%
Segment operating profit 3 5272 § 4,796 10 %
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Americas

Variance
{Dollar amounts in miilions)
Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017 2019 vs. 2018 2018 vs. 2017
Reported sales 10,993 8017 § 7,204 37% 11%
Pro forma sales 10,989 10,539 N/A 4% N/A
Reported operating profit 2,578 2,053 $ 1,854 26% 11%
As a percent of sales 23.5% 25.6% 25.7%
Pro forma operating profit 2,577 2,433 N/A 6% N/A
As a percent of sales 23.5% 23.1% N/A
2019 vs, 2018 2018 vs. 2017
% Change % Change
Reported Pro forma Reported
Factors Contributing to Changes - Sales
Volume/Equipment —% 1% 3%
Price/Mix 3% 3% 2%
Cost pass-through (1)% (1)% 1%
Currency (2)% {2)% (2)%
Acquisitions/Divestitures 37 % 3% 7%
37 % 4% 11%

The Americas segment includes Linde’s industrial gases operations in approximasely 20 countries including the United States, Canada, Mexico and Brazil.
Sales

Reported sales for the Americas segment for 2019 increased $2,976 million, or 37%6, versus 2018, primarily due to the merger. On a pro forma basis, sales
increased $450 million, or 4%, versus 2018.

On a reported basis, sales increased 37% in 2019 primarily due to the merger. Higher pricing contributed 3% to sales. Unfavorable currency translaticn
decreased sales by 2%, primarily driven by the weakening of the Rrazilian real, Mexican peso and Canadian dollar against the U.S. Dollar, T.ower cost past-
through, primarily natural gas, decreased sales by 1% with minimal impact on operating profit.

On a pro forma basis, volume growth contributed 1% to sales in 2019 as compared to 2018 primarily driven by hase volume growth in the United Stares and
Latin America and project start ups in the United States Gulf Coast. Higher pricing contributed 3% to sales. Currency translation decreased sales by 2%,
Acquisitions and divestitures increased sales by 3%, related primarily to acquisitions in North America. Lower cost pass-throngh decreased sales by 1% with
minimal impact on cperating profit.

Reported sales for 2018 increased $813 million, or 11%, versus 2017 primarily due to the merger which contributed 7% to sales. Underlying sales growth was
4%, driven by higher volumes and higher price. Unfavorable currency impacts decreased sales by 2%. Higher cost pass-through increased sales by 1% with
minimal impact on cperating profit,

Operating Profit

Reported operating profit for the Americas segment for 2019 increased $525 million, or 26% from 2018, due primarily to the merger. On a pro forma basis,
operating profit increased $144 million, or 6%, for 2019 as compared to 2018.

On a reparted basis, operating profit increased 26% in 2019 largely driven by the merger and higher pricing, partially offset by unfavorable currency
translation impacts ot 2%.
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Pro forma operating profit in the Americas segment increased $144 million for 2018, or 6%, versus the 2018 peripd. Operating growth from higher volumes,
higher price and acquisitions was partially offset by unfavorable currency translation impacts of 2% in the year. The 2018 year also included net gains on

asset disposals of approximately $20 million.

Reported operating profit for 2018 increased $199 million, or 11%, driven primarily by the merger, higher volumes and higher price partially offset by
unfavorable currency translation. The 2018 period also included net gains on asset disposals of $13 million.

EMEA

(Dolfar amounts fn millions)
Year Ended December 31,

Reported sales
Pro forma sales

Reported operating profi
As a percent of sales

Pro forma operating profir
As a percent of sales

Factors Contributing to Changes

Violume

Price/Mix

Cost pass-through
Currency
Acquisitions/Divestitares

Variance
2018 2017 2019 vs. 2018 2018 vs, 2017
6,643 % 2,644 $ 1,520 151 % 74%
6,043 § £,9M N/A (5)% N/A
1,367 b3 431 $ 317 1B4 % 52%
20.6% 18.2% 20.9%
1,367 b 1,344 N/A 2% NiA
20.6% 19.2% N/A
2019 vs. 2018 2018 vs, 2017
% Change % Change
Reported Pra forma Reported
(1)% (1)% 1%
1% 2% 2%
(1% % 2%
(1% (6% 4%
153 % —% 65%
151 % (5)% 74%

The EMEA segment includes Linde's industrial gases operations in approximately 45 European, Middle Eastern and African countries including Germany,
France, Sweden, the Republic of South Africa, and the United Kingdom.

Sales

On a reported basis, EMEA segment sales increased by $3,999 million, or 151%, in 2019 as compared to 2018, primarily due to the merger, net of related
divestitures, On a pro forma basis, sales decreased $348 million, or 5%, in 2019 versus 2018.

On a reported basis, sales increased 151% ip 2019 driven primarily by the net impact of the merger wish Linde AG and the related divestiture of Praxair's
Eurapean gases business in the fourth guarter of 2018. Excluding this net impact, sales decreased 2%. Volumes decreased 1% driven by weaker industrial
production. Higher price contributed 1% to sales. Unfavorable currency wanslation and cost pass-through each decreased sales by 1%.

On a pro forma basis, sales decreased 5% in 2019, primarily driven by unfavorable currency translation due to the weakening of the Euro, British pound and
South African rand against the U.S. Dollar which decreased sales by 6% . Higher price increased sales by 2%. Volumes decreased 1% driven by weaker

industrial production.

Reported sales increased $1,124 million, or 74%, in 2018 driven primarily by the merger, net of related divestitures. Excluding the impact of the merger and
related divestitures, sales increase 9% from 2017, Higher cost pass-through
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increased sales by 2% with minimal impact on operating profit. Favorable currency translation increased sales by 4%. Higher volumes and higher price
increased sales by 1% and 2%, respectively.

Operating Profit

On a reported basis, operating profit for the EMEA segment increased by $886 million, or 184%, in 2019 as compared to 2018. On a pro forma basis,
operating profit increased $23 million, or 2%, in 2019 versus the respective 2018 period.

On a reported basis, operating profit increased 184% in 2019, driven primarily by the net impact of the merger with Linde AG and the related divestiture of
Praxair's European gases business in the fourth guarter of 2018.

On a pro forma basis, operating profit increased 2% in 2019 as compared 1o 2018 as higher pricing and the impact of cost reduction acticns more than offset
the impacts of unfavorable currency translation and cost inftaticn.

Reported operating profit increased $164 million, or 52%, in 2018 driven primarily by the merger, net of related divestitures. Favorable currency translation
increased operating profit by 5%. Excluding the impact of the merger and related divestitures and currency, operating profit increased driven by higher price
and higher volumes, partially offset by cost inflation.

APAC
Variance
(Dollar amounts in miltions)
Year Ended Decermber 31, 2019 2018 2017 2019 vs, 2018 2018 vs. 2017
Reported sales $ 5839 % 2445 & 1,571 139 % 56%
Pro forma sales b 5,779 % 5,950 N/A {3% N/A
Reported operating profit % 1,198 % 465 % 329 158 % 41%
As a percent of sales 20.5% 19.0%
Pro forma operating profit 5 1,184 % 1,029 N/A 15% N/A
As a percent of sales 20.5% 17.3% N/A
2019 vs. 2018 2018 va. 2017
% Change % Change
Reported Pro forma Reported

Factors Contributing to Changes
Volume 4% 1% 9%
Price/Mix 2% 2% 2%
Caost pass-through — % (1)% 1%
Currency (3)% (4)% 1%
Acquisitions/Divestitures 136 % (1)% 43%

139% (3% 56%

The APAC segment includes Linde's industrial gases operations in approximately 20 Asian and South Pacific countries and regions including China,
Aupstralia, India, South Korea and Taiwan.

Sales

On a reported basis, APAC segment sales increased by $3,393 miilion, or 139%, in 2019 as compared to 2018, primarily due to the merger. On a pro forma
basis, sales decreased $171 million, or 3%, in 2019 versus 2018,
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On a reported basis, sales increased 139% in 2019 driven by the merger. Unfavorable cwrency translaton decreased sales by 3%, driven primarily by the
weakening of the Chinese yuan, Korean won and Indian rupee against the U.S. Dollar. Excluding the impacts of the merger and currency, sales increased by
5% driven by higher base volumes, new project start ups and higher price.

On a pro forma basis, sales decreased 3% in 2019. Higher pricing increased sales by 2%. Higher volumes contributed 1% to sales driven by higher base
volumes and new project start-ups. Currency translation decreased sales by 4%, Lower cost pass-through decreased sakes by 19 with minimal impact en
operating profit. Acquisitions and divestitures decreased sales by 1%.

Reported sales in 2018 increased $875 million, or 56%, versus 2017 driven primarily by the merger which contributed 43% to sales. Cost pass-thraugh,
primatily energy, and currency impacts each increased sales by 1%. Valume growth of 9% was primarily atiributable to base volume growth in China, Korea
and [ndia and new project start-ups in China. Higher price increased sales by 2% driven by China.

Operating Profit

On a reparted basis, aperating profit for the APAC segment increased by $733 million, or 158%, in 2013 as compared ta 2018, due primarily to the merger.
On a pro forma basis, operaring profit increased $155 million, or 15%, in 2018 versus the respective 2018 period.

On a reported basis, operating profit increased 158% in 2019, driven by the net impact of the merger with Linde AG. Unfavorable currency wranslation
decreased operating profit by 3% for the year. Excluding the merger and currency impacts, operating profit growth was driven by higher price and cost
reducion programs.

On a pro forma basis, operating profit increased 15% in 2019 as compared to 2018, Unfavorable currency translation decreased operating profit by 5% in the
year. Excluding currency impacts, operating growth was driven by higher price and cost reducticn programs.

Reported operating profit in 2018 increased $136 millien, or 41%, versus 2017 driven primarily by the merger, higher volumes and price. Operating profit for
2018 included a $22 million asset impairment charge, offset by a hitigation settiement gain,
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Engineering

(Dollar amountis in milfions}

Variance

Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017 2019 vs. 2018 2018 vs. 2017
Reported sales 2,799 % 459 N/A 510% 100%
Pro forma sales 2799 % 2,792 N/A —% N/A
Reported operating profit 05 14 N/A N/M 100%
As a percent of sales 13.9% 3.1%
Pro forma operating profit 390 5 285 N/A 37% N/A
As a percent of sales 13.9% 1¢.2% N/A
2019 vs. 2018 2018 vs. 2017
% Change % Change
Reported Pro forma Repotted
Factors Contributing to Changes
Volume/Price 8 % 4% —%
Currency (2)% (4)% —%
Acquisitions/Divestitures 504 % —% 100%
510 % —% 100%

Sales

Reported Engineering segment sales increased $2,340 million, or 510%, in 2019 as compared 1o the respective 2018 peried. On a pro forma basis, segment
sales increased $7 million in 2019 as compared to the respective 2018 period.

On a reported basis, 2015 sales increased 510% in year primarily refated to the merger of the Linde Engineering business. Excluding the impact of the merger,
volume growth of 8% was partiatly offset by unfavorable currency translation of 226,

On a pro forma basis, 2019 sales were flat versus 2018 as volume growth of 4% was offset by unfavorable currency translation of 4%.
Reparted sales far 2018 increased 100% wersus 2017 due to the merger of the Linde Engineering business.
Operating profit

Reported Engineering segment operating profit increased $376 million, or 2,686%, in 2019 versus 2018. On a pro forma basis, operating profit increased
$105 million, or 37%, in 2019 versus 2018.

On a reported basis, operating profit increased in 2019 related primarily to the merger of the Linde Engineering business.

On a pro forma basts, operating profit increased 37% for the year. Unfavorable currency translation decreased operating profit by 4% in 2019. Excluding the
impact of currency, operating profit increased due to timing of project completion, favorable costs and procurement savings.

Reported aperating profit for 2018 increased 100% versus 2017 due to the merger of the Linde Engineering business.
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Other
Variance
{Dollar amounits in miilions)
Year Ended December 34, 2019 2018 7 2019 vs. 2018 2018 vs. 2017
Reported sales $ 1,954 $ 1,270 3 1,063 54 % 19%
Pro forma sales $ 1,953 $ 1,812 N/A By N/A
Reported operating profit $ 245} 3 [Er) I (&) (562)% 825%
As a percent of sales {12.5)% (2.9)%
Pro forma aperating profit $ {246} 3 {295} N/A 17 % N/A
As a percent of sales {12.6)% {16.3)% N/A
2019 vs. 2018 2018 vs, 2017
% Change % Change
Repocted Pro larma Reparted
Factors Contributing 1o Changes
Volume/Price 9% 12% 8%
Currency (2)% (4)% 2%
Acquisitions/Divestitures 47 % —% 9%
54 % 8% 19%

Other consists of corporate costs and a few smaller businesses including: Surface Teclmologies, GIST, global helium wholesale, and Electronic Materials:
which individually do not meet the quantitative thresholds for separate presentatios.

Sales
Reported sales for Other increased $684 million, or 54%, for the 2015 year versus the respective 2018 period, primarily due to the merger. On a pro forma
basis, sales increased $141 million, or 8%, for 2019 versus the respective 2018 periods.

On a reported basis, sales increased 54% for the year, primarily due to the merger which increased sales by 47%. Higher volumes and price increased sales by
9% in the year, primarily driven by higher surface technologies velumes to the aerospace and manufacturing end-markets and higher price. Currency
transiation decreased sales by 2% for the year.

Gn a pra forma basis, sales increased 8% for 2019. Volume and price growth increased sales by 12%, driven by helium and surface techinologies. Currency
translation decreased sales by 4%.

Reported sales for 2018 increased $207 million, or 19%, versus 2017 driven primarily by the merger. Excluding the impact of the merger, underlying sales
increased driven by surface technologies volumes to the aerospace and manufacturing end-markets and higher price.

Operating profit
Reported operating profit in Gther decreased $208 million in 2019 versus the respective 2018 periods, due primarily to the merger. On a pro forma basis,
operating loss improved 549 million, or 17%, when comparing 2019 to the 2018 period.

On a reparted basis, operating profit decreased $208 million primarily relaied to the merger as operating profit increases from higher volumes and price were
more than offset by the merger of 1.inde AG corporate.

On a pro forma basis, operating profit improved $49 million in the year. Highet volumes, helium pricing and cost reduction actions improved operating profit
which was partially offset by higher helium sourcing cosis.
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Reported operating profit for 2018 decreased $33 million versus 2017 primarily related to the merger as operating profit increases from higher volumes and
price were mote than offset by the merger of Linde AG corporate.
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Currency

The results of Linde’s non-U.S. operations are translated to the company’s reparting currency, the U.S. doliar, from the functional currencies used in the
countries in which the company operates. For most foreign operations, Linde uses the local currency as its functional carrency. There is inherent variability
and unpredictabilify in the relationship of these functional currencies 1o the U.S. dollar and such currency movements may materially impact Linde’s results
of operations in any given period.

To help undesstand the reported results, the following is a summary of the significant currencies underlying Linde’s consolidated resuls and the
exchange rates used ta translate the financial statements {rates of exchange expressed in units of local currency per U.S. dollar):

Percent of Statements of Income Balance Sheets
2019 Average Year Ended Decerber 31, December 31,
Consolidated
Currency Sales 2019 2018 2017 2019 2018
Euro 20% 0.89 0.85 0.89 0.89 0.87
Chinese yuan 7% 6.90 6,60 6.76 6.96 6.88
British pound 6% 0.78 0.75 0.78 0.75 0.78
Australian dollar 4% 1.44 134 N/A 1.42 142
Braziltan real 4% 3.94 3.63 3.19 4.03 3.87
Korean won 3% 1,165 1,100 1,131 1,156 1,111
Canadian dollar 3% 1.33 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.36
Mexican peso 2% 19.24 i9.20 18.86 18.93 19.65
Taiwan doilar 2% 30.90 30.13 30.43 29.99 30.55
Indian rupee 2% 70.40 68.00 65.00 71.38 689.77
South African rand 1% 14.43 13.16 N/A 14.00 1435
Swedish kroner 1% 9.45 2.68 8.53 9.37 8.85
Thailand bhat 1% 31.04 32.30 3391 29.71 32.33
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LIQUIDITY, CAPITAL RESOURCES AND OTHER FINANCIAL DATA

(Miilions of dollars)
Year Faded Docember 31,

Net Cash Provided by (Used for)
Operating Activities
Income from continuing operations {including noncontrolling interests)
Non-cash charges (credits):
Add: Cost reduction programs and other charges, net of payments (a)
Add: Amortization of merger-related inventory step-up
Less: Net gain on sale of businesses, net of tax (b)
Add: Tax Act income tax charge, net
Add: Depreciation and amortization
Add (Less): Deferred income taxes, excluding Tax Act
Add {Less): non-cash charges and other
Income from continuing operations adjusted for nan-cash charges and other
Less: Pension contributions
Add (Less). Working capital
Add (Less): Other
Net cash provided by operating activities
Investing Activities
Capital expenditures
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Divestitures and asset sales, net of cash divested
Cash acquired in merger transaction
Net cash provided by {used for) investing activities
Financing Activities
Debt increases (decreases) — net
Issuances (purchases) of ordinary shares —net
Cash dividends — Linde plc shareholders
Noncontrolling interest transactions and other
Net cash (used) for financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Cash and cash equivalents, end-of-period

(a) See Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

(b} See Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

2019 2018 2017
$ 2272 % 4288 % 1,308
(236) 40 26
12 368 —
(108} (2,923) —
— (61) 304
4,675 1,830 1,184
(303) (187) 136
(32) 237 102
6,280 3,592 3,150
(94) (87) 19
(160) 202 (158)
93 (53) 68
$ 6119 3§ 3,654 § 3,041
$ (3,682) $§ (1,883) % (1,311)
(225) (25) (33)
5,096 5,908 30
— 1,363 —
$ 1,189 % 5363 % (L314)
$ (1,260} § (2,908) % 771)
(2,586) (522) 108
(1,891} (1,166) (501)
(3,260) (402) 92)
$ (8,997) $ (4,958) § (1,656)
$ 77y $ 60y 3 22
$ 2,700 § 4466 % 617

Cash decreased $1,766 million in 2019 versus 2018. The primary scurces of cash in 2019 were cash flows from eperations of $6,115 million and
proceeds from divestitures and asset sales of $5,096 million. The primary uses of cash included capital expenditures of $3,682 millinn, transactions with
noncontrolling interests of $3,260 mitlion, net purchases of ordinary shares of $2,586 million, cash dividends to shareholders of $1,891 million and net debt
repayments of $1,260 million. Noncontrolling interest wransactions and other of $3,260 million included a payment of approximately $3.2 billion related to

the cash-merger squeeze-out of the 8% of Linde AG shares completed on April 8, 2019 (see Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements).
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Cash Fiows From Operations

Cash Flows From Operations
{(Millions of Dollars)

S6.119

52,695 52,789

2019

2019 compared with 2018

Cash flows from opetations was $6,119 million, or 22% of sales, an increase of $2,465 million from $3,654 million, or 25% of sales in 2018. The
increase was primarily aitributable 1o the merger which drove higher net income adjusted for non-cash charges, partially offset by higher working capital
requirements and higher merger and synergy related cash cutflows. 2019 included merger and synergy related cash outflows of $803 million, of which $567
million is included within "Net income (including noncenwrolling interests)" and $236 million is included within "Cost reduction programs and other charges,
net of payments".

2018 compared with 2017

Cash flows from operations was $3,654 million, or 25% of sales, an increase of $613 million from $3,041 million, or 27% of sales in 2017, The
increase was primarily attributable to the merger, higher net income adjusted for non-cash charges and favorable working capital requirements, partially offset
by unfaverable changes in other long-term assets and liabilities and higher pension contributions.
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Investing
Capital Expenditures
{MiHions of Dollars)
$3 682
S1,883
015 016 2017 2018 2019
2019 compared with 2018

Net cash provided by investing activities of $1,189 million decreased $4,174 million from 2018 primarily driven by lower proceeds trom merger-related
divestitures, cash acquired in the merger and higher capital expenditures.

Capital expenditures in 2019 were $3,682 million, an increase of $1,799 million from 2018, driven primarily by the merger. Capital expenditures during
2019 related primarily to investments in new plant and production equipment for growth. Approximately 44% of the capital expenditures were in the
Americas segment with 33% in the APAC segment and the rest primarily in the EMEA segment.

Acquisition expenditures in 2019 were $225 million, an increase of $200 million from 2018 and related primarily to acquisitions in the Americas.

Divestitures and asset sales in 2019 totaled $5,096 million primarily driven by proceeds from merger-related divestitures including $3.4 billion from the
sale of Linde AG's Americas business, $1.2 billion from the sale of Linde Keorea, and approximately $200 miltion each from the sale of the legacy Praxair and
legacy Linde India selected assets {(see Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements). 2018 divestiture and asset sale cash flows included $5.6 billion from
the sale of Praxair's European business and $214 million related to the sale of Praxair's Italian joint venture {see Note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements).

2018 compared with 2(17

Net cash provided by investing activities of $5,363 million increased $6,677 million from 2017 primarily driven by proceeds from the divestiture of
Praxair's European business and cash acquired in the merger, partially offset by higher capital expenditures.

Capital expenditires in 2018 were $1,883 million, an increase of $572 million from 2017, driven primarily by the merger with Linde AG. Capital
expenditures during 2019 related primarily to investments in new plant and production equipment for growth and density.

Acquisition expenditures in 2018 were $25 million, a decrease of $8 million from 2017, Additionally, $1,363 million of cash was acquired in the merger
(see Nate 3 to the consolidated financial statements).

Divestitures and asset sales in 2018 totaled $5,908 million primarily driven by preceeds from merger-related divestitures inctuding $5.6 billian from the
sale of Praxair’s European business and $2 14 million related to the sale of Praxair's Italian joint venture (see Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements).
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Financing

Linde’s financing strategy is to secure long-term committed funding by issuing public notes and debentures and commercial paper backed by a long-
term bank credit agreement. Linde’s international operations are funded through a combination of local borrowing and intercompany funding to minimize the
total cost of funds and to manage and centralize currency exchange exposures. As deemed necessary, Linde manages its exposure to interest-rate changes
through the ose of financiat derivatives (see Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements and Itern 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About
Market Risk).

Cash used for financing activities was $8,987 miilion in 2019 compared o 34,998 million ia 2018. The primary financing uses of cash were for
transactions with noncontrolling interests, net debt repayments, cash dividends and net purchases of Linde osdinary shares. Noncontrolling intervest
wransactions and other payments of $3,260 million increased $2,858 million from 2018 driven by a payment of approximately $3.2 billion for the cash-merger
squeeze-out of the 8% of Linde AG shares completed on April 8, 2019 (see Note 16 to the censolidated financial statements). Amonnts paid in 2018 include
$315 million for the purchase of the noncontrolling interest in Praxair's ltalian joint venture in a merger-refated ransaction (see Note 4 to the consolidated
financial statermments) and $25 million in interest celated to the early redemption of bands. Cash dividends of $1,891 million increased $725 million from 2018
driven primarily by higher shares ontstanding after the merger and a 6% increase in dividends per share from $3.30 te $3.50. Net purchases of ordinary shares
were $2,586 million in 2019 versus $522 millicn in 2018 driven by increased share repurchases. The cash used tor debt repayments-net of $1,2G0 million
decreased $1,648 million from $2,908 million during 2018 while cash decreased $1,766 million. Net debt {calculated as total debt less cash and cash
equivalents) increased $426 million primarily due to lower cash balances partially offset by debt repayments.

The company believes that it has sufficient operating flexibility, cash reserves, and funding sources to maintain adequate amounts of liquidity to meet
its business needs around the world. At December 31, 2019, Linde’s credit ratings as reported by Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s were A-1 and P-I for short-
term debt, respectively, and & and A2 for long-term debt, respectively.

Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements includes information with respect to the company’s debt repayments in 2019, current debt position,
debt covenants and the available credit facilities; and Note 14 includes information relating to derivative financial instruments. Linde's credit facilities are
with major financial institutions and are non-cancelable until maturity. Therefore, the company believes the risk of the financial institutions being unable to
make required leans under the credit facilities, if requested, to be low. Linde’s major bank credit and long-term debt agreements contain standard covenants.
The company was in compliance with these covenanis at December 31, 2019 and expects to remain in compliance for the foreseeable future.

Linde’s tota) net debt outstanding at December 31, 2019 was $11,256 million, $426 millicn higher than $10,830 million at December 31, 2018. The
December 31, 2019 net debt balance includes $12,752 million in public securities, $1,204 million representing primarily worldwide bank borrowings, net of
$2,760 million of cash. Linde’s global effective barrowing rate was approximately 2% for 2019,

In February 2019, Linde repaid $500 million of 1.90% rate notes that became due; in May 2019 Linde repaid $150 miflion of variable rate notes that
hecame due; in June 2019 Linde repaid €500 million of 1.75% nates that due and AUD10C million of variable rate notes that became due; in August 2019
Linde repaid $200 million of variable rate notes that became due.

On March 26, 2018 the company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into an unsecured revolving credit agreement {"the Credit Agreement”) with a
syndicate of banking institutions, which became effective on March 29, 2019, The Credit Agreement provides for total commitments of $5.0 billion, which
may be increased vp to $6.5 billion, subject to receipt of additional commiaments and satisfaction of customary conditions. There are no financial
maintenance covenants contained within the Credit Agreement. The revolving credit facility expires on March 26, 2024 with the option to request two one-
year extensions of the expiration date. In connection with the effectiveness of the Credit Agreement, Praxair and Linde AG terminated their respective
existing revolving credit facilities. No barrowings were outstanding under the Credit Agreement as of December 31, 2019,

On September 3, 2019, Linde and the company’s subsidiaries Praxair and Linde AG enterad into a series of parent and subsidiary guarantees related to
currently putstanding notes issued by Praxair and Linde AG as well as the 35 billion Credit Agreement.

On December 10, 2018, the company announced a $1.0 biifion share repurchase program, which was completed in February of 26§9. On January 22,
2019, the company’s board of directors approved the additional repurchase of $6.9 billion of its ordinary shares, of which $2.3 billien had been repurchased
through December 31, 2019. For additional information
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related to the share repurchase programs, see Part II Item 5. Market for Regisirant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The folkowing table sets forth Linde’s material contract obligatiens and other commercial commitments as of December 31, 2019;

(Millians of dollars) Due or expiring by December 31,

2020 201 2022 2023 2024 Thereafter Total

Long-term debt obligations:
Debt and capitalized lease

maturities (Note 13) 3 1,531 § 1,855 % 2,330 % 1,798 § 983 § 3,727 8 12,224
Contractual interest 297 237 175 146 98 585 1,538
Operating leases (Note 6) 275 208 163 110 75 251 1,082
Retirement obligations 101 36 37 37 36 183 430
Unconditional purchase obligations 833 769 718 660 650 2,877 6,507
Construction commitments 2,234 871 291 25 —_ —_ 3,421

Total Contractual Obligations 3 5271 % 3976 $ 3,714 % 2,776 % 1,842 § 7,623 % 25,202

Contractual interest on long-term debt of $1,538 million represents interest the company is contracted to pay on outstanding long-term debt, current
portion of long-term debt and capital lease obligations, calculated on a basis consistent with planned debt maturities, excluding the interest impact of interest
rate swaps. At December 31, 2019, Linde had fixed-rate debt of $10,799 millicn and floating-rate deht of $3,157 million. The rate assumed for floating-rate
debt was the rate in effect at December 31, 2019.

Retirement ohligations of $430 million include estimates of pension plan contributions and expected future benefit payments for unfunded pension and
OPEB plans. Pension plan contributions are forecasted for 2020 only. For purposes of the table, $60 million of estimated contributions have been included for
2020. Expected future unfunded pension and OPEB benefit payments are forecasted only threugh 2029. Contribution and unfunded benefit payment estimates
are based upon current valuation assumptions. Estimates of pension contributiens after 2020 and unfunded benefit payments after 2029 are not included in the
table because the timing of their resolution cannct be estimated. Retirement obligations are more fully described in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Unconditional purchase abligations of $6,507 million represent contractual commitments under varicus long and short-term take-or-pay arrangements
with suppliers and are not included on Linde's balance sheet. These obligations are primarily minimum-purchase commitments for helium, electricity, natural
gas and feedstack used to produce atmospheric and process gases. A significant portion of these obligations is passed on to customers through similar take-or-
pay or cther contracrual arrangements. Purchase obligations that are not passed along to costomers through such contractual airangements are subject to
market conditions, but do not represent a material risk to Linde. Approximately $2,983 million of the purchase obligations relates to power and is intended to
secure the uninterrupted supply of electricity and feedstock to Linde’s plants to reliably satisfy customer product supply obligations, and extend through 2034.
Certain of the power contracts contain various cancellation provisions requiring supplier agreement, and many are subject to annual escalations based on local
inflation factors.

Construction commitments of $3,421 million represent outstanding commitments te complete authorized construction projects as of December 31,
2019. A significant portion of Linde’s capital spending is related to the construction of new production facilities to satisfy customer commitments which may
take a year or more to complete.

Liabilities for uncertain tax positions totaling $415 million, including interest and penalties, are not included in the table becanse the timing of their

resolution cannot be estimated, Tax liabilities for deemed repatriation of earnings of $261 million are payable over the next six years. See Note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements for disclosures surrounding the "Tax Act” and uncerrain income tax positions.
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

As discussed in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements, at December 31, 2019, Linde had undrawn outstanding letters of credit, bank
guarantees and surety bonds entered into in connection with normal business operations and they are not reasenably likely to have a material impact on
Linde’s consolidated financial condition, results of operaticns, or liquidity.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The policies discussed below are considered by management to be critical to understanding Linde’s financial statements and acconipanying notes
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“U.S. GAAP"). Their application places significant importance on
management’s judgment as a resuit of the need to make estimates of matiers that are inherendy uncertain. Linde’s financial position, results of operations and
cash flows could be materially affected if actual results differ from estimates made. These policies are determined by management and have been reviewed by
Linde’s Audit Committee.

Purchase Accounting

Linde AG’s assets and liabilities were measured at fair value as of the date of the merger. Estumates of fair value epiresent manugement's best estimare
of assumptions about future events and uncertainties. In determining the fair value, Linde utilized various forms of the income, cost and market approaches
depending an the asset or lability being fair valued. The estimation of fair value includes significant judgments related to future cash Hows (sales, costs,
customer attrition rates, and contributory asser charges), discount rates, competitive trends, market comparables and others. Inputs were generally obrained
from historical data supplemented by current and anticipated market conditions and growth rates. The estimates and assumptions used to determine the
estimated fair value assigned to each class of assets and liabilities, as well as asset lives, have a material impact to the company's consalidated financial
statements, and are based upon assumptions believed 10 be reasonable but that are inherenty uncertain. As of the end of 2019, the valuation process to
determine the fair value of the acquired assets and liabilities is complete.

See Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements for additional information,

Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciable Lives of Property, Plant and Equipment

Linde’s net property, plant and equipment at December 31, 2019 was $29,064 million, representing 34% of the company’s consolidated total assers.
Depreciation expense for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $3,940 million, or 16% cf total operating costs. Management judgment is required in the
determination of the estimated depreciable lives that are used to calculate the annual depreciation expense and accumulated depreciation.

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated over the assets’ estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis for financial reporting
purposes. The estimated useful life represents the projected period of time that the asset will be productively employed by the company and is determined by
management based on many factors, including historical experience with simiiar assets, technelogical life cycles, geographic focations and contractual supply
relarionships with en-site customers. Circamstances and events relating to these assets, such as on-site conmract meodifications, are monitored to ensuce that
changes in asset lives or impairments (see “Asset impairments”) are identified and prospective depreciation expense or jmpairment expense is adjusted
accordingly. Linde’s largest asset values relate to cryogenic air-separation production plants with depreciable lives of principally 15 years.

Based upou the assets as of December 31, 2019, if depreciable lives of machinery and equipment, on average, were increased or decreased by one year,
annual depreciation expense would be decreased by approximately $471 million or increased by approximately $618 million, respectively.

See Notes 3,9 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements for additional information.
Amortization of Other Intangible Assets

Linde’s net other intangible assets at December 31, 2019 was 816,137 million, representing 19% of the campany's consalidated total assets, including
$1,870 million of indefinite-lived iutangibles. Amortization expense velated to finite-lived intangible assets for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $735
million, or 3% of total operating costs. Management judgment 1s required in the determination of the estimated amortizable lives that are used to calculate the
annual amortization expense and accumulated amortization. See Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Based upon the assets as of December 31, 2019, if amortization lives of other intangible assets, on average, were increased or decreased by one year,
annual amortization expense would be decreased by approximately $33 million or increased by approximately $36 millinn, respectively.

See Notes 3,9, and 12 to the consolidated financial statements for additional informatien.
Revenue Recognition
Long-Term Construction Contracts

The company designs and manufactures equipment for air separation and other varied gas production and processing plants manufactured specifically
for end customers. Revenue from sale of equipment is generally recognized over time as Linde has an enfarceable right wo payment for performance
completed to date and performance does not create an asset with alternative use. For contracts recognized over time, 1evenue is recognized primarily using a
cost incurred input method. Costs incurred to date relative to total estimated casts at completion are used to measure progress toward satisfying performance
obligations. Costs incurred include material, labor, and overhead costs and represent work centributing and proportionate to the transfer of conwol to the
customer. Contract modifications are typically accounted for as part of the existing contract and are recognized as a cumulative adjustment for the inception-
to-date effect of such change. We assess performance as progress icwards completion is achieved on specific prejects, earnings will be impacted by changes
to our forecast of revenues and costs cn these projects.

Pension Benefits

Pension benefits represent financial obligations that will be ultimately sertled in the future with employees whe meet eligibility requirements. Because
of the uncertainties involved in estimating the timing and amount of future payments, significant estimates are required to calculate pension expense and
liabilities related to the company’s plans. The company utilizes the services of independent actuaries, whose models are used to facilitate these calculations.

Several key assumptions are used in actuarial models to calculate pension expense and liability amounts recorded in the financial statements.
Management believes the three most significant variables in the models are the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets, the discount rate, and the
expected rate of compensation increase. The actuarial models also use assumptions for various other factars, including employee turnover, retirement age, and
mortality. Linde management believes the assumptions used in the actuarial calculatiens are reasonable, reflect the company’s experience and expectations for
the future and are within accepted practices in each of the respective geographic locations in which it operates. Actual results in any given year will often
differ from actuarial assumptions because of economic and other factors. The sensitivities te each of the key assumptions presented below exclude the impact
of special items that occurred during the year (e.g., divestiture-related settlement charges, settdement charges resulting from change in control provisions,
etc.).

The weightad-average expected long-term rates of return on pension plan assets were 7.27% for U.S. plans and 5.15% for international plans for the
year ended December 31, 2012 (7.62% and 5.13%, respectively at December 31, 2018). The expected long-term rate of return on the U.S. and international
plan assets is estimated based on the plans’ investment strategy and asset allocation, historical capital market performance and, 1o a lesser extent, historical
plan performance. A 0.50% change in these expected long-term rates of return, with all other variables held constant, would change Linde’s pension expense
by approximately $44 million.

The company has coasistently used a market-related value of assets rather than the fair value at the measurement date to determine annual pension
expense. The market-related value recognizes investment gains or losses over a five-year period. As a result, changes in the fair value of assets from year to
year are not immediately reflected in the company’s annual pension expense. Instead, annual pension expense in future periods will be impacted as deferred
investment gains or losses are recognized in the market-related value of assets over the five-year period. The consolidated market-related value of asseis was
$8,778 million, or $158 million lower than the fair value of assets of $8,936 million at December 31, 2019. These net deferred investunent losses of $158
million will be recegnized in the calculation of the market-related value of assets ratably over the next four years and will impact future pension expense.
Tuture acmal investment gains or losses will impact the market-related value of assets and, therefore, will impact future annual pension expense in a similar
Imanner.

Discount rates are used to calculate the present value of plan liabilities and pension costs and are determined annually by management. The company
measures the service and interest cost compenents of pension and OPEB expense for significant U.S. and international plans using the spat rate approach.
U.S. plans that do not use the spot rate approach continue to determine discount rates by using a cash flow matching model provided by the company's
independent acmaries. The madel includes a portfolio of corporate bonds graded Aa or better by at least half of the ratings agencies and matches the U.S.
plans' projected cash flows 1o the calculated spot rates. Discount rates for the remaining international plans are based on market yields for high-quality fixed
income investments representing the approximate duration of the pension liabilities on the measurement
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date, Refer to Note 18 10 the consolidated financial statements for a summary of the discount rates used to calculate plan liabilities and benefit costs, and to
the Retirement Benefits section of the Consolidated Resuits and Other Information section of this MD&A for a further discussion of 2019 benefit costs. A
0.50% reduction in discount rates, with all other variables held constant, would increase Linde’s pension expense by approximaiely $29 miltion whereas a
(.50% increase in discount rates would result in a decrease of $25 millien. A 0.50% reduction in discount rates would increase the PBO by approximately
$976 million wheseas a 0.50% increase in discount rates would hiave a favorable impact to the PBO of approximately $855 million.

The weighted-average expected rate of compensation increase was 3.25% for U.S. plans and 2.46% for international plans at December 31, 2019
(3.25% and 2.38%, respectively, al December 31, 2018). The estimated annual compensation increase is determined by management every year and is based
on historical tends and market indices. A 0.50% change in the expected rate of compensation increase, with all other variables held constant, would change
Linde’s pension expense by approximately $8 million and weuld impact the PBO by approximately $65 million,

Asset Impairments
Goodwill and Other Indefinite-Lived Intangibles Assets

At Decemlien 31, 2019, the company bad gnndwill of $27,019 million and $1,870 million of other indefinite-lived intangible assets. Goodwill
represents the aggregate of the excess consideration paid for acquired businesses over the fair value of the et assers acyuired. Indefinite- lived other
intangibles relate to the Linde name.

The company performs a goodwill impairment test annually or mare frequently if events or circumstances indicate that an impairment loss may have
been incurced, During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2019, the company changed the date of its annual goodwill impairment test from April 30 to October 1.
The change was made to more closely align the impairment testing date with the company’s planning process. The change in annual impairment testing date
did not delay, accelerate or avoid an impairment charge. The company has determined this change in the method of applying an accounting principle is
preferable.

The impairment tests performed during che second and fourth quarters of 2019 indicated no impairment. At December 31, 2619, Linde’s enterprise
value was approximately $125 billien (owtstanding shares muldplied by the year-end steck price plus net debt, and without any conirol premium} while its
total capiral was approximately $63 billion.

The impairment test allows an entity te first assess qualitatve factors to determine it it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is
less than carrying value. If it is determined that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than carrying value then the company
will estimate and compare the fair value of its reporting units t their carrying value, including goodwill. Reporting units are determined based on one level
below the operating segment level. In estimating the fair value of each reporting unit, management applied a multiple of earnings front a peer group ta the
company’s forecasted earnings for the year ending December 31, 2019, The peer group is comprised of comparable ensities with similar operations and
economic characteristics.

Such analysis requires the use of certain market assumptions and discount factors, which are subjective in nature. As applicable, estimated values can
be affected by many factors beyond the company's control such as business and economic wends, government regulation, and technological changes.
Management believes that the guantitative and qualitative facters used to perform its annual goodwill impairmens assessment are appropriate and reasonahle.
Although the 2019 assessment indicated that it is mere likely than not that the fair value of each reporung unit exceeded uts carrying value, changes in
circumstances or conditions affecting this analysis could have a significant impact on the fair value determination, which could then result in a material
impairment charge to the company's results of operations. Reporting units with greater concentration of Linde AG assets fair valued during the recent merger
are at greater risk of impairment in future periods.

Other indefinite-lived intangible assets from Linde AG recently fair valued are evaluated for impairment on an annual basis or more frequendy if events

and circumstances indicate that an impairment loss may have been incurred, and ne impainnents were indicated.

See Notes 3, 11 and 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets, including property, plant and equipment and finite-lived other intangible assets, are tested for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an individual asset or asset group may not be recoverable, For purposes of this test, asset groups are
determined based upon the lowest level for which
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there are independent and identifiable cash flows. Based upon Linde’s business madel, for property, plant and equipment an asset group may be a single plant
and related assets used to support on-site, merchant and packaged gas customers. Alternatively, the asset group may he a pipeline complex which indudes
multiple interdependent plants and related assets connected by ppelines within a geographic area used to support the same disiribution methods.

Income Taxes

At December 31, 2019, Linde had deferred tax assets of $2,179 million (net of valuation allowances of $222 million}, and deferred tax liabilities of
$8,825 million. At December 31, 2019, uncertain tax positions totaled $472 million (see Notes 2 and 7 to the consclidated financial statements). Income tax
expense was $769 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, or about 26.3% of pre-tax income (see Note 7 to the consolidated financial staterments for
additional information related to taxes).

In the preparation of consolidated financial statements, Linde estimates income taxes based on diverse legislative and regulatery structures that exist in
various jurisdictions where the company conducts business. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities represent tax benefits or cbligations that arise from
temporary differences due to differing treatment of certain items for accounting and income tax purposes. Linde evaluates deferred tax assets each period to
ensure that estimated future taxable income will be sufficient in character (e.g. capital gain versus ordinary income treatment}, amount and timing to result irl
their recovery. A valuation allowance is established when management determines that it is more Hkely than not that a deferred tax asset will not be realized
1o reduce the assels to their realizable value. Considerable judgmeis are required in establishing deferred tax valuation allowances and in assessing exposures
related to tax matters. As events and circumstances change, related reserves and valuaticn allowances are adjusted to income at that time. Linde’s tax returns
are subject to audit and local taxing authorities could challenge the company’s tax positions. The company’s practice is t¢ review tax filing positions by
jurisdiction and to record provisions for uncertain income tax positions, including interest and penalties when applicable. Linde believes it records and/or
discloses such potential tax liabilities as appropriate and has reasonably estimated its income tax liabilities and recoverable tax assets. If new information
becomes available, adjustments are charged or credited against income at that time. Managentent does not anticipate that such adjustments would have a
material adverse effect on the company’s consolidated financial position or liquidity; however, it is possible that die final outcomes could have a material
impact on the company’s reported results of operations.

Contingencies

The company accrues liabilities for non-income tax contingencies when management believes that a loss is probable and the amounts can be reasonably
estimated, while contingent gains are recognized only when realized or realizable. If new information becomes available ar losses are sustained in excess of
recorded amounts, adjustments are charged against income at that time. Management does not anticipate that in the aggregate such losses would have a
material adverse effect on the company’s consolidated financial position or liquidity; however, it is possible that the final outcomes could have a material
impact on the company's reported results of operations.

Linde is subject to various claims, legal proceedings and government investigations that arise from time to time in the erdinary course of business.
These actions are based upon alleged environmental, tax, antitrust and personal injury claims, among others (see Note 19 to the conselidated financial
statements). Such contingencies are significant and the accounting requires considerable management judgments in analyzing each matter to assess the likely
outcome and the need for establishing appropriate liabilities and providing adequate disclosuges. Linde believes it records and/or discloses such contingencies
as appropriate and has reasonably estimated its liabilities.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

See Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements for information concerning new acccunting standards and the impact of the implementation of these
standards on the company’s financial staternents.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Linde does not expect changes in the aggregate fair value of its financial assets and liabilities to have a material impact on the consolidated financial
statements. See Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SUPPLEMENTAL PRO FORMA INCOME STATEMENT INFORMATION

To assist with a discussion of the 2019 and 2018 results on a comparable basis, certain supplemental unaudited pro forma income statement information is
provided on both a consolidated and segment basis (referred to as "pro forma Income Statement Information” or "pro forma information™).

The pro forma information has been prepared on a basis consistent with Article 11 of Regulation S-X, assuming the merger and the merger-related
divestitures had been consummated on January 1, 2048 and includes adjustments for (1) the preliminary purchase accounting impacts of the merger, including
increased amortization expense on acquired intangible assets, increased depreciation on property, plani and equipment and lower interest expense due to
revaluing existing debt to fair value, {2) conversion to US GAAP from IFRS for Linde AG, (3) accounting policy alignment, (4) the elimination of the impact
of yansactions berween Praxair and Linde AG, (5) the elimination of the effect of evenis that are directly atributable 1o the Merger Agreement and {6) the
elimination of the effect of consummated and probable divestitures required as a condition of the approval for the merger. In preparing this pro forma
information, the historical financial infarmation has been adjusted to give effect to pro forma Adjustments that are (i) directly atwibutable to the business
combination and other transactions presented hevein, such as the merger-related divestitures, (ii) factually supportable, and (iii) expecied to have a continuing
impact on the combined entily's ceasolidated results,

The pro farma information is based on management's assumptions and is presented for illustrative purposes and does not purport te represent what the results
of operations would actually have been if the merger and merger-related divestitures had occurred as of the dates indicated or what the results would be for
any future periods. Also, the pro forma informration does not include the impact of any revenue, cost or other operating synergies that may result from the
merger oy any telated restructuring costs. Events that are not expacted to have a continuing impact on the combined results (e.g. inventory step-up casts, non-
recurring income/charges) are excluded from the unandited pro forma information.

The unaudited pro forma income staternent has been presented for informational purpases only and is not necessarily indicative of what Linde's results of
operation actually would have been had the merger been completed on January 1, 2018. In addition, the unaudited pro forma income statement does not
purport to project the future operating results of the company.

The pro forma Income Statement Information are included in the following schedules:

- Year ended December 31, 2019 pro forma Income Statement Information

- Year ended December 31, 2018 pro forma Income Statement Information

Refer to an earlier section in this MD&A titled "Merger of Praxair, Inc. and Linde AG".
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YEAR TO DATE DECEMBER 31, 2019 PRO FORMA INCOME STATEMENT INFORMATION
(Millions of dollars, except per share data)
(UNAUDITED)

Pro forma Adjustments

Linde plc  Diyestitores

Reported () Other Total Pro Forma

Sales $ 28228 § (65) 3 — 5 (65) & 28,163
Cast of sales, exclusive of depreciation 16,644 (48) 12y M (60) 16,584
Selling, peneral and administrative 3,457 n m 3.456

As a % of Sales 12.2% 12.3%
Depreciation and amortization 4,675 — 4,675
Research and development 184 — 184
Cost reduction programs and other charges 567 {190)  (c) (190) 377
Net gdin on sale of businesses 164 {164y (d) (169) —
Onher income (expense) - net [&:3 — 68
Operating profis 2,933 (16) 38 22 2,955

Operating margin 10.4% 10.5%
Net pension and OPEB cost {benefit}, excluding service costs {32) %7y (e} (97) (129)
Enterest expense - net 38 — I8
{ncome taxes 769 (%) (1% (20) 749

Effective Tax Rate 26.3% 24.6%
Income from equity investments 114 — 114
Noncontrolling interests from continuing operations {89) — (89}
Income (rom conlinuing operations $ 2,183 § ) 3% 150 s 138 % 2,322
Diluted shares outstanding 545,170 545,170 545,170
Diluted FPS from continuing aperations 5 4.00 5 025 % 4.23
SEGMENT SALES
AmMericas 3 10893 S 4% — 5 [CYI-1 10,383
EMEA 6,643 —_ 6,643
APAC 5,839 (60) {60) 5,774
Engineering 2,799 —_ 2,795
Other 1,934 (1) (1) 1,953
Segment sales 3 28,228 §$ 65) $ — 5 (63) 3 28,163
SEGMENT OPERATING PROFIT
Americas 3 2578 § [OR —_ $ ms 2,577
EMEA 1,367 1,367
APAC 1,198 (14) (14) 1,184
Engingering 390 390
Other (245) ) ) (248}
Segment operating profit 5,288 (18) —_ (16) 5,272
Cost reduction programs atid other charges (567) - (567)
MNet gain on sale of businesses 164 — 164
Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (1,952) — (1,952)
Total operating profit $ 2933 % (16) & — 1 (16) % 2,817
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2019 Pro forma adjustments

(@) To elimindte the results of Praxair's merget-related divestitures.

(b} To elimmate the impact of the inventory step-up recorded in purchase accountmg for the merger. This item is nonrecurting in nature. directly atiributable to the merger and
accurred within one year of the wansaction.

(c) "Lo eliminate the transaction costs and other charges related to the merger. These transaction costs are nonrecurring, directly attributable o the merger, and incremental. See
Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

) To climinate the gain on merger related divestitures.
{®) Ty eliminate pension settlement charges related to the merger.

{B) Ty eliminate the income tax impacts of Other adjustments.
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YEAR TO DATE DECEMBER 31, 2018 PRO FORMA INCOME STATEMENT INFORMATION
{Millions of dollars, except per share dara)

Sales
Cost of szles, exclusive of depreciation
Selling, general and administrative
As a % of Sales
Depreciation and amortization
Research and development
Cost reduction programs and other charges
(ther income {expense) - net
Operating profit

Operating margin

Net pension and OPEB cost (benefit),
excluding service costs

Tnterest expense - net
Tncome taxes
Effective ‘Tax Rate

Income from equity invesiments

Noncontrolling interests from conunuing
aperations

Income from continuing operations
Diluted shares outstanding
Diluted EPS from coatinuing operations
SEGMENT SALES
Americas
EMEA
APAC
Fngineering
Other
Segment sales
SEGMENT OPERATING PROFIT
Americas
EMEA
APAC
Engineering
Other
Segment operating profit
Cost reduction pregrams and other charges
Gain on sale of businesses
Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG

Total operating profic

(UNAUDITED)
Pro forma Adjustments
Purchase
Linde plc Linde AG Accounling Pro Forma
@ (b} Divestitures () (d) Other Total Linde plc
§ 14,836 $ 16929 § (3,598) 3 — & (83 () § 13248 § 28084
9,020 10,515 (2,15%) — (451} (&) 7,909 16,928
1,629 2,370 (364) — — 2,006 3,635
11.0% 12.5%
1,830 1,570 (337) 1,861 — 3,094 4,924
113 88 — — — 88 201
309 323 —_ — (576} (f) (253) 56
3.312 204 — — (3.294) () (.3.090) 222
5,247 2,267 (742) (LB6LY  (2,350) (2,686) 2,561
354% 9.1%
“® (159) @ — — (i61) {165)
202 332 72 (83) - 177 379
817 634 (87) (430) €264) (g) (147) 870
16.2% 28.5%
56 80 (31) (53} — @) 52
(15) (144) 19 140 — 15 —
4273 § 139% § (593) § {1,261) § (2.088) 5 (2.549) $ L1729
334,127 221,024 (h) 555151
12.79 5 {268) (WS 311
8,017 % 4352 § (1,768) $ (62) (g9 $ 2522 $ 10,539
2,644 5,809 (1.463) 1 (e 4,347 6,991
2,446 3,851 (329 (18) (&) 3,504 5,950
459 2,333 — — (&) 2,333 2,792
1,270 584 (38) {4) (2 542 1,812
S 14,83 § 169529 § (3.598) $ — $ (83) $ 13,248 $ 28084
2053 % 714 % {327} $ 7y (1) % 380 5 2433
481 1,730 (324} 43) ® B63 1,344
465 685 (82} (40) (i) 564 1.029
14 276 — 5) ® 271 285
(37 (318) (9) 67 (i) {258) (295)
2,976 2,590 {742) (28) 1,820 4,796
{300 {323) 632 309 —
3,254 (3,294) (3,294) —
(714) 714 714 —
5247 § 2267 § (742) $ (1,976) $ (451 $  4,79%
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2018 Pro forme adjustments

(a) To include Linde ple consolidated results Sor the year ended December 31, 2018, Note that the vesulis include the performance of Praxair's European industrial gases business through December
3, 2018 and the results uf Linde AG frem Ocvtober 31, 2018 (merger date) through December 31, 2018. The sdjusiments reflect reclassifications o conlonm o Linde ple's reporting furmat.

(b) To include Linde AG consolidated results for the period prior to the merger date at October 31, 2018, The adjustments reflect reclassifications w conform 1o Linde plc's reporting format and
adjustments trom [FRS to U.5. GAAP.

(c) To eliminate the results of merger-related divestitures required by regulatory autherities 1o secure approval for the Merger. These divestitures include the majority of Praxair's Furopean
industrial gases business (completed December 3, 2018), a significant portion of Linde AG's America’s industrial gases business {completed on March 1, 2019}, sclect assets of Linde AG's South
Korean industrial gases business (compieted April 30. 26193, as well as certain divestitures of other Praxair and Linde AG Businesses io Asia.

(d) To include purchase accounting adjustments for the period from January 1, 2018 to October 30, 2018 (priur o the Merger). This relates to (i) additional depreciation and amortization related to
the increased value of of properry, plane and equipment and increased basis of intangible assets, {ii) interes! expense impacts refated 1o the fair value of debt, [iii) the fax impacts related 1o the pon-
A AP adjustments above, (iv} income from equity investments equity related 1o the fair value of equity investments, and (v) noncontrolling interests adjustments related to the fair value
adjusunents above. Purchase accounting impacts are not included m the definition of segment operating profit; therefere, no pro forma adjustment is required for segment reporting,

(¢} To climinate sales hetween Praxair and Linde AG for the period prior to the Merger date at October 31, 2018 (January 1, 2018 to Ociober 30, 2018). {¢) also includes a $368 million impact [or
the fair value step-up of inventories acquired in the merger. This charge is recorded in cost of sales and subsequently eliminated.

(F) To eliminate the transaction costs and other charges rejated to the Merger.

(g) To reflect the income tax impact of the above pro forma adjusiments.

() Tu reflect the impac oa diluted shares outsianding and diluted FPS related 10 ordinary shares issues (o Linde AG shareholders in conpection with the Merger,

(i) To eliminate othet {(income) charges not included in segment operaling profit, primarily related to a gain on a sale of business in EMEA and a gain on a sale of ayset in APAC.
{j) To eliminate the gain on merger related divestitures.

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

The following non-GAAP measures are intended to supplement investors’ understanding of the company’s financial information by providing measures
which investors, {inancial analysts and management use to help evaluate the company’s financial keverage and operating performance. Special items which
the company does not believe to be indicative of on-going business performance are excluded from these caltvlations so that investors can better evaluate and
analyze historical and future business trends on a consistent basis. Definitions of these non-GAAP measures may not be comparable o similar definidons
vsed by nther companies and are not 3 substitute for similar GAAP measores.

The non-GAAP measures in the following reconciliations are presented in the Selected Financial Data (Iltem 6} or this MD&A,

Adjusted Amounts
Certain amounts for 2019, 2018, and 2017 have been included for reference purposes and to facilitate the calculations contained herein.

(Dolfar amounts in mitfions, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017
Adjusted Pro Forma Operating Profit and Margin
Reported operating profit 3 2933 % 5247 % 2,444
Pro forma adjustments (a) 22 {(2.686) N/A

Pio forma 2,955 2,561 N/A
Non-GAAP Adjustments:
Add: Cost reduction programs and other charges 377 53 52
Less: Net gain on sale of businesses — (51) —
Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG {d) 1,940 2,233 —

Total adjustments 2,317 2,235 52

Adjusted pro forma operating profit 3 5272 % 4,756 N/A
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Adjusted operating profit

Reported percent change
Adjusted pro forma percent change

Reported sales
Pro forma sales (a)

Reported operating margin
Pro forma eperating margin
Adjusted pro forma operating margin

Adjusted Pro Forma Depreciation and amortization
Reported depreciation and amoertization
Pro forma adjustments (a)

Pio forma
Non-GAAP Adjustments:
Less: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (d)
Adjusted pro forma depreciation and amortization

Adjusted depreciation and amortization

Adjusted Pro Forma Net pension and OPEB cost (benefit), excluding service

cost
Reported net pension and OPEB cost (benefit), excluding service cost
Pro forma adjustments (a)
Pro forma
Non-GAAP Adjustments:
Add: Pension plan reorganization charge - net
Total adjustments

Adjusted pro forma Net Pension and OPEB cost (benefit}, excluding service

costs
Adjusted Net Pension and OPEB cost (benefit), excluding service costs

Adjusted Pro Forma Interest Expense - Net
Reported interest expense - net
Pro forma adjustments (a)
Pro forma
Non-GAAP Adjustments:
Less: Bond redemption
Less: Loss on hedge portfolio unwind
Add: Purchase acconnting impacts - Linde AG (d)
Total adjustments
Adjusted pro forma interest expense - net

Adjusted interest expense - net

Adjusted Pro Forma Income Taxes(b)
Reported income taxes
Pro forma adjustments (a)
Pro forma
Non-GAAP Adjustments:
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% 2,496
(44.1)% 114.7%
9.9% N/A
$ 28,228 $ 14836 % 11,358
28,163 28,084 N/A
104 % 35.4% 21.5%
10,5 % 9.1% N/A
18.7 % 17.1% N/A
$ 4,675 $ 1,830 % 1,184
— 3,094 N/A
4,675 4,924 N/A
(1,540) {2,233) —
3 2,735 $ 2,651 N/A
5 1,184
$ (32) $ “@ % (4)
(97 (161} N/A
(129) (165} N/A
(10) (14) (2}
(10) (14} (2)
$ (139) % (179) N/A
$ (®)
$ 38 $ 202 % 161
— 177 N/A
38 379 N/A
— (26) J—
— (174) —
96 100 —
9% (100) —
$ 134 $ 279 N/A
$ 161
$ 769 $ 817 % 1,026
(20) (147) N/A
749 670 N/A



JTahlp o Coments

Add: Bend redemption
Add: Pension sertlement charge
Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (d)
Add: Cost reduction programs and other charges
Ada: Tax reformn
Total adjusanents
Adjusted pro forma income taxes
Adjusted income taxes

Adjusted Pro Forma Effective Tax Rate (b)
Reported income before income taxes and equity investments
Pro forma adjusuments (2)

Pro forma
Non-GAAP Adjustments;
Add: Bond redemption
Add: Pension setdlement charge
Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (d)
Add: Cost reduction programs and other charges
Add: Pension plan recrganization charge - net
Add: Loss on hedge portfolio unwind
Less: Net gain on sale of businesses

Total adjustments

Adjusted pro forma income before income taxes and equity investments

Adjusted income before income taxes and equity investments

Reported income taxes
Reported effective tax rate

Adjusted pro forma income taxes
Adjusted income taxes

Adjusted pro feima effective tax rate
Adjusted effective tax rate

Income from Equity Investments

Reported income from equity investments

Pro forma adjustments (a)
Pro forma

Non-GAAP Adjusunents:

Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (d)
Total adjustments

Adjusted pro forma income from equity investonents

Adjusted income from equity investments

Adjusted Noncontrolling Interests from Continuing Operations
Reported nencontrolling interests from continuing operations
Pro forma adjustments (a)

Pro forma
Non-GAAP adjustments:
Add: Cost reduction programs and pther charges
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J— 6 —_
— 3 1
447 516 —
71 (0 4
— 17 (394)
518 541 (389)
1,267 8§ 1,211 NA
$ 637
2927 8 5049 § 2,287
119 (2,702) N/A
3,046 2,347 N/A
—_— 26 —
— 14 2
1,844 2,133 —
377 53 52
10 — —
— 174 —
—_ (51) —
2,231 2,349 54
5277 § 4,696 N/A
[ 2,341
769  § 817 % 1,026
263% 162% 44.9%
1,267 $ 1,211 N/A
$ 637
240% 25.8% N/A
27.2%
4§ 6§ a7
— {4 N/A
114 52 N/A
57 64 —
57 64 -~
171§ 116 N/A
$ 47
@) 3 asy $ (6L
— 15 N/A
(89) — N/A
(35) — —
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Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (d)
Total adjusaments
Adjusted pro forma noncontrolling interests from continuing operations
Adjusted noncontrolling interests from continuing
Adjusted Income from Continuing Operations (c)
Reported income from continuing operations
Pro forma adjostments (a}
Pro forma
Non-GAAP adjustments:
Add: Pension settlement charge
Add: Cost reducticn pregrams and other charges
Less: Net gain on sale of business
Add: Bond Redemption
Add: Loss on hedge portfolio unwind
Less: Other tax charges
Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG
Total adjustments
Adjusted pro forma income from continning operations

Adjusted income from continuing operations

Adjusted Pro Forma Diluted EPS from Continuing Operations (c)
Reported diluted EPS from continuing operations
Pro forma adjustments (a)
Pro forma

Non-GAAFP adjustments:
Add: Pension settlement charge
Add: Cost reduction pregrams and other charges
Less: Net gain on sale of business
Add: Bond redemption
Add: Loss on hedge portfolio unwind
I.ess Income tax reform
Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG

Total adjusements
Adjusted pro forma diluted EPS from continuing operations

Adjusted diluted EPS from continuing operations

Adjusted Pro Forma EBITDA and % of Sales

Income from continuing operations

Add: Noncontrolling interests related to continuing operations
Add: Net pension and OPEB cost (benefit), excluding service cost
Add: Interest expense

Add: Income taxes

Add: Depreciation and amortizaton

EBITDA from continuing operations

Pro forma adjustments (a)

Add: Linde AG consolidated results

Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG

(54) {168) —
(89} (168) —
$ (178) (168) N/A
$ (61}
$ 2,183 4273 % 1,247
139 (2,544) N/A
2,322 1,729 N/A
— 11 1
281 53 48
— (50) —
—— 20 _
— 174 —
— (17) 394
1,400 1,513 —
1,681 1,704 443
$ 4,003 3,433 N/A
$ 1,690
$ 4.00 1279 $ 432
0.25 (9.68) N/A
425 3.11 N/A
— 0.03 —
0.52 0.09 0.17
— (0.09) —
— 0.04 —
— 0.31 —
— (0.03) 1.36
257 2.73 —
3.09 308 1.53
$ 7.34 6.19 N/A
5 5.85
$ 2,183 4273 § 1,247
89 15 61
(32) (4) “)
38 202 161
769 817 1,026
4,675 1,830 1,184
7,722 7,133 3,675
— 3,917 N/A
12 315 N/A
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Add: Cost reduction programs and other charges 190 576 N/A
Less: Net gain on sale of businesses (164) (3,294) N/A
Less: Divestitures (16} (1,110) N/A
Pro forma adjustments 22 404 N/A
Pro forma EBITDA from continuing operaticns 7,744 7,537 N/A
Non-GAAP adjustments:
Less: Net gain on sale of business — (51) —
Add: Cost reduction programs and other charges 377 53 52
Add: Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG 57 64 —
Total adjustments 434 66 52
Adjusted pro forma EBITDA from continving operations % 8,178 3 7,002 NiA
Adjusted EBITDA from continuing operations $ 3,727

Reported sales S 28,228 § 1483 % 11,358
Pro forma sales $ 28,163 $ 28,084 N/A

% of sales

EBITDA from continuing operations 27.4% 48.1% 32.4%
Pro forma EBITDA from continuing operations 27.5% 26.8% N/A
Adjusted pio forma EBITDA from continuing operaticns 29.0% 27.1% N/A
Adjusted EBITDA from continning aperations 32.8%

(@) Sce pro forma Incame Staternent Information in the preceding sections.

{h) The income tax expense (beneflt) on the non-GAAP pre-tax adjusunents was determined using the applicable tax rates for the jurisdictions that were utilized in calealating e GA AP income tax
expense (benefin) and included both current and deferred income tax amounts.

{c) Net of income taxes which are shown separately in “Adjusted Income Taxes and Effective Tax Rate”.

{d} The company believes that its non-GAAP measures excluding Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG are useful 1o Invesiors berause: (i) the business combination was a merger of equals in
an all-stock merger ansaction, with no cash consideration, {ii) the company is managed on a geographic hasis and the results of certain geographies are mere heavily impacted by purchase
acrounting than others, causing resuls thar are nor comparable at the reporcable segment level, therefore, the impacts of purchasing accountng adjustments to each segment vary and are not
comparable within the company and when compared (o other companies in similar regivns, (iil) business management is evaluated and variable compensation is determined based on resufls
excluding purchase accounting impacts, and: (iv) it is impottant 10 investars and analysts (o understand the purchase accounting impacts to the financial statements.

A summary of cach of the adjustments made for Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG are as follows:

Adjusted Operating Profit and Margén: The purchase accounting adjustments for the year ended Decermher 31, 2019 include (1) a $12 million adjustment for the increase in cast of sales related
the fair value step up ol inventories acguired in the merger (included as a pro forma adjusiment), and {ii) $1,940 in depreciation and amortization related to the fair valve step up of fixed assets and
intangible assets (primarily customer related) acquired in the merger.

Adjusted Interese Expense - Net: Relales to the amortization of the fair value of debt acquired in the merger.

Adjusted [ncome Toxes and Effective Tox Rate' Relares to the current and defemed income tax impact on the adjustments discussed abave. The income tax expense (henefit) on the non-0: A AP pre-
1ax adjustments was detersnned using the applicable tax rates for the junsdictions that were utilized in calculating the GAAP Income tax expense {benefit) and included both curtent and defened
income tax amounts.

Adjusied Income from Equity Invesiments: Represents the amortization of increased fair value on equity investments related Lo depreciable and amortizable assers.

Adjusted Nonconwolling Interests from Continuing Operations: Represents the noncongrolling interests’ uwaership portion of the adjusiments described above determined on an entity by entity
basis.

60



Fable 0t Contents

Net Debt and Adjusted Net Debt

Net debt is a financial liquidity measure used by investors, financial analysts and management to evaluate the ability of a company to repay its debt. Purchase
accounting impacts have been excluded as they are non-cash and do not have an tmpact on liquidity.

Yecember 31, Deceraber 31,
2019 2018

(nillions of doliors)

Debt % 13,956 % 15,296
Less: cash and cash equivalents (2,700) (4,466)
Net debt 11,256 10,830
Less: purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (195) (291)
Adjusted net debt $ 11,061 % 10,539
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Linde is expased to market risks relating to fluctuations in interest rates and currency exchange rates. The objective of financial risk management at
Linde is to minimize the negative impact of interest rate and foreign exchange rate tluctuations on the company’s earnings, cash flows and equity.

To manage these tisks, Linde uses various derivative financial instruments, inchuding interest-rate swaps, treasury rate locks, currency swaps, forward
contracts, and commodity contracts. Linde only uses commonly traded and non-leveraged instruments. These contracts are entered into primarily with major
banking institations thereby minimizing the risk of credit loss. Also, see Notes 2 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements for a more complete
description of Linde’s accounting pelicies and use of such instruments.

The following discussion presents the sensitivity of the market value, earnings and cash flows of Linde’s financial insaruments to hypothetical changes
in interest and exchange rates assuming these changes occurred at December 31, 2019. The range of changes chosen for these discussions reflects Linde's
view of changes which are reasonably possible over a one-year period. Market values represent the present values of projected fiture cash flows based on
interest rate and exchange rate assumptions.

Interest Hate Risk

At December 31, 2019, Linde had debt totaling $13,956 million ($15,296 million at December 31, 2018). For fixed-rate instruments, interest rate
changes affect the fair market value but do not impact earnings or cash flows. Conversely, for floating-rate instruments, interest rate changes generaily do not
affect the fair market value of the instrument but impact future earnings and cash flows, assuming that other factors are held constant. At December 31, 2019,
including the impact of derivatives, Linde had fixed-rate debt of $10,799 million and floating-rate debt of $3,157 million, representing 77% and 23%,
respectively, of total debt. At December 31, 2018, Linde had fixed-rate debt of $12,565 millicn and floating-rate debt of $2,731 million, representing 82% and
189, respectively, of total debt.

Fixed Rate Debt

[n order to mitigate interest rate risk, when considered appropriate interest-rate swaps are entered into as hedges of underlying financial instruments to
effectively change the characteristics of the interest rate without actually changing the underlying financial instrument. At December 31, 2019, Linde had
fixed-to-floating interest rate swaps cutstanding that were designated as hedging instruments of the underlying debt issuances - refer to Note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements for additional information. This sensitivity analysts assumes that, holding all other variables constant (such as foreign '
exchange rates, swaps and debt levels), a one hundred basis point increase in interest rates would decrease the unrealized fair market value of the fixed-rate
debt portfolio by approximately $473 millicn (3554 million in 2018). A one hundred basis point increase in interest rates would result in an approximate $73
million increase to derivative assets recorded.

Variable Rate Debt

At Decernber 31, 2019, the after-tax earnings and cash flows impact of a one hundred basis point increase in interest rates, including offsetting impact
of derivatives, on the variable-rate debt portfolio would be approximately $48 million ($24 million in 2018),

Foreign Currency Risk

Linde’s exchange-rate exposures result primarily from its investments and ongoing operatiens in Latin America (primarily Brazil, Chile and Colombia),
Eurepe (primarily Germany, Scandinavia, and the United Kingdom), Canada, Mexico, Asia Pacific (primarily Aunstralia, China) and other business |
transactions such as the procurement of equipment from foreign sources. Linde frequently utilizes currency contracts to hedge these exposures, At
December 31, 2019, Linde had a notenal amount outstanding of $9,713 million (59,412 million at December 31, 2018) related to foreign exchange conracts,
The majority of these were o hedge recorded balance sheet exposures, primarily intercompany loans denominated in non-functional currencies. See Nate 14
to the consolidated financial statements,

Holding all other variables constant, if there were a 10% increase in foreign-currency exchange rates for the portfolio, the fair market value of foreign-
currency contracts outstanding at December 31, 2019 would increase by approximately $194 million and at December 31, 2018 would decrease by
approximately $307 million, which wauld be largely offse1 by an offsetting loss or gain on the foreign-currency fluctuation of the underlying exposure being
hedged.
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MANAGEMENT’S STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Linde’s consolidated financial statements are prepared by management, which is responsible for their fairness, integrity and objectivity. The
accompanying financial statements have been prepared in confermity with accounting principles generally accepted ia the United States of America applied
on a consistent basis, except for accounting changes as disclosed, and include amounts that are estimates and judgments, All historical financial information
in this annual report is consistent with the accompanying financial statements.

Linde maintains accounting systems, including internal accounting controls, monitored by a sta ff of internal auditors, that are designed to provide
reasonable assurance of the reliability of financial records and the protection of assets. The concept of reasonable assurance is based on recognitien that the
cost of a system should not exceed the related benefits. The effectiveness of thase systems depends primarily upon the careful selection of financial and other
managets, clear delegation of authority and assignment of accountability, inculcation of high business ethics and conflict-of-interest standards, policies and
procedures for coordinating the management of corporate resources, and the leadership and commitment of top management. In compliance with Section 404
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Aci of 2002, Linde assessed its interal control pver financial reporting and issued a report (see below).

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which consists solely of non-employee directors, is responsible for overseeing the functioning of the
accounting system and related controls and the preparation of annual financial statersents. The Audit Committee periodically meets with management,
internal auditors and the independent accountants to review and evaluate their accounting, auditing and financial reporting activities and respensibilities,
including management’s assessment of internal control over financial reporting. The independent registered public accounting firm and internal anditors have
full and free access to the Aundit Committee and meet with the committee, with and without management present.

MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Linde’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in
Exchaage Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supervisior and with the partictpacion of management, including the company’s principal executive officer and
principal financial officer, the company conducted an evaluation of the effeciiveness of its internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in
internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsaring Organizations of die Treadway Colnmission (often referred (o as
COS0). Based on this evaluation, management concluded that the company’s internal contrel over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2019,

Linde’s evaluation of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019 did not include the internal control over financial reporting
related to Linde AG which was acquired by Praxair in a merger accounted for as a business combination. In connection with its antitrust review of the
transaction, the 1J.S, Federal Trade Commission (the “FTC”) imposed a Hold Separate Order (the “HSO™) on Linde that was lifted on March 1, 2019 afer all
required asset divestitures in the U.S. were completed. The HSO required the companies to continue ta operate globally as separate and independent
companies apart from each other in all material respects. As such, the HSO regulatory restrictions prohibited Linde from being able to perform procedures
necessary to complete an overall assessment of Linde AG’s disparate internal control environment with operations in over 100 countries. Because of this, the
assessment of Linde AG’s internal control environment could only begin after the HS0O was terminated on March 1, 2019, and as such Linde AG has been
excluded from the gverall Linde internal control assessment as of December 31, 2015,

Total assets and sales for Linde AG represent approximately 23% and 62%, respectively, of the related consalidated financial siaternent amounts as of
and for the year ended December 31, 2019,

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has audited ani issued their opinion on the effectiveness of the
company’s internal control ever financial reporting as of December 31, 2039 as stated in their report.

s/ STEPHEN T. ANGEL /s KELCEY B IOYT
Stephen F, Angel Kelcey E. Hoyt
Chief Executive Officer Chiefl Accounting Officer

/s/ MATTHRW J. WHITE

Matthew J. White
Chief Financial Officer

March 2, 2020

64



Lalde 1l Contents
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareliolders of Linde plc

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Linde plc and its subsidiaries (the “Company”} as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the
relared consclidated statements of income, of comprehensive income, of equity and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December
31, 2019, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). We also have audited the Company's internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework {2013} issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO},

In gur opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internat control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in Internal Contral - Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Repart on [nternal Control
Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is te express opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company's internal
control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (PCAOPB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAORB.

We conducted our audits in accordarce with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstaterment, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal
control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reperting, assessing the risk that a material weakness
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal contral based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our epinions.

As described in Management’s Report on Internal Control aver Financial Reporting, management has excluded Linde Aktiengesellschaft ("Linde AG") from
its assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019 because it was acquired in a merger accounted for as a business
combination during 2018 and subject to a hold separate order issued by the U.S. Federal Trade Commissien until March 2019. We have also excluded Linde
AG from our audit of internal contrel over financial reporting. Linde AG is a wholly-owned subsidiary whose total assets and total sales excluded from
management's assessment and our audit of internal control over financial reporting represent approximately 23% and 62%, respecuvely, of the related
consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Controf over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purpeses int accordance with
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generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made oaly in accordance with autharizations of management and directors
of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent [imitations, internal contrel over financial reporting may not prevent or desect misstaternents. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject ta the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were
communicated or requived to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i} relate 1o accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated
financial statements and (ii} involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter
in any way our opinien on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, hy communicating the critical audit matters below,
providing separate opinions on the ctitical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Revenue Recognition - Estimated Costs at Completion

As desctibed in Note 21 to the consalidated financial statements, $2,799 million of the Company's total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2019 was
generated from the sale of equipment contracts, Sale of equipment contracts are generally comprised of a single performance obligation. Revenue from sale of
equipment is generally recognized over time as the Company has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date and performance does
not create an assel with alternative use. For contracts recognized aver time, revenue is recegnized primarily using a cost incurred input method. Cosls
incurred to date relative to total estimated costs at completion are used to measure progress toward satisfying performance obligations. Costs incurred include
matecial, labor, and overliead costs and represent wourk contributing and propordonate to the transfer of contral to the custuster.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to revenue recegnition - estimated costs al completion is & critical audit
matter are there was significant judgment by management when developing the estimated costs at completion for the sale of equipment contracts. This in turm
led 1o a high degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity, and effort in performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence relating to the estimated costs at
completion and management’s significant assumptions, including the estimated expected material and laber costs. In addition, the audit effort invalved the use
of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge to assist in performing these procedures and evaluating the audit evidence obtairied.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audir evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the censolidated
financial statements. These procedures also included, among others, testing management’s process for developing the estimated costs at completion for the
sale of equipment contracts and evaltiating the reasonableness of management’s significant assumptions, including the estimated expected material and labor
costs. Evaluating the reasonableness of management’s sighificant assnmptions involved evaluating management’s ability to reasonably estimate costs at
completion for the sale of equipment contracts on a sample basis by (i) performing a comparison of the originally estimated and actual costs incurred on
similar completed equipment contracts, and (i) evaluating the timely identification of circumstances that may warrant a modification to estimated costs at
completion, including acwal costs in excess of estimates. Professionals with specialized skill and knowledge were used to assist in evaluating management’s
estimates and assurnptions relating to the expected material and labor costs.

Goodwill Impairment Assessment

As described in Notes 2 and 1! io the copsstidated financial statemeats, the Company’s consolidated goodwill balance was $27,019 million as of December
31, 2019. Management performs an impairment test annually, or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that an impairment loss may have been
incurred. The impairment test allows an entity to first assess qualitative factors to determine if it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is
less than its carrying value. If it is determined that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporiing unit is less than its carrying
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value then management will estimate and compare the fair vatue of the reporting unit to its carrying value, including goodwill. In estimaring the fair value of
each reparting nnit, management applicd a multiple uf earuings from a peer group to the Company’s forecasted earnings for the year ending December 31,
2018. The peer group is comprised of comparable entities with similar operations and economic characteristics.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures refating to the goodwill impairment assessment is a critical audit matter are
there was significant judgment by management when developing the fair value measurement of the reporting units. This in twim led to a high degree of auditor
judgment, subjectivity, and effort in performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence relating to management’s significant assumptions for the multiples
of earnings from a peer group of comparable entities with similar operations and economic characteristics. In addition, the audit effort involved the use of
professionals with specialized skill and knowledge to assist in performing these procedures and evaluating the audit evidence obtained.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to management’s goodwill impairment assessment, including
controls over the valuatinn of the Company’s reporting units. These procedures alse included, among others, 1) testing management’s process for developing
the fair value measurement of the reporting units, ii) evaluating the appropriateness of the multiples of earnings maodel, (iii) testing the completeness,
accuracy, and relevance of undetlying data used in the model, and (iv) evaluating management’s significant assumptions for the multiples of earnings from a
peer group of comparable entities with similar operations and economic characteristics. Evaluating management’s assumnptions related to the multiples of
carnings involved evaluating whether the assumpiions used by management were reasenable considering (i) the consistency with external market and industry
data and (ii) whether the assumptions were consistent with evidence obtained in other areas of the audit. Professionals with specialized skill and knowledge
were used (o assist in the evaluation of the Company’s multiples of earnings model and significant assumptions for the multiples of earnings from a peer
group of comparable entities with similar operaticns and ecenomic characteristics.

/s/ PricewaterheuseCoopers LLP
Stamford, Connecticut
March 2, 2020

We have served as the Company’s or its predecessor’s auditor since 1992.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
{Dollar amounts in millions, except per share data}

Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017

Sales 3 28,228 3 14,836 $ 11,358
Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amordzation 16,644 9,020 6,382
Selling, general and administrative 3,457 1,629 1,207
Depreciation and amortization 4,675 1,830 1,184
Research and development 184 113 83
Cost reduction programs and other charges 567 309 52
Net gain on sale of businesses 164 3,294 —
Other income (expenses) — net 68 18 4
Operating Profic 2,933 5,247 2,444
Interest expense — net 38 202 161
Net pension and OPEB cost (benefit), excluding service cost (32) (4 (4
Income From Centinuing Operations Before Income Taxes and Equity Investments 2,927 5,049 2,287
Iriconte taxes on continuing operations 769 817 1,026
Income From Continuing Operations Before Equity Investments 2,158 4,232 1,261
Income from equity investments 114 568 47
Income From Continuing Operations (Including Noncontrolling Interests) 2,272 4,288 1,308
Fcome from discontinued operations, net of tax 109 117 —
Net Income (Including Nencontrelling Interests) 2,381 4,405 1,308
Less: noncontrolling interests from continuing operations (89) (15) (61)
Less: noncontrolling interests from discontinued operaticns (7) %) —_
Net Income - Linde plc $ 2285 % 4381 § 1,247
Net [ncome - Linde plc

Income from continuing operations 3 2,183 S 4273 % 1,247
Income from discentinued operations $ 102 % 108 —
Per Share Data — Linde plc Shareholders

Basic earnings per share from continuing operations ) 403 % 1293 % 4.36
Basic earaings per share from discontinued operations 0.19 0.33 —
Basic eamings per share 3 4,22 13.26 % 4.36
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations $ 4.00 1279 % 4.32
Diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations 0.19 0.32 —
Diluted earnings per share $ 418 $ 1311 3 4.32
‘Weighted Average Shares Outstanding (000°s):

Basic shares outstanding 541,094 330,401 286,261
Diluted shares outstanding 545,17G 334,127 289,114

The accompanying Notes are an imtegral pare of these [inancial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Dollar amounts in millions)

Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017

NET INCOME (INCLUDING NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS) 5 2381 8 4,405 § 1,308

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Translation adjustments:

Foreign currency translation adjustments 118 (401) 433
Reclassifications to net income (Note 4) 12 318 —
income taxes 3 7 92
Translation adjustments 133 (76) 525
Funded status - retirement obligations {Note 18}:
Retirement program Temeasurements (852} (260) (39)
Redlassifications to net income 154 94 535
Income taxes 154 (55) (5
Funded status - retirement obligations {544) (221) 11
Derivative instruments (Note 14):
Current year unrealized gain (loss) (32) — —
Reclassifications to net income — [08] —
Income taxes 7 — —
Derivative instruments (25} (1) —
Securities {Note S):
Current year unrealized gain (loss) 1 (1) —_
Reclassifications to net income — _ —
Income taxes — — —
Securities 1 (1) —
TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (L.OSS) (435) {299) 536
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (INCLUDING NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS) 1,946 4,106 1,844
Less: noncontrolling interests (19) (83) (95)
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - LINDE PLC 5 1,927 & 4,023 § 1,749

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Dollar amounts in mitlions)

December 31, 2019 2018
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,700 4,466
Accounts receivable - net 4,322 4,257
Contract assets 368 283
Inventories 1,697 1,651
Assets held for sale 125 5,438
Prepaid and other current assets 1,140 1,077
Total Current Assets 10,352 17,272
Property, plant and equipment — net 29,064 29,717
Equity investments 2,027 1,838
Goodwill 27,019 26,874
Other intangible assets —net 16,137 16,223
Other long-term assets 2,013 1,462
Total Assets 3 86,612 93,386
Liabilities and Equity
Accounts payable $ 3,266 3,219
Short-term debt 1,732 1,485
Current portion of long-term debt 1,531 1,523
Contract liabilities 1,758 1,546
Accrued taxes 370 657
Liabilities of assets held for sale 2 768
Other curren: liabilities 3,501 3,758
Total Current Liabilities 12,160 12,956
Long-term debt 10,693 12,288
Other long-term liabilities 4,888 3,435
Deferred credits 7,23G 7,611
Total Liabilities 34,977 36,290
Commitments and contingencies (Note 19)
Redeemable noncontrolling interests 113 16
Linde plc Shareholders’ Equity:
Ordinary shares (€0.001 par value, authorized 1,750,000,000 shares, 2019 issued: 552,012,862 ordinary
shares; 2018 issued: 551,310,272 ordinary shares) 1 1
Additional paid-in capital 40,201 40,151
Retained earnings 16,842 16,529
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (4,814) (4,456}
Less: Treasury stock, at cost (2019 — 17,632,318 shares and
2018 — 4,068,642 shares) (3,156) (629)
Total Linde plc Shareholders’ Equity 49,074 51,596
Noncontrotling interests 2,448 5,484
Total Equity 51,522 57 NAN
Total Liabilities and Equity $ 86,612 93,386

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

{Millions of dollars)
Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017
Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Operations
Net income — Linde plc s 2285 8 4380 § 1,247
l.ess: income [rom discantinued operations, net of tax and noncontrolling interests (102) (108 —
Adil; Noncontrolling interests from continuing operations 89 15 &1
Income from continuing operations (including noncontrolling interests) 5 2,272 $ 4288 S 1,308

Adjusiments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Cost Reduction Programs and other charges, net of paymenis (238) 40 26
Amortization of merger-related inventory step-up 12 368 —_
Tax Act income tax charge, net — {61) 394
Depreciation and amortization 4,675 1,830 1,184
Deferred income 1axes, excluding Tax Act (303) (187 136
Share-based compensation 95 62 59
Ner gain on sale of businesses, net of tax (108) (2,923) _
Non-cash charges ard other (127) 175 43
Working capital
Accounts receivable 80 {124y (92)
Contract assets and liabilities, net 87 _ _
Inventory (81) (4) (22)
Prepaid and other current assets (72 43 (66)
Payables and accruals (174) 287 22
Pension contributions (94) {87y (19)
Long-term assets, liabilities and other 93 {53 68
Net cash provided by operating activities 6,119 3,634 3,041
Investing
Capital expendirures (3,682) (1,883 (1,311)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (225) {25) {33}
Divestitures and asset sales, net of cash divested 5,096 5,908 30
Cash acquired in merger transaction — 1,363 —
Net cash provided by (used tor) investing activities 1,189 3,363 (1,314)
Financing
Short-lermy debt borrowings {repayments) — net 224 208 (199)
Long-term debt borrowings 99 8 11
[ cng-term debt repayments (1.583) {3,124) (583)
Issuances of ordinary shares 72 77 120
Purchases of ordinary shares (2,658) (599} (12)
Cash dividends — Linde ple shareholders (1,891) {1,166} (901)
Noncontrolling interest transactions and other (3,:260) (402) (@)
Net cash used for financing activides (8,997) {4,998) (1,656)
Discontinued Operations
Cash provided by operating activities $ 69 $ 48 3 —
Cash used for investing activities (60) 2 —
Cash provided by financing activities 5 2 —
Net cash provided hy discontinued operalions 14 27 —
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (77) (60) 2
Change in cash and cash equivalents (1,752) 3,986 93
Cash and cash equivalenes, beginning-of-period 4,456 617 524
Cash and cash equivalents, including discontinued operations $ 2,714 % 4,603 5 Gt7
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Cask aad cash equivalens of discontineed operations 14 (13 _

Cash and cash equivalents, end-of-period [ 2,700 [ 4466 % 517
Supplemental Data

Income taxes paid $ 1357 % 757 0% 565

Tnterest paid, net of capitalized interest (Nute 9) 5 275§ 214§ 184

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these financial staternents.
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Activity
Balence, December 31, 2016
Net Inceme
Orther comprehenstve income (loss)
Noncontrolling interests:
Dividends and other capital reductions
Additions {Reductions)
Redemption value adjustments (Note 15)
Duvidends {$3.15 per common share)
issuances of common stock:

For the dividend reinvestment and stoch
purchase plan

For employee savings and incentive
plans

Purchases of common stock
Share-based compensation
Balance, December 31, 2017
Net Income
(ther campiehensive 1ncome {loss)
Noncontrolling interests:
Dividends and other capital reductions
Additions (Reductions)
Redempnan value adjusrmenrs (Note 16)

Dividends ($3.2¢ per commaon share)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY
LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Dollur amounts in millions, except per share data, shares in thousands)

Linde plc Sharehalders’ Fquity

Accumulated Other
e "
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Ordinary shares Additional P Treasury Stock Linde phe
Paid-in Retained Income [Loss} Shareholders* Noncontralling
Amounts € apital Farnings (Note 9) Shares Amaounts Frpaity intarssrs Tatal F query
5 4 $ 4074 ) 12,879 {4,600) 98,330 § {7.336) § 5021 $ 420 3 5,441
1,247 1247 59 1,306
502 502 34 536
— (35) {33)
— 15 15
(1} 4] 1)
Han (901) {ou1y
(50) 7 7 7
(49 (1,839) 134 85 85
9 4y [38] 1}
59 59 59
$ 4 § 1084 1] 13,224 (4,098) 96,434 F {718 3 4,018 3 493 3 6,511
4,381 4,381 21 4,402
(265) (265) 59 (208)
- (49) {49)
{£27) (127) (186) (313)
3) 3 3)
(1,166) {1,156) (1,166)
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Linde p Sharcholders” Equity

Accamalated Uther
o P

Ordinary shares Additional Treasury Steck Linde ple
Paid-in Retained Inceme (L.oss) Sharcholders® Noncontrolling
Activity Shares Amounts Capual Eatnings (fNote 9) Shares AMoun(s Equity interests Lotal Equity
Lssuances of common stock:
For the dwvidend reinvestment and stock
purchase plan 31 5 5 5
For employee savings and incentive
plans 255 — (48) {1,109) 79 33 33
h. f
Purchases of common stock 4079 (30) (630) (630)
b, ati
Share-based compensation 62 2 &
Tax Act Reclassificauon (Note 7) % a3 3 (93) + —_ —
Impact of werger (Notes 3 and 16) 167,824 5 3) $ 36178 (95324) $ 713 € 43,288 $ 5,145 48,434
Balance. December 11, 2018 351310 s 1 £ 40151 5 16,529 + (4,430 4.069 5 (29) 5 51,506 b3 5,484 57.080
Net Income availabl i le sh ds
me available for Linde plc shareholders 2,85 2,285 54 2379
Gher o st
er comprehensive loss [358) (358 o (435
WNonconirolling, interests:
Thvidends and other capual reducnans _ (112) (132)
Additions (Reductions) - (Note 16) — (2.921) (2,921)
Redemption value adjustments (Note 16)
8} ) {8)
Divideads ($3.50 per common share;
¢ P ’ (1,881) (1,891) (1,881}
Tssuances of ordinary shares.
For the dividend reinvestment and stock
purchase plan
For employee savings 4nd incentve
plans 703 — 45 (73 770y 127 ] 9
Purchases of ordinary sh,
Ty Shares 14,333 (2.654) (2.659) (2,854)
Shave brased com At
ased compensation 95 95 a5
Balunce, December 31, 2019 552,013 % 1 $ 40,201 $ 16,842 $ {4,814) 17,632 $ (3.158) £ 49,074 k3 2,448 51,532

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LINDE PLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTE 1. FORMATION OF LINDE PLC AND BUSINESS COMBINATION OF PRAXAIR, INC. AND LINDE AG

Formation of Linde plc

Linde ple ("Linde" or “the company™), a public limited company incorporated in Ireland, was formed in accordance with the requirements of the
business combination agreement, dated as of June 1, 2017, as amended {the “business combination agreement”). Pursuant to the business comhination
agreement, among other things, Praxair, [nc., a Delaware corporation {“Praxair™}, and Linde Aktiengesellschaft, a stock corporation incorporated under the
laws of Germany (“Linde AG”), agreed to combine their respective businesses through an all-stock transaction, and become subsidiaries of the company
{collectively referred to as “business combination” or “merger”). On October 31, 2018, Linde completed the business combination. Prior to the business
combination, the company did not conduct any business activities other than those required for its formation and matters contemplated by the business
combination agreement.

Business Combination of Praxair, Inc. and Linde AG

The business combinatien has been accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with the provisions of the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 805, “Business Combinations”, with Praxair representing the accounting
acquirer, Pursuant to Rule 12g-3(a) under the Exchange Act, as of October 31, 2018, the company became the successor issuer to Praxair. Also, the Linde
shares are deemed to be registered under Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act, and the company is subject to the informational requirements of the Exchange
Act and the miles and regulations promulgated thereunder. The Linde shares wade on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") and the Frankfurt Stock
Exchange under the ticker symbo! “LIN”. Prior to the business combination, the Praxair shares were registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act
and listed on the NYSE. In connection with the completion of the business combination, the Praxair shares were suspended from trading on the NYSE as of
close of business (New York Time) on QOctober 30, 2018. On November 1, 2018, Praxair filed a Form 25 to de-list and de-register its three series of Euro-
denominated notes, including its 1.50%Notes due 2020, 1.20% Naotes due 2024 and 1.625% Notes due 2025, that were listed on the NYSE. Trading of the
Euro-denominated notes on the NYSE was suspended as of close of business (New York Time) on November 9, 2018, and Praxair filed a Form 15 with the
SEC terminating the registration under the Exchange Act of its securities and suspending Praxair’s reporting obligations under Section 15(d) of the Exchange
Act.

In connection with the business combination, the company, Praxair and Linde AG entered inte various agreements with regulatory authoerities to satisfy
anti-trust requirements to secure approval to consummate the business combination. These agreements included the sale ef the majority of Praxair’s European
businesses (completed on December 3, 2018), the majority of Linde AG’s Americas business (completed on March 1, 2019), select assets of Linde AG's
South Korean industrial gases business (completed April 30, 2019), select assets of Praxair's Indian industrial gases business (completed July 12, 2019), select
assets of Linde AG's Indian industrial gases business (completed December 16, 2019) as well as certain divestitures of other Praxair and Linde AG businesses
in Asia that are currently expected to be sold in 2020 (ccollectively, the “merger-related divestitures”), See Note 4 for additional information relating to
merger-related divestitures.

Addidonally, to obiain merger approval in the United States Linde, Praxair and Linde AG entered intc an agreement with the U5, Federal Trade
Commission ("FTC") dated October 1, 2018 (“hold separate order” or “HS(”). Under the HSO, the company, Praxair and Linde AG agreed to continue to
operate Linde AG and Praxair as independent, ongoing, economically viable, competitive businesses held scparate, distinct, and apart from each other’s
operations; and not coordinate any aspect of their operations until certain divestitures in the United States were completed. Accordingly, Linde had accounted
for Linde AG as a separate segment for 2018 reporiing purposes effective with the merger date. Prior to the merger date, the company’s Linde AG segment
did not exist, Since the FTC hold separate order restrictions were lifted effective March 1, 2019, the company subsequently implemented a new segment
structure as follows: Americas, EMEA (Europe/Middle Easv/Africa), APAC (Asia/South Pacific) and Engineering. This new management crganization
structure was implemented during the first quarter 2019 and, accordingly, segment information has been retrospectively recast for all prior periods. Refer to
Note 20 Segment Informatien for further details.

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Conselidation — The consolidated financial statements were prepared in conformity with accounting principles generdlly accepted in the
United States of America (" U.S. GAAP") and include the accounts of all significant subsidiaries where control exists and, in limited sitnaticns, variable-
interest entities where the company is the primary
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beneficiary. Intercompany transactions and balances are efiminated in consolidation and any significant related-party ransactions have been disclosed.

Equity investments generally consist of 20% to 50% owned operations where the company exercises significant influence, but does not have control.
Equity income from equity investments in corporations is reported on an after-tax basis. Pre-tax income from equity investments that are partnerships or
limited-liability cerporations ("LLC") is included in other income (expenses) — net with related taxes included in Income taxes. Equity investments are
reviewed for impairment whenever evenis or circumstances reflect that an impairment loss may have incurred.

Changes in ownership interest that result either in consolidation or deconsolidation of an investment are recorded at fair value through earnings,
including the retained ownership interest, while changes that do not result in either consclidation or deconsolidation of a subsidiary are treated as equity
transactions.

Use of Estimates — The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. While actual results could differ, management believes such estimates to be
reasonable.

Operations — Linde is the largest industrial gases company ghobally. The company produces, sells and distributes atmospheric, process and specialty
gases, and high-performance surface coatings to a diverse group of industries inclnding aerospace, chemicals, food and beverage, electronics, energy,
healthcare, manufacturing, and metals. Linde’s Engineering business offers its customers an extensive range of gas production and processing services
including suppling plant components and services directly to customers.

Revenue Recognition — Effective January 1, 2018, Linde adopted the FASB's Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-09 ("ASC 606") reladng to
Revenue Recognition. Revenue is recognized as contwal of goods or services are wansferred to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to
which an entity expects to be entitled to receive in exchange for the goods or services. See Note 21 for additional details regarding Linde's revenue
recognition policies. The adeption of ASC 606 resulted in no differences in revenue recognition compared to previous policies.

Cash Equivalents — Cash equivalents are consideted to be highly liquid securities with original maturities of three months or less.
Inventories — Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined using the average-cost method,

Property, Plont ond Equipment — Net — Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost, net of accurnulated depreciation. The company capitalizes
interest as part of the cost of constructing major facilities (see Note 10). Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method based on the estimated useful
lives of the assets, which range from 3 vears to 40 years (see Note 10). Linde uses accelerated depreciation methods for tax purposes where appropriate.
Maintenance of property, plant and equipment is generally expensed as incurred.

The company performs a test for impaitment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an individual asset or
asset group may not be recoverable. Should projected undiscounted future cash flows be less than the carrying amount of the asset or asset group, an
impairment charge reducing the carrying amount to fair value is required. Fair value is determined based on the most apprepriate valvation technigue,
including discounted cash flows.

Asset-Retirement Obligations — An asset-retirement abligation is recognized in the periad in which sufficient information exists to determine the fair
value af the liability with a corresponding increase to the carrying amount of the related property, plant and equipment which is then depreciated over its
usefud life. [he Lability is initially measured at discounted fair value and then accrefinn expense is recorded in each subsequent period. The company’s asset-
retirement obligations are primarily associated with its on-site long-term supply arrangements where the company has buil: a facility on land leased from the
cusiomer and is nbligated to remove the facility at the end of the contract term. The campany's asset-retirement obligations are not material to its conselidated
financial statements,

Foreign Currency Translation — For most foreign aperations, the local cuirency is the fuactioaal curcency and wansiation gains and losses are reported
as part of the accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) component of equity as a cumulative translation adjustment (see Note 9).

Financial Insiruments - Linde enters into various derivative {inancial instruments to manage its exposure to fluctuating interest rates, currency
exchange rates, commodity pricing and energy costs. Such instruments primarily include interest-rate swap and treasury rate lock agreements; currency-swap
agreements; forward contracts; cusrency opticns; and commodity-swap agreements. These instruments are aot entered into for trading purposes. Linde only
uses commonly traded and non-leveraged instruments.
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There are three types of derivatives the company enters into: (i} those relating to fair-value exposures, (ii} those relating to cash-flow exposures, and
(iii) those relating to foreign currency net investment exposures. Fair-value exposures relate to recognized assets or liabilities, and firm commitments; cash-
flow exposures relate to the variability of future cash flows assaciated with recognized assets or liabilities, or forecasted ransactions; and net investment
exposures relate to the impact of foreign currency exchange rate changes on the carrying value of net assets denominated in foreign currencies.

When a derivative is executed and hedge accounting is appropriate, it is designated as either a fair-value hedge, cash-Bow hedge, or a net investment
hedge. Currently, Linde designates all interest-rate and treasuty rate locks as hedges for accounting purposes; however, currency contracts are generally not
designated as hedges for accounting purposes unless they are related to forecasted transactions. Whether designated as hedges for accounting purposes or not,
all derivatives are linked to an appropriate underlying exposure. On an ongoing basis, the company assesses the hedge effectivenass of all derivatives
designated as hedges for accounting purposes to determine if they continue to be highly effective in offsetting changes in fair vatues or cash flows of the
underlying hedged items. If it is determined that the hedge is not highly effective, then hedge accounting will be discontinued prespectively.

Changes in the fair value of derivatves designated as fair-value hedges are recognized in camings as an offset to the change in the fair values of the
uederlying exposures being hedged. The changes in fair value of derivatives that are designated as cash-flow hedges are deferred in accumulated other
comprehensive income (lnss) and are reclassified to earnings as the underlying hedged transaction affects earnings. Provided the hedge remains highly
effective, any ineffectiveness is deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and are reclassified to earnings as the underlying hedged
transaction affects earnings. Hedges of net investments in foreign subsidiaries are recognized in the cumulative translation adjustment component of
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) on the consolidated balance sheets to offset translation gains and losses associated with the hedged net
investment. Derivatives that are entered into for risk-mmanagement purposes and are not designated as hedges {primarily related to anticipated net income and
curency derivatives other than for firm commitments) are recorded at their fair market values and recognized in current earnings.

See Note 14 for additional information relating to financial instruments.

Goodwill — Acquisitions are accounted for using the acquisition method which requires allocation of the purchase price to assets acquired and liabilities
assumed based on estimated fair values. Any excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired is recorded as goodwill.
Allocations of the purchase price are based on preliminary estimates and assumptions at the date of acquisition and are subject to revision based on final
information received, including appraisals and other analyses which support underlying estimates.

The company performs a goodwill impairment test annually or more frequenty if events or circumstances indicate that an impairment loss may have
been incurred. During the fourth guarter of fiscal year 2019, the company changed the date of its annual goodwill impairment test trom April 30 to October 1.
The change was made to more closely align the impairment testing date with the company’s planning process.

The impairment test allows an entity to first assess qualitative factors to determine if it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is
less than carrying value. If it is determined that it is more likely thar not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than carrying value then the company
will estimate and compare the fair value of its reporting units w their carrying value, including goodwill. Reporting units are determined based on one level
below the operating segment level. In estimating the fair value of each reporting unit, management applied a multiple of earnings from a peer group to the
company’s forecasted earnings for the year ending December 31, 2019. The peer group is comprised of comparable entities with similar gperations and
economic characteristics.

See Notes 3 and 11 for additional information relating to goodwill,

Other Intangible Assets — Other intangibie assets, primarily customer relationships and brands/tradenames, are amartized over the estimated period of
benefit. The determination of the estimated period of benefit will be dependent upon the use and underlying characteristics of the intangible asset. Linde
evaluates the recoverability of its intangible assets subject to amortization when facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the asset may not
be recoverable. If the carrying value is not recoverable, impairment is measured as the amount by which the carrying value exceeds its estimated fair value.
Fair value is generally estimated based on either appraised value or other valuation technigues. Indefinite lived intangible assets related to the Linde brand are
evaluated for impairment oa an annual basis or more frequentdy if events or circumstances indicate an impairntent loss may have occurred.

See Notes 3 and 12 for additional information relating to other intangible assets.

Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operaiions — Assets held for sale, as well as liabilities directly related to these assets, are classified separately
in the cansolidated balance sheets as held for sale if the requirements of the FASB’s Accounting Standards Cedification (*ASC”) 360, Property, Plant and
Equipment, are satisfied. The main requirements of
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ASC 360 are: (1} management having the authority to approve the action has committed to a plan to sell the assets and an active program to locate a buyer has
been initiated, (ii) the assets are available for sale in their present condition at a reasonable market price, and (iii) a sale within the next twelve months is
probable. Assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Amortization and depreciation has
been discontinued. The process invelved in determining the fair value less costs to sell involves estimates and assumptions that are subject to uncertainty.

Discantinued operations are reparted as soon as a business is classified as held for sale, or has already been disposed of, and when the business w0 e
disposed of represents a strategic shift that has (or will have) a major effect on the company's eperations and financial results. Businesses acquired with the
intent of divesting are also required to be yeporied as discontinved operations, The profittoss from discontinued operations is reported separately from the
expenses and income from continuing operations in the consolidated statements of income. In the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows from
discontinued operations are shown separately from the cash flows from continuing operations. The information provided in the Notes relates to continuing
operations. If the information relates exclusively to discontinued operations, this is highlighted accordingly.

See Note 4 for additiona) inlormation relating to assets held for sale and discontinued operations.

Income Taxes — Deferred income taxes are recorded for the temporary difflerences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liahilities
using currently enacted tax rates. Valuation allowances are established against deferred tax assets whenever circumstances indicate that it is more likely than
not that such assets will not he realized in future periods.

Under the guidance for accounting for uncertainty in income taxes, the company can recognize the benefit of an income tax position anly if it is more
likely than not {greater than 50%) that the 1ax position will be sustained upon tax examination, based salely on the technical merits of the tax position.
Otherwise, no benefit can be recegnized. The tax benefits recognized are measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being
realized upon ultimate settlement. Additionally, the company accrues interest and related penalties, if applicable, on all tax exposures for which reserves have
been established consistent with jurisdictional tax laws. interest and penalties are classified as income tax expense in the financial statements.

See Note 7 for addirional information relating to income taxes, including the 1.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act enacted in December 2017,

Retirement Benefits — Most Linde employees participate in a form of defined benefit or contribution retirement plan, and additionally certain
employees are eligible to participate in various post-employment health care and life insurance benefit plans. The cost of coniribution plans is recognized int
the year earned while the cost of other plans is recognized over the employees” expected service period to the company, all in accordance with the applicable
accounting standards. The funded statws of the plans is recorded as an asset or liability in the consolidated balance sheets. Funding of retirement benefits
varies and is in accordance with local laws and practices.

See Nate 18 for additional information relating to retirement programs.

Share-based Compensation— The company has historically granted share-based awards which consist of stock options, restricted stock and
performance-based stock. Share-based compensation expense is generally recognized on a straight-line basis over the stated vesting period. For stock awards
granted to full-retirement-eligible employees, compensation expense is recognized over the period from the grant date to the date reticement eligibility is
achieved. For performance-based awards, compensation expense is recognized only if it is prabable that the performance condition wilt be achieved.

See Note 17 for additional disclosures relating to share-hased compensation.
Reclassifications — Certain prior ycars’ amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.

Segment Presentation Change - As a result of the merger and effective with the lifting of the hold separate order in March 2019, new reportahle
segments were implemented. The new segments are: Americas, EMEA (Europe/Middle East/Africa), APAC (Asia/South Pacific); and Engineering. All
periods presented were recast to conform 1o the new segment sbiucture. See Note 20.
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Recently Issued Accounting Standards

Accounting Standards Implemented in 2019

Leases — In February 2016, the FASB issued updated guidance on the accounting and financial statement presentation of leases. The new
gutdance requires lessees to recognize a right-of-use asset and lease liability for all leases, except those that meet certain scope exceptions,
and requires expanded quantitative and qualitative disclosures. This guidance is effective beginning in 2019 and requires companies Lo
transition using a modified retrospective approach. Linde has applied the practical expedient which allows prospective transition to the new
lease accountng standard on January 1, 2019, The company elected the package of practical expedients relating to the reassessment of the
lease portfolio pertaining to (i) whether expiring or existing contracts contain lease companents, (i) lease classification under ASC 842 and
(iii) whether initial direct costs were capitalized under ASC 840. The company further implemented internal controls and key system
funcrionality te enable the preparation of financial information on adoption.

The standard had an immaterial impact on our consolidated balance sheets and consolidated income statements, The most significant impact
was the recognition of right of use ("ROU™) assets and lease liabilities for operating leases, while the accounting for finance leases remained
substantially unchanged. The company recognized both right of use assets and lease liabilities of $1.2 billion upon adoption. The adoptien of
the new lease accounting standard had no impact on retained earnings (See Note 6}.

Derivatives and Hedging - In August 2017, the FASB issued updaled gnidance on accounting for hedging activities. The new guidance
simplifies hedge effectiveness documentation requirements, changes both the designation and measurement for qualifying hedging
relationships and the presentation of hedge results, This guidance was effective for the company beginning in the first quarter of 2019. The
adoption of the standard had an immaterial impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Accountiing Standards to be Impiemented

Credit Losses on Financial Instruments — In June 2016, the FASB issited an update on the measurement of credit losses. The guidance
introduces a new accounting model for expected credit losses on financial instruments, including trade receivables, based on estimates of
current expected credit losses. This guidance will be effective for the company beginning in the first quarter 2020 and reguires companies to
apply the change in accounting on a prospective basis. The company is currenily evaluating the impact this update will have on the
consolidated financial statements and does not expect this guidance to have a material impact.

Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment — Lo January 2017, the FASB issued updated guidance on the measurement of goodwill. The
new guidance eliminates the requirement {o calculate the implied fair value of goodwill to measure a goodwill impairment charge, The
guidance will be effective for the company beginning in the first quarter 2020 with early adoption permitted, The company does not expect
this guidance to have a material impact.

Fair Value Measurement Disclosures - In August 2018, the FASB issued guidance that modifies the disclosure requirements fer fair value
measurements, The guidance is effective in fiscal year 2020, with early adoption permitted. Certain amendments must be applied
prospectively while other amendments must be applied retrospectively. The company is evaluating the impact this guidance will have on the
disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Retirement Benefit Disclosures - In August 2018, the FASB issued guidance that modifies the disclosure requirements for employers that
sponsor defined benefit pension or other postretirement benefit plans. The guidance is effective in fiscal year 2021, with early adoption
permitted, and must be applied on a retrospective basis. The company ts evatuating the impact this guidance will have on the disclosures in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTE 3. BUSINESS COMBINATION
Merger of Praxair, Inc. and Linde AG

As described in Note &, on October 31, 2018 Praxair and Linde AG combined their respective businesses through an all-stock transaction and became
subsidiaries of the company.

In connection with the business combination, each share of common stock of Praxair par value $0.01 per share, (excluding any shares held in treasury
immediately prior to the effective time of the merger, which were automaticaliy canceled and retired for no consideration) was converted into one ordinary
share, par value €0.001 per share, of Linde plc. Additdonally, each tendered share of common stock of Linde AG was converted into 1.54 ordinary shares of
Linde ple.

As provided in the business combination agreement, at the effective time of the business combination cutstanding Praxair stock options and other equity
awards were generally converted into stock aptions and equity awards on a 1:1 basis with respect to Linde shares. Outstanding Linde AG share-based
compensation awards were either settled in cash (for the portion vested), or were converted into similar stock options and equity awards with respect to Linde
shares (for the portion unvested), after giving effect to the 1.54 exchange ratio. See Notes 16 and 17 for additiondl infoimation.

Allocation of Purchase Price

In accordance with the FASB's ASC 805, "Business Combinations”, Praxair was determined to be the accounting acquirer. As such, the company has
applied the acquisition method of accounting with respect i the identifiable assets and liabilities of Linde AG, which have been measured ar fair value as of
the date of the business combination.

In accordance with the business combinatipn agreement, Linde AG shareholders that accepted the exchange offer received Linde shares in exchange for
Linde AG shares at an exchange rativ of 1.54 Linde shares for each Linde AG share. Becanse Praxair is the accounting acguirer, the fair value of the equity
issued by Linde plc to Linde AG shareholders in the exchange transaction was determined by reference to the market price of Praxair shares. Accordingly, the
purchase consideration below reflects the estimated fair value of the 92% of Linde AG shares tendered and Linde shares issued in exchange for those Linde
AG shares, which is based on the final closing price of Praxair shares prior to the effective time of the merger on October 31, 2018 of $164.50 per share.

The purchase price and fair value of Linde AG's net assets acquired as of the merger date on October 31, 2018 is presented as follaws:

(in thausands, except value per share data, 1inde AG exchange ratio, and purchase price}

Linde AG coiumon stack tendered as of October 31, 2018 (i} 170,875 Shares i
Business combination agyeement exchange ratio (ii) 1.54:1 '
Linde plc ordinary shares issued in exchange for Linde AG 263,148
Peg share price of Praxair, [nc. common stock iiij $164.50 |
Purchase price (millions of dollars) $43,288

i) Number ot Linde AG shares tendered in the 2017 Fxchange Offer.
(i) Exchange ratio for Tinde AG shares as set torth in the business combination agreement.

(iii)  Closing price of Praxair shares on the New York Stock Exchange prior (o the effective time of the business combination
on October 31, 2018,

10 accordance with ASC 805, Linde AG's assets and liabilities were measured ar fair value at October 31, 2018, primarily using Level 3 inputs except
debt which was Level 1. Fair value represents management's best estimate of assumptions abaut future events and uncertainties, including significant
judgments related 1o future cash flows (sales, costs, customer antrition rates, and contributory asset charges), discount rates, competitive trends, market
comparables, and others. Inputs used were generally obtained from historical daia supplemented by current and anticipated market conditions and growth
rates.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, Linde made measurement period adjustments to reflect facts and circumstances in existence as of the effective
date of the Merger. The more significant measurement period adjustments made reflect: the agreed upon sale price of Linde AG’s Korean business resulting
in an increase to assets held for sale and comesponding decrease to goodwill of $344 million; an adjustment to the sale value of the Linde AG Americas
businesses resulting in a decrease to assets held for sale and corresponding increase to goodwill of $211 million; refinement in the
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valuation of other intangible assets resulting in an increase to intangible asset values and corresponding decrease 10 goodwill of $657 million; refinement in
the valuation of property, plant and eguipment resulting in a decrease to praperty, plant and equipment and corresponding increase to goodwill of $407
million; an increase to deferred income taxes witl a corresponding increase to goodwill of $276 million; and an increase to the fair value of noncontrolling
interest with a corresponding increase to goodwill of $222 million. The net impact of these and other less significant adjustments made during the twelve
month period resulted in a net increase of $110 million to goodwill. The valuation process to determine the fair values is complete. The following table
summarizes the final allocation of purchase price to the identifiable assets acquired and liabilidies assumed by Linde, with the excess of the purchase price
over the fair value of Linde AG’s net assets recorded as goodwill,

Miilions of doliars Fair Value
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,360
Accounts receivable — net 2,857
Inventories 1,439
Assets held for sale 5,375
Prepaid and other current assets 1,251
Property, plant and equipment 18,974
Equity investments 1,521
Goodwill 24,256
Other intangible assets 16,250
Other long-term assets 805
Total Assets Acquired $ 74,088
Less: Liabilities Assumed
Accounts payable $ 3,360
Short-tenm debt 1,177
Current portion of long-term debt 1,864
Accrued taxes 139
Liabilities of assets held for sale 676
Other current liabilities 3,058
Long-term debt 5,295
Cther long-term liabilities 2,009
Deferred credits, including deferred income taxes 6,834
Total Liabilitics Assumed $ 25,432
Less: Redeemable noncontrolling interests 92
Less: Noncontrolling interests 5,278
Purchase Price (i) $ 43,288

(iy  See above for the calculation of the purchase price.

Summary of Significant Fair Value Methods

The metheds used to determine the fair value of significant identifiable assets and liabilities included in the allocation of purchase price are discussed
below.

Inventories

Acquired inventory is comprised of finished goods, work in process and raw materials. The fair value of finished goods was calculated as the estimated
selling price, adjusted for costs of the selling effort and a reasenable profit allowance relating to the selling effort. The fair value of work in process inventory
was primarily calculated as the estimated selling price, adjusted for estimated costs to complete the manufacturing, estimated costs of the selling effort, as
well as a reasonable profit
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margin on the remaining manufacturing and selling effort. The fair value of raw materials and supplies was determined based on replacement cost which
approximates historical carrying value. The fair valoe step-up of inventories is being recognized in “Cost of sales” as the inventory is sold.

Assets keld for sale and Liabilities of assets held for sale

As described in Note 1, as a condition of the European Commission ("EC"), the U.S. Department of Justice ("IDOJ"), and other governmental regulatory
authorities approval of the merger, Linde plc, Praxair and Linde AG were required to divest various businesses in Europe, the Americas and Asia. The fair
value of these businesses has been determined based on the estimated net selling prices or sales agreements. See Note 4 for further information on merger-
related divestitures.

Property, Plant and Equipment

The fair value of praperty, plant and equipment was primarily calculated using replacement costs adjusted for the age and condition of the asset, and is
summarized below:

Property, plant and equipment ("PP&E") {in milliens)

Production plants 3 10,358
Storage tanks 1,807
Transportation equipment and other 543
Cylinders 2,487
Buildings 1,953
Land and improvements 677
Censtruction in progress 1,149
Fair value of PP&E 3 18,974

Identifiable Intangible Assets

The fair value of identifiable intangible assets is summarized below:

‘Weighted Average
Amartization Period
(in years) (i millions)

Identifiable intangible assets

Customer relationships 29 $ 12,550

Linde brand Indefinite 1,868

Brands/Tradenames 28 845

Qther intangibles 18 987
Fair value of identifiable intangible assets 28 $ 16,250

B

The fair value for all other identifiable intangible assets is based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset, based on the
most advantageous market for the asset (i.e., its highest and best nse),

The fair valve of the customer relaionships intangible asset was valved using a multi-period excess eamnings methed, a form of the income appreach,
which incorporates the estimated future cash flows to be generared from Linde AG’s existing custemer base. Excess earnings are the earnings remaining after
deducting the market rates of return on the estmated values of contributory assets, including debi-free ner working capital, tangible assets, and other
identifiable intangible assets. The excess earnings are thereby calculated for each year of multi-year projection periods and discounted to present value.

Other intangibles primarily includes acquired technology. Linde brand, brands/tradenames and other intangibles were valued using the relief from
royalty method under the income approach; this method estimates the cost savings generated by a company related to the ownership of an asset for which it
would otherwise have had to pay royaltes or license fees on revenues earmed through the use of the asset and discounted o present value.

Pension and Other Postretirement Liabilities
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Linde recognized a pretax net liability representing the unfunded portion of Linde AG’s defined-benefit pension and other postretirement benefit
("OPEB"} plans. Refer to Note 18 for further information on pensions and OPEB arrangements.

Long-Term Debt
The fair value for long-term debt was primarily obtained from third party quotes, as the majority of the Linde AG bond portfolio is publicly traded.
Deferred Income Tax Assets and Liabilities

The deferred income tax assets and liabilities include the expected future federal, state and foreign tax consequences associated with temporary
differences between the preliminary fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed and the respective tax bases. Tax rates utilized in calculating
deferred income taxes generally represent the enacted statutory tax rates at the effective date of the merger in the jurisdictions in which legal dtle of the
underlying asset or liability resides.

Refer to Note 7 for further information related to income taxes.
Noncontrolling Interests

Nonconwolling interests include the fair value of noncontrolling interests of Linde AG, including approximately $3.2 billion relating to the 8% of Linde
AG shares which were not tendered in the Exchange Offer and were the subject of a cash-merger squeeze-cut. The company’s wholly-owned indirect
substdiary, Linde Intermediate Holding AG ("Linde Holding™), which direcdy owns the 92% of Linde AG shares acquired in the Exchange Offer, determined
the adequate cash compensaticn to be paid to the 8% remaining Linde AG minority shareholders in exchange for the transfer of their Linde AG shares for
each Linde AG share. The cash-merger squeeze-out was approved by the shareholders of Linde AG at an exraordinary shareholders meeting of Linde AG on
December 12, 2018 and cornpleted on April 8, 2019. The remaining noncontrolling interests relate to the fair valne of historic noncoatrolling interests of
Linde AG and its subsidiaries.

Equity Investmerits
The fair value of equity investments was determined using a discounted cash flow approach.
Other Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed (excluding Goodwill)

Linde utilized the carrying values, net of allowances, to value accounts and notes receivable and accounts payable as well as other current assets and
liabilities as it was determined that carrying values represented the fair value of those items at the merger date.

Goodwill

The excess of the consideration for the merger over the preliminary fair value of net assets acquired was recorded as goudwill. The merger resulted in
the recognition of $24,256 million of goodwill, which is not deductible for tax purposes. The geodwill balance is primarily attributed to the assembled
workforce, expanded market opportunities and cost and other operating synergies anticipated upon the integration of the operations of Praxair and Linde AG.

Results of Linde AG Operations in 2018

The results of operations of Linde AG have been included in the company's consolidated statements of income since the merger. The following table
provides Linde AG “Sales” and “Income (loss) from continuing operations” ircluded in the company's results for the period November 1 through December
31, 2018.

Mitlions of dolars

Linde AG Results of Operations
Sales $ 2,873
Income (loss} from continuing operations™* $ (385)

November 1, - December 31,

* Includes net charges of $451 million related to the impacts of purchase accounting.

Unaudited Pro Forma Information - 2018 and 2017
Linde's unaudited pro forma results presented below were prepared pursuant to the requirements of ASC 805 and give effect to the merger as if it had
been consummated on January 1, 2017. The pro forma results have been prepared for comparative purposes only, and do not necessarily represent what the

revenue or results of operations would have been had the merger been completed or Janwary 1, 2017. In addition, these results are not intended to be a
projection of future operating results and do not reflect synergies that might be achieved.
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The unaudited pro forma results include adjustments for the preliminary purchase accounting impact (including, but ot limited to, depreciation and
amortization associated with the acquired tangible and intangible assets, amortization of the fair value adjustment to investment in nonconsolidated affiliates,
and reduction of interest expense related to the fair value adjustment to long-term debt along with the related tax and non-controlling interest impacts), the
aligmment of accoumting pelicies, adjustments due to IFRS compliant reparting canversion to U.S. GAAP and the elimination of transactions between Praxair
and Linde AG.

The unaudited pro forma results for all periods presented below exclude the results of operations of the Linde AG merger-related divestitures (See Note
4) as these divestitures are reflected as discontinued operations. The Praxair merger-related divestitures (See Note 4} are included in the results from
continuing operations, including the results from Praxair's European business threugh the disposition date of December 3, 2018, in the unaudited pro forma
results presented below, for all periods presented, as these divestitures do not gualify for discontinued operations.

The unaudited pro forma results are summarized below:

Milligns of dotlars _ 2018 ‘ 2017
Sales (a) $ 29,774 § 28,449
Income from contituing operations $ 4,733 3 871

(a) Includes sales from Praxair's merger-related divestitures of $1,625 million and $1,553 mitlion far the years ended December 31, 2018 and
2017, respectively.

Significant nonrecurring amouats reflected in the pro forma results are as follows:

A 53,294 million gain ($2,923 million after tax) was recorded in the fourth quarter 2018 as a result of the divestiture of Praxair's European industrial
gases business and is included in the December 31, 2018 pro forma income from continuing operations.

From January 1, 2017 through December 31, 2018, Praxair, Inc. and Linde AG collectvely incurred pre-tax costs of $736 million (3680 million after
tax) to prepare for and close the merger. These merger costs were reflected within the results of operations in the pro forma results as if they were incurred on
January 1, 2017. Any costs incurred related ro merger-related divestisures and integration and 1o prepare for the intended business separations were reflecred
i the pro forma results in the period in which they were incurred.

The company incurred pre-tax charges of $368 million ( $279 million after tax) and $10 million ($8 million atter tax) in 2018 related to the fair value
step-up of inventories acquired and sold as well as a pension setttement due to the payout to certain participants as a result of change in control provisions
within a U.S. nonguatified pension plan, respectively, The 2018 pro forma results were adjusted to exclude these charges. The pro forma results for 2017 were
adjusted to include these charges, as well as charges incurred subsequent to December 31, 2018 but less than a year from the date of the merger of $13 million
($10 million after tax) relaied to the remaining fair value step-up of inventaries to be sotd and 351 million ($40 million after tax) rclated to an additional
pension settiement within the U.S. nonqualified pension plan that cccurred in the first quarter of 2019 upon payment. See Note 18 for further information
relating to the U.5. nonqualified pension plan settlements.

2019 & 2018 Non-Merger Related Acquisitions

Non-merger related acquisitions of $225 million during the year ended December 31, 2019 and $25 million during the year ended December 31, 2018,
largely in the Americas, are nct material, individualiy or in the aggregate.

2017 Acquisitions

During the year ended December 31, 2017, Linde had acquisitions totaling $33 million, primarily acquisitions of packaged gas businesses and a carbon
dioxide joint venture in North America.
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NOTE 4. MERGER-RELATED DIVESTITURES, DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND NET ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

As described in Note 1, as a condition of the Fuwupean Counnission ("EC™), the U.S. Deparunent of Jusuce ("DOJ"), and other governmental regulatory
authorities approval of the merger, Linde plc, Praxair and Linde AG were required to divest the following businesses:

Praxair Merger-Related Divestitures - Primarily Eurepean Industrial Gases Business

As a condition of the EC regulatory approval of the merger transaction, Praxair agreed to sell the majority of its industrial gases business in Europe. The
sale was completed on December 3, 2018,

+  The Sacieta [taliana Acetilene e Derivati $.p.A. ("SIAD") Sale and Purchase Agreement dated December 5, 2017 whereby Praxair agreed,
inter alia, to sell its 34% non-controlling participation in its Italian joint venture SIAD to its joint venture partner Flow Fin in exchange tor
Flow Fin’s 40% non-controlling participation in Praxair’s majority-owned Italian joint venture, Rivoira S.p.A., and cash payment of a net
purchase price of €90 million ($102 million as of October 31, 2018) by Praxair to Flow Fin. This transaction was completed on October 31,
2018, and;

«  The Praxair Europe Sale and Purchase Agreement dated July 5, 2018 pursuant to which Praxair sold the majority of its European businesses
1o Tailyo Nippon Sanso Corporation for €5,000 million in cash consideration (35,700 million at Pecember 3, 2018), reduced by estimated
normal closing adjusunents of €86 million (596 million). These transactions were completed on December 3, 2018,

In connection with these transactions, in 2018 the company recognized a net pre-tax gain of $3,294 million ($2,923 million after tax) in the consolidated
statements of income and related to the EMEA segment.

The net carrying value of Praxair’s European business assets and liabilities divested on December 3, 2018 is presented below:
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Milligns of dollars Carrying Value

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 38
Accounts receivable —net 311
Inventories 67
Prepaid and other current assets 22
Property, plant and equipment — net 1,342
Equity investments 234
Goodwill 620
Other intangible assets — net 115
Other long-term assets 36
Total Assets Divested $ 2,785
Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 215
Accrued taxes 27
Other current liabilites 111
Long-term debt 2
Other long-term liabilities 92
Deferred credits 174
Total Liabilities Divested 5 621
Noncontrolling interests $ 200
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Pension/OPERB funded status obligation, net of taxes (&)
Cumulative ranslation adjusment, net of taxes (318)
Net Assets Divested $ 2,290

Additionally, to satsfy regulatory requirements in other jurisdictions, Praxair agreed to sclt certain operations in Chile, China, India and South Korea. The
Chilean business was sold as part of the Linde AG Americas SPA (as defined below), the select Indian assets were sold in July 2019, and other sales are
expecied in 2020. Effecive October 22, 2018, the date of final regulatory approvals, these businesses have been accounted for as assets held for sale on the
consnlidated balance sheets. These businesses were evaluated for disconzinued pperations accounting treatment under 1.S. GAAP and it was determined that
they did not meet the definition of a discontinued operation as these transactions did not represent a strategic shift with a major effect, after considering the
impact of the merger.

The sale of the sclect Indian assets was completed on July 12, 2019 with a sale price of $218 million and resulted in a gain of $164 million recognized in "Net
gain on sale of businesses” in the consolidated statements of income.,

Linde AG Merger-Related Divestitures - Primarily Americas Industrial Gases Business

As a condition of the U.S. regulatory approval of the merger, Linde AG agreed to sell the majority of its industrial gases business in the Americas, as
described below:

+  The Linde AG Americas Sales and Purchase Agreement, dated July 16, 2018, as and further amended on September 22, 2018, October 19,
2018, and February 20, 2019 whereby Linde AG and Praxair, Inc. entered into an agreement with a consortium comprising companies of
the German industrial gases manufacturer Messer Group and CVC Capital Partiers Fund VII to sell the majority of Linde AG's industriat
gases business in North America and certain industrial gases business activities of Linde AG's in South America for $2.9 billion in cash
consideration after purchase price adjustments for certain jtems relating (o assets and liabilities of the sold businesses. In addition,
divestitures include $0.5 billion of proceeds for incremental plant sales within the Americas under other agreements. These transactions
were completed an March 1, 2019,
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+  On April 30, 2019, Linde completed the sale of select assets of Linde Korea to IMM Private Equity Inc., to satisfy requirements of the
Korea Fair Trade Commission. The assets divested include bulk and on-site business in Giheung, Pohang and Seosansites as well as oxygen
and nitrogen on site gencrators, The sale piice of $1.2 billion 1s subject to custemary adjustments,

+  On December 16, 2019, Linde completed the sale of select assets of Linde India with a sale price of $193 million,

The net carrying value of Linde AG's Americas business assets and lahilities divested on March 1, 2019 is presented below:

Mittions of doflurs Carrying Value
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 200
Accounts receivable — net 479
Inventories 181
Prepaid and other current assets 409
Property, plant and equipment — net 1,590
Equity investments 37
Goodwill 3
Other intangible assets — net 10
Other long-term assets 76
Asset adjustments for estimated fair value 1,650
Total Assets Divested $ 4,635
Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 94
Accrued taxes 60
Other current liabilities 767
Lonrg-term debt 2
Other long-term liabilities 98
Deferred credits 177
Total Liabilities Divested $ 1,198
Cumulative translation adjustment, net of taxes 12
Net Assets Divested $ 3,449
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The net castying value of Linde AG's South Korean business assets and liabilities divested on April 30, 2019 is presented below:

Millions of dofigrs Carrying Value
Assets
Accounts recejvable — net $ 27
Inventories 16
Property, plant and eqnipment — net 389
Asset adjustmoents for estimated fair value 879
Toral Assets Divested $ 1,311
Liabilities
Accounts payable 3 2
Arcrued taxes 12
Other current liabiities 29
Long-term debt 6
Other long-term liabilities 3
Deferred credits 31
Total Liabilities Divested $ 83
Net Assets Divested 5 1,228

Discontinued Operations

Only the sales of the Linde AG merger-related divestitures meet the criteria for discontinued operations, Praxair merger-related divestitures do not
qualify as discontinued operations. As such, operations related to the Linde AG merger-related divestitures are included within Income from discontinued
operations, net of tax for periods subsequent to the merger, as sumunarized below:

November 1, - December 31,

Milhons of doltlars 2019

Net sales $ 449 § 388

Cost of sales 251 173

Other operating costs 43 90

Operating prafit 5 155 $ 125

Income from equity investmenis 8 1

Income taxes 54 9

Income from discontinued operations, net of tax $ 109 % 117

Nencontrelling interests (7) [E))
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax and noncontrolling interests 3 102 $ 108

For the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 there were no material amounts of capital expenditures or significant operating or investing non-cash
items related to discontinued operatians.

Net Assets Held for Sale
Net assets held for sale includes both the Linde AG merger-related divestitures that meet the criteria for discontinued operations and the Praxair merger-
related divestitures that do not. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the following assets and liabilities are reported as components of the net assets held for

sale i the consolidated balance sheets:
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Mitlions of doflgrs Devember 21, 2010 December 11, 2018
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 3 4% 182
Accounts receivable — net 2 297
Inventories — 209
Prepaid and other current assets — 54
Property, plant and equipment — net 1 2,005
Other Assets 43 187
Asset adjustments for estimated fair value (Note 3) 75 2,564
Total Assets Classified as Assets Held for Sale 3 125 % 5,498
Liabilities
Accounts payable 2 125
Deferred credits — 206
Other liabilities — 437
Total Liabilities Classified as Assets Held for Sale 2 768
Net Assets Classified as Held for Sale $ 123 % 4,730

NOTE 5. COST REDUCTION PROGRAMS AND OTHER CHARGES
2019 Charges

Cost reduction programs and other charges were $567 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 ($444 million, after-tax and nencontrolling
interests). The following is a summary of the pre-tax charges by reportable segment for the year
ended December 31, 2019.

Year Ended December 31, 2019

. Other cost reduc tion redu;:rl?::ll ;(r);(grdm Transaction related

(millions of dollars} Severance costs charges related charges and other charges Total

Americas $ 3% S 20 56 34 % a0
EMEA 105 16 121 21 142
APAC 46 10 50 72 122
Engineering 1 12 13 9) 4
Other 22 42 b4 145 209
Total % 204 3 100 & 304 S 263 3 567

Cost Reduction Programs
Total cost reduction program related charges were $304 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 ($233 million after-tax).
Severance costs

Severance costs of $204 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 are for the elimination of approximately 2,400 posidons, largely in EMEA, APAC,
and the Americas, of which approximately 1,500 have terminated employment at December 31, 2019. The majority of these actions are anticipated to be
completed within the next 12 months.

Other cost reduction charges

Other cost reduction charges of $100 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 are primarily charges related to the execution of the company's
synergistic actions including location consolidations and business rationalization projects, software and process harmonization, and associated non-recurring
Costs.

Transaction Related ond Other Charges

On October 31, 2018, Praxair and Linde AG combined under Linde plc, as contemplated by the business combination agreement {see Note 1). Linde incurred
merger-related costs and other charges which totaled $263 million ($211 million, after tax and noncontrolling interests) for the year ended December 31,
2019. 2019 includes other charges for an asset impairment related to a joint venture in APAC of approximately $73 million ($42 million, after tax and
noncontrolling interests) resulting from an unfavorable arbitration ruling.

Cash Requirements

The total cash requirements of the cost reduction program and other charges during the twelve months ended December 31, 2019 are estimated to be
approximately $460 million, of which $260 million was paid through December 31, 2019. Total cost reduction programs and other charges, net of payments
in the consolidated statements of cash flows for the twelve months erded December 31, 2019 also reflects the impact of cash payments of liabilities, included
merger-related tax liabilities, accrued as of December 31, 2018.

The following table summarizes the activities related to the company's cost reduction related charges for the twelve months ended December 31, 2019:



Tutal cost
Other cost reduction Transaction

(mitionsof dolers) I ahime U™
2019 Cost Reduction Programs and Other Charges $ 204 % 0 % 04 % 263§ 567
Less: Cash payments (1} (57} (148) (112) (260)
Less: Non-cash charges — 21) 21) (78) 99
Foreign currency translatioe and other 4 (6) 2) (6) (8)
Balance, December 31, 2019 $ 117 $ 16 8 133 § 67 $ 200

2018 Charges

Cost reduction programs and other charges were $309 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 (3306 million, after-tax and non-controliiag
interest).

‘transaction Related and Other Charges

On Ovtober 31, 2018, Praxair and Linde AG combined under Linde plg, as contemplated by the business combination agreement (see Note 1). In
connection with the business combination, Linde incurred transaction costs which totaled $236 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 ($236
million after-tax}.

Also incnded in Cost Reduciion Programs and Other Charges are other charges of $73 million for the vear ended December 31, 2018 ($70
million after-tax} comprised of the following; (i} a $40 million charge {$40 million after-tax) related to an unfavorable development related to a supplier
contract in China, (ii) restructuring charges of $21 million (518 million after-tax) and (iii) a $12 million charge ($12 million after-tax) associated with the
transition to hyper-inflationary accounting in Argentina.

2017 Charges
Transaction Related and Other Chorges

In connection with the intended business combination, Linde incurred transaction costs which totaled $52 million for the year ended Decerber 31,
2017 (%48 million after-tax).

Classification in the consolidated financial statemenis

The pre-tax charges for each year are shown within operating profir in a separate line item on the consolidated statements of income. In the
consolidated balance sheets, reductions in assets are recorded against the carying value of the related asseis and unpaid amounts are recorded primarily as
short-term liabilities, On the conselidated statements of cash flows, the pre-tax impact of these charges, net of cash payments, is shown as an adjustment to
reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities. In Note 20 - Segment Information, Linde excluded these charges from its management
definition of segment operating profit; a reconciliation of segment operating profit (o consolidated operating profit is shown within the segment operating
profit table.
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NOTE 6. LEASES

In the normal course of its business, Linde enters into various leases as the lessee, primarily invelving manufacturing and distributien equipment and office
space. Linde determines whether a contract is or contains a lease at contract inception. Total lease and rental expenses related to operating lease right of use
assets for the twelve months ended December 31, 2019 was $364 million, respectively. Operating leases costs are included in selling, general and
administrative expenses and cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amortization. The related assets and obligaticns are included in other long term assets
and other current liabiliies and other long term liabilities, respectively, Total lease and rental expenses related to finance lease right of use assets for the
twelve months ended December 31, 2019 was $231 million, and the costs are included in depreciation and amortization and interest. Related assets and
obligations are included in preperty, plant and equipment - net and debt, respectively. Linde includes renewal options that are reasonably certain to he
exercised as part of the lease term. Operating and financing lease expenses above include short term and variable lease casts which are immaterial.

As most leases da not provide an implicit rate, Linde uses the applicable incremental borrowing rate at lease commencement to measure lease liabilities and
right-of-use assets. Linde determines incremental borrowing rates through market sources.

The company has elected to apply the short-term lease exception for all underlying asset classes. Short-term leases are leases that, at the commencemeant date,
have a lease term of twelve months or less and do not include a purchase option that the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise. Leases that meet the short-

term lease definition are not recognized on the balance sheet, hut rather expensed on a straight-line hasis over the lease term.

Some leasing arrangements require variable payments that are dependent on usage, output, or may vary for other reasons, such as insurance. The company
does not have material variable lease payments.

Gains and losses on sale and leaseback transactions were immaterial. Operating cash flows used for operating leases for the twelve months ended December
31, 2019 was $341 million. Cash flows used for finance leases for the same period were immaterial.

Supplementzl balance sheet information relared to leases is as follows:

{Millions of dollars) December 31, 2019
Operating Leases

Operating lease right-of-use assets 1,025
Other current liabilities 260
Other long-term liabilities 716
Total operating lease liabilities 976

EFinance Leases

Finance lease right-of-use assets 140
Current portion of long-term debt 32
Long Term debt 117
Total finance lease liabilities 149

Supplemental operating lease information:

December 31, 2019
Weighted average lease term (years) 7
Weighted average discount rate 2.97%

Future operating and finance lease payments as of December 31, 2019 are as follows {(inillicns of dollars):
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Pericd Operating Leases Financing Leases

2020 % 275 % 38
2021 208 31
2022 163 27
2023 110 18
2024 75 10
Thereafter 251 81
Total future undiscounted lease payments 1,082 205
Less imputed interest {106) (56)
Total reported lease liability $ 976 % 149

Prior to the adoption of the new lease accounting standard, operating and finance lease commitments an an undiscounted basis were approximately $1.3
biilion and $104 miliion, respectively, at December 31, 2018 under long-term non-cancelable leases. The amounts payable for operating leases were as
follows:

{Millions of dollars) Operating Leases
2019 § 305
2020 236
2021 186
2022 145
2023 102
Thereafter 326
Total $ 1,300

In limited instances Linde acts as a lessor, primarily for assets to provide industrial gas to specific customers. These leases are not sigaificant to the
consolidated balance sheets or consolidated statements of income.

NOTE 7. INCOME TAXES

The year ended December 31, 2019 reflects a full year of Linde plc; the year ended December 31, 2018 reflects Praxair for the entire year and Linde AG
tor the period beginning Octoeber 31, 2018 {the merger date), including the impacts of purchase accounting. The amounts for historical periods prior to 2018
solely refleci the results of Praxair. (See Notes 1 and 3.)

Pre-tax income applicable to U.S. and foreign operations is as follows:

(Miltions of dotlars)

Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017

United States 5 1,161 § 931 % 1,003
Foreign (a) 1,766 4,118 1,284
Total income before income taxes $ 2927 % 5049 % 2,287

(a) 2019 includes a $164 million gain related to the Indian divestiture and 2018 includes a $3,294 million gain related to Europe divestiture (See Note 4).

Provision for Inconme Taxes

The following is an analysis of the provision for income taxes:
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(Millions of dotlars)

Year Ended December 31, 2019 {a) 20186 (s} 2017 ()
Current tax expense (benefit)
U.S. federal g 64 % 390 % 565
State and local 39 N 84
Foreign 969 620 374
1,072 1,003 1,023
Deferred tax expense (benefit)
U.S. federal 85 8 (221)
State and local — 15 19
Foreign (388) (209) 205
{303) (186) 3
Total income taxes $ 769 % 817 § 1,026
(a) 2019 includes $70 million related to divestitures, foreign current tax expense of $48 million and foreign deferred 1ax expense of $22 million

(o} 2018 includes a benefit of $51 million related to the Tax Act (See below) and a charge of $371 million ($252 million U.5., $4 million state, $114
million foreign current tax expense and $1 million of U.S. deferred income tax expense) related to divestitures (See Note 4},

{C) 2017 includes a charge of $394 million related to the Tax Act (See below).
U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (Tax Act) 2018 and 2017

On December 22, 2017 the U.S. government enacted the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ("Tax Act"). This comprehensive tax legislation significandy revised
the U.S. corporate income tax rules by, ameng other things, lowering the corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21%, implementing a territorial tax system
and imposing a one-time tax on accumulated earnings of foreign subsidiaries. The company recorded a net provisional income tax charge of $394 million
comprising (i) an estimated $467 million U.S. Federal and state tax charge for deemed repatriation of accumulated foreign earnings; (ii) an estimated $260
million charge far foreign withhelding taxes related to anticipated future repauriation of foreign earnings; and (jii) an estimated $333 million deferred tax
benefit for the revaluation of net deferred tax liabilities from 35% to the new 21% tax rate, The $467 million U.S. federal and state tax charge for deemed
repatriation of accumulated foreign earnings includes $422 million of deemed repatriation tax payable over eight years.

In the fourth quarter of 2018, the company completed its accounting and updated its provisional estimates in accordance with SAB 118 resulting in a net
reduction to tax expense of $61 million, $41 million U.S. federal and $20 million of state income tax (net of federal tax benefit). This resulted in a deemed
repatriatiun tax payahle of $261 million and $291 million and is payable over the remaining six and seven years, respectively of which $235 million and $265
million is classified as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 as other long-term liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets (See Note 9).

Further, the Tax Act enacted new provisions related w the taxation of foreign earnings, known as GILTL The company has elected as an accounting
policy to account for GILTI as period costs when incurred.

Additionally, in the fourth quarter of 2018 the company adopted Accounting Standards Update 2018-02, "Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income”, electing to reclassify the income tax effects of the Tax Act from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
("AOQCI") to retained earnings. This resulted in a net reduction to AOCI and a net increase to retained earnings of $53 million, $98 million directly related to
the federal income tax rate change reduced by $5 millien indirectly related to the federal tax rate change on state income taxes.

Effective Tax Rate Reconciliation

For purposes of the effective tax rate reconciliation, the company utilized the U.S. statutory income tax rate of 21% in 2019 and 2018 and 35% in 2017.
An analysis of the difference between the provision for income taxes and the amount computed by applying the U.S. statutory income (@ax rate to pre-tax
income follows:
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{Dollar amounts in millions)

Year Ended Degember 31, 2019 2018 2017

U.S. statutory income tax $ 615 210% $ 1,060 210% $ 801 35.0%

State and local taxes — net of federal benefit 31 1.1% 30 0.6 % 32 1.4%

11.S. tax credits and deductions (a) (3B1) (1.1)% (12) (0.2)% (27 (1.2)%

Foreign tax differentials (b) 113 35% 57 1.1% (145) (6.3)%

Share-Based compensation 41D (1.4)% (22) (0.4)% {35) (1.5)%

Tax Act — — % (61) (L.2)% 394 17.2%

Divestitores [c) 36 1.2 % (321) (6.4)% — —%

Other - net () 46 1.6% 86 1.7% G 0.3%

Provision for income taxes 3 769 263% $ 817 162% $§ 1,026 449%

(a) U.S, tax credits and deductions relate to foreign derived intangible income in 2019 and 2018, the research and experimentation tax credit in 2019,
2018 and 2017 and manufacturing dednction in 2017.

(b) Primarily related to differences between the U.S. tax rate (21% in 2019 and 2018 and 35% in 2017) and the statutory tax rate in the countries where
the company operates. Other permanent items and tax rate changes were not significant,

(c) Divestitures primarily relate to the sale of the company’s Indian business in 2019 and Furopean business in 2018 (See Note 4).

(d) Other - net includes $26 million and $34 million of U.S tax related to GILTI in 2019 and 2018, respectively and an increase in unrecognized tax

benefits in Europe of $44 mllion in 2018.
Net Deferred Tax Liabilities

Net deferred tax liabilittes included in the consolidated balance sheets are comprised of the following:

(Miilions of doifarsj
December 31, 2019 2018
Deferred tax liabilities
Fixed assets $ 3,539 % 3,935
Goodwill 145 124
Other intangible assets 3,688 3,684
Subsidiary/equity investments 664 570
Other (a) 789 648
5 8825 $ 8,961
Deferred tax assets
Carryforwards $ 441 § 526
Benefit plans and related (b) 721 575
Inventory 72 63
Accruals and other (c) 1,167 1,112
5 2401 % 2,276
Less: Valuation allowances (d) (222) (237)
5 2,179 % 2,039
Net deferred tax liabilities 3 6,646 % 6,922
Recorded in the consolidated balance sheets as (Note 9):
Other long-term assets 243 510
Deferred credits 6,889 7,432
5 6,646 % 6,922
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(a) Includes $255 million in 2019 related to right-nf-use lease asscts,
(b) Includes deferred taxes of $445 milliont and $252 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively, related to pension / OPEB funded status (See Notes 9 and
18).
© Includes $255 million related to lease liabilities in 2019 and $81 million and $104 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively, related to research and
development costs.
(d) Summary of valuaton allowances relating to deferred tax assets follows (millions of dollars):
2019 2018 2017
Balance, January 1, $ 237) % (76) § (132)
liicome tax (charge) benefit (i) (31) (51 59
Merger with Linde AG 18 {121) —
Other, including write-offs (ii) 26 7 —
Translation adjustments 2 4 (3)
Balance, December 31, $ (222) (237) 8 (76)

(iy 2017 includes a $59 million benefit related to the utilization of foreign tax credits under the Tax Act.
(i1) 2019 includes $26 million related to the squeeze out of Linde AG (See Note 3).

The company evaluates deferred tax assets quarterly to ensure that estimated future taxable income will be sufficient in character (e.g., capital gain
versus ordinary incorme treatment), amougt and timing to result in their recovery, After considering the positive and negative evidence, a valuation allowance
is established to reduce the assets to their realizable value when management determines that it is more likely than not (i.e., greater than 50% likeliood) that
a deferred tax asset will not be realized. Considerable judgment is required in establishing deferred tax valuation allewances.

Al December 31, 2019, the company had $441 million of deferred tax assets relating to net vperating losses (“NOLs”) and tax credits and $222 million
of valuation allowances. These deferred tax assets include $312 million relating to NOLs of which $55 million expire within 5 years, $115 million expire after
5 years and $142 million have no expiration. The deferred tax assets also include $129 million related to credits of which $6 millian expire within 5 years,
$113 million expire after 5 years, and $10 million have no expiration. The valuation allowances of $222 million primarily relate to NOI.s and are required
because management has determined, based on financial projections and available tax strategies, that it is unlikely that the NOLs will be utilized before they
expire. I events or circumstances change, valuation allowances are adjusted at that time resulting in an income tax benefit or charge.

The company has $664 million of foreign income taxes accrued related to its investments in subsidiaries and equity invesonents as of December 31,
2019. A provision has not been made for any additicnal foreign income tax at December 31, 2019 on approximately $31 billion related to its investments in
subsidiaries because the company intends to remain indefinitely reinvested. While the $31 billion could become subject to additional foreign income tax if
there is a sale of a subsidiary, or earnings are remitted as dividends, it is not practicable to estimate the unrecognized deferred tax liability.

Uncertain Tax Positions

Unrecognized income tax benefits represent income tax positions taken on income tax returns but not yet recognized in the consolidated financial
statements. The company has unrecognized income 1ax benefits totaling $472 million, $319 million and $54 million as of December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. If recognized, essentially all of the unrecognized tax benetits and related interest and penalties would be recorded as a benefit te income tax
expense on the consoclidated statements of income.

A reconciliadon of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:
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(Millions of deliars) 2019 2018 2017

Unrecognized income tax benefits, January 1 $ 319§ 54 3 56
Additions for tax positions of prior years (a) 151 104 48
Reductions for tax positions of prior years 3) ) (26)
Addidons for current year tax positions (b) 33 179 —
Reductions for setilements with taxing authorities (c) {26) 3) (26)
Foreign currency translation and other (2) [G)] 2
Unrecognized income tax benefits, Becember 31 $ 472 % 319 % 54
(a) Increase primarily relates to tax positions in the United States and Eurape, $66 million in 2019 related to the merger with Liude AG.

() 2018 includes 5167 million related to the merger with Linde AG.

() Settlements are uncerntain tax positions that were effectively settled with the taxing authorities, including positions where the company has agreed to

amend its tax returns to eliminate the uncertainty.

The company classifies interest income and expense related to income taxes as tax expense in the consolidated statements of income. The company
recognized net interest expense of $1 million, $32 million and $8 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, December 31, 2018 and December 31,
2017, respectively. The company had $65 million and $48 million of accrued interest and penalties as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018,
respectively which were recorded in other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets (See Note 9).
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As of December 31, 2019, the company remained subject to examinartion in the following major las jwisditions for the ax years as indicated below:

Major tax jurisdigtions
North and South America
United States
Canada
Mexico
Brazil

Europe and Africa
France
Germany
Netherlands
Republic of South Africa
Spain
United Kingdom

Asia and Australia
Australia
China
India
Korea
Taiwan

Open Years

2016 through 2019
2012 through 2019
2013 through 2019
2005 through 2019

2014 through 2019
2015 through 2019
2015 through 2019
2015 through 2019
2006 through 2019
2015 through 2019

2014 through 2019
2014 through 2019
2006 through 2019
2014 through 2019
2015 through 2019

The company is currenty under andit in a number of jurisdictions. As a result, it is reasonably possible that some of these matters will conclude or
reach the stage where a change in unrecognized income tax benefits may occur within the next twelve months. At the time new information becomes
available, the company will record any adjustment to income tax expense as required. Final determinations, if any, are not expected to be material to the

consolidated financial statements. The company is also subject to income taxes in many hundreds of state and local taxing jurisdictions that are open te @ax

examinations.
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NOTE 8. EARNINGS PER SHARE - LINDE PLC SHAREHOLDERS

Basic and Diluted earnings per share - Linde plc shareholders is computed by dividing Income From Condnuing Operations, Income From discontinued
operations, net of tax, and Net income - Linde plc for the period by the weighted average number of either basic ar diluted shares outstanding, as follows:

2019 2018 2017

Numerator (Millions of dollars)
Income From Continuing Opesations $ 2,183 % 4,273 & 1,247
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax 102 108 —
Net Intome ~ Linde plc $ 2,285 3% 4381 § 1,247
Denominator (Thousands of shares)
Weighted average shares outstanding 540,859 330,088 285,893
Shares earned and issuable under compensation plans 245 313 60
Weighted average shares used in basic earnings per share * 541,094 330,401 286,261
Effect of dilutive securities

Stock options and awards 4,076 3,726 2,853
Weighted average shares used in diluted earnings per share * 545,170 334,127 289,114
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations $ 403 3 1293 § 4.36
Basic earnings per share from discontinued operations 5 019 % 033 % —
Basic Earnings Per Share % 422 3 1326 § 436
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations kS 400 3% 1279 & 4,32
Diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations b3 019 % 032 § —
Diluted Earnings Per Share $ 419 3% 1311 % 4.32

* As aresult of the merger, share amounts for the year ended December 31, 2018 reflect a weighted average effect of Praxair shares outstanding prior o
October 31, 2018 and Linde ple shares ontstanding on and after October 31, 2018.

There were no antidilutive shares for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 or 2017.

NOTE 9. SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

The year ended December 31, 2018 reflects Praxair for the entire year and the Linde AG for the period beginning after October 31, 2018 (the merger
date), including the impacts of purchase accounting. The amounts for historical periods prior to 2018 solely reflect the results of Praxair. See Notes 1 and 3.

Income Statement

{Millions of dofiars}

Year Ended December 31, 20198 2018 2017
Selling, General and Administrative
Selling 3 1,600 % 757 % 511
General anid administrative 1,857 872 696
$ 3457 % 1,629 § 1,207
Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017
Depreciation and Amortization {a)
Depreciation $ 3940 $§ 1,615 % 1,093
Amortzation of intangibies (Note 12) 735 215 91
Depreciation and Amortization 5 4675 $ 1,830 % 1,184
Year Ended December 31, 2019 2013 207
Other Income (Expenses} — Net
Currency related net gains (lasses) $ 11y % 4 % 3)
Partnership income 8 8 6
Severance expense (7) ) (6)
Asset divestiture gains (losses) — net 10 6
Other — net 68 7
$ 68 $ 18 %
Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017

Interest Expense — Net



Interest incurred on debt
Interest income

Amortization on acquired debt
Interest capitalized

Bond redemption (b)

Year Ended December 31,

Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests
Noncontrolling interests' aperations (¢)

Redeemable noncontrolling interests’ operations (Note 16)
Noncontrolling interests from continuing operations
Noncontrolling interests from discontinued operations

Balonce Sheet

(Millions of dollars)
December 31,

Accounts Receivable
Trade and Other receivables
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts (d)

December 31,
Inventories

Raw materials and supplies
Work in process
Finished goods
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284 297 230
(112) (80) (a4
(96) @1) —
(38) (20) (28)
38 202 161
2019 2018 2017
87 12 59
2 3 2
89 15 61
7 9 —
2019 2018
4,628 4,410
(306) 13
4322 4,297
2019 2018
396 139
31 321
970 991
1,697 1,651
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December 31,
Prepaid and Other Current Assets

Prepaid and other deferred charges (e)
VAT recoverable

Unrealized gains on derivatives (Note 14)
Other

December 31,

Other Long-term Assets
Pension assets (Note 18)
Insurance contracts ()
Long-term receivables, net (g}
Operating lease assets (Note 6}
Deposits

Investments carried at cost
Deferred charges

Defeired income taxes (Note 7)
Unrealized gains on derivatives (Note 14)
Other

Decembsr 31,

Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses

Payroll

VAT payable

Pension and postretirement (Note 18)
Interest payable

Operating lease liability {Note §)
Employee benefit accrual

Insurance reserves

Unrealized losses on derivatives {Note 14)
Other
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2019 2018
516 533
275 250
85 66
264 228
1,140 1,077
2019 2018
78 140
75 75
150 135
1,025 —
56 61
40 76
90 143
243 510
82 127
174 190
2,013 1,462
2019 2018
1,079 1,187
619 658
268 235
27 117
127 137
260 —
88 104
38 36
54 36
941 1,248
3,501 3,758
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December 31, 2019 2018
Other Long-term Liabilities
Pension and postretirement (Note 18) $ 2,548 % 2,004
Tax liabilities for uncertain tax positions 342 191
Tax Act liabilities for deemed repatriation (Note 7) 235 265
Operating lease liability (Note G} 716 —
Interest and penalties for uncertain tax positions (Note 7) 65 43
Insurance reserves 28 24
Asset retirement obligation 293 300
Unrealized losses on derivatives (Note 14) 45 43
Other 616 560
$ 4888 5 3,435
December 31, 2019 2018
Deferred Credits
Deferred income taxes (Note 7) % 6,889 5§ 7,432
Other 347 179
b 7236 % 7,611
December 31, 2019 2018

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income {(Loss)
Cumulative transladon adjustment - net of taxes:

Americas (h) $ 3,357} $ (3.375)
EMEA (h) (138) 105
APAC (h) (140) {114)
Engineering (29) 40
Other 282 (246)
(3,380) (3,590)
Derivatives — net of taxes (27} (2)
Unrealized gain (loss) on securities — (1)
Pension/OPEB furded status obligation (net of $446 million and $292 millien tax benefit in 2019 and 2018) (Note
18) (1,407} (863)
i (4614) % (4,455)
(a) Depreciation and amortization expense in 2019 include $1,258 million and $642 million, respectively, of Linde AG purchase accounting impacts. In

20118, depreciation and amortization expense include $225 million and $121 million, respectively, of Linde AG purchase accounting impacts.

(b) In December 2018, Linde repaid $600 million of 4.50% notes due 2019 and €600 million of 1.50% notes due 2020 resulting in a $26 million interest
charge (320 million after-tax).

() Noncontrolling interests from continuing operations includes a $1 million benefit and a $35 million charge in 2019 and 2018, respectively, related to
the 8% of Linde AG Shares which were not tendered in the Exchange Offer. Linde AG completed the cash merger squeeze-out of all its minority
shares on April 8, 2019 (see Note 3).

In addition, 2019 and 2018 noncontrolling interests from continuing operations include $54 million and $24 million, respectively, of Linde AG
purchase accounting impacts.
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(d) Provisions to the allowance for doubtful accounts were $170 million, $25 million, and $33 million in 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. The
allowance activity in each period related primarily te write-offs of uncollectible amounts, net of recoveries and currency movements.

{e) Includes estimated income tax payments of $115 million and $172 million in 2019 and 2018, tespectively.
(D) Consists primarily of insurance contracts and other investments 1o be uiilized for non-qualified pension and OPEB gbligadons.
(g) Long-term receivables are not material and are largely reserved. The balances at December 31, 2019 and 2018 are net of reserves of $44 million and

$46 million, respectively. The amounts in bath periads relate primarily (o long-term notes recetvable from customers and gavernment receivables in
Brazil. Callectability is reviewed regularly and uncollectible amounts are written-off as appropriate.

() Americas consists of cucrency translation adjustrments primarily in Canada, Mexico, and Brazil. EMEA relates primarily to Germauay, the United
Kingdom and Sweden. APAC relates primarily to China, Korea, India and Anstralia.

NOTE 10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - NET

Significant classes of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

(Millians of dollars) Depreciabile Lives
December 31, {Yrs) 2019 2018
Production plants (primarily 15-year life) (a) 10-20 % 25493 % 24,726
Storage tanks 15-20 4,295 4,061
Transportation equipment and other 3-15 2,809 2,654
Cylinders 10-30 4,184 3,955
Buildings 25-40 3,162 3,083
Land and improvements (b) 0-20 1,229 1,162
Construction in progress 3,148 2,296
44318 41,937
Less: accumulated depreciation (15,254) {12,220)
$ 29064 S 29,717

{a} - Depreciable tives af production plants related to fang-term customer supply contracts are consistent with the contract lives.

(b} - Land is not depreciated.
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NOTE 11. GOODWILL

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were as fellows:

{Millions of doflars} Americas EMEA APAC Engineering Other Total
Balance, December 31, 2017 5 2,306 § 695 3 59 % — & 173§ 3,233
Addition due to Merger (Note 3} 6,890 10,802 5,193 1,060 201 24,146
Acquisitions (Note 3} 5 e — — 5
Purchase adjustments & other 12 — — — 12
Foreign currency translation (39) 83 43 15 {4) 98
Disposals {Nate 4) — (620) — — (620)
Balance, December 31, 2018 9,174 10,960 5,295 1,075 370 26,874
Acquisitions (Note 3) 135 — — — 135
Measurement period adjustments (Note 3} (255) (636) {323) 1,410 42) 154
Foreign currency translation {12) 81) (15) (1%) 21) (144}
Balance, December 31, 2019 $ 9,042 % 10,243 $ 4957 % 2470 % 307 §$ 27,019

Linde has historically performed its goodwill impairment tests annually during the second quarter of each year, and has determined that the fair value
of each of its reporting units was substantially in excess of its carrying value. For the second quarter 2019 test, Linde applied the FASB's accounting guidance
which allows the company to first assess qualitative factors to determine the extent of additional quantitative analysis, if any, that may be required to test
goodwill for impairment. Based on the qualitative assessmenis performed, Linde concluded that it was more likely than not that the fair value of each
reporting unit substantially exceeded its carrying value and therefore, further quantitative analysis was not required. As a result, no impairment was recorded.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2019, the company changed the date of its annual goodwill impairment test from April 30 to October 1. The
change was made to more closely align the impairment testing date with the companys planning process. The change in annual impairment testing date did
not delay, accelerate or avoid an impairment charge. The company has determined this change in the methed of applying an accounting principle is preferable.

Linde's impairment test performed during the fourth quarter of 2019 estimated the fair value of each reporting unit by applying multiples of earnings
from a peer group to the company’s forecasted earnings for the year ending December 31, 2019. The peer group is comprised of comparable entities with
similar operations and economic characteristics. Linde concluded the fair value of reporting units exceeded its carrying value and therefore recognized no
impairment. There were no indicators of impairment through December 31, 2019, Reporting units with greater concentration of Linde AG assets fair valued
during the recent merger are at greater risk of impairment in future periods.
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NOTE 12, OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The following is a summary of Linde’s ather intangible assets at December 31, 2019 and 2018;

(Millions of dollars) For the year ended December 31, 2019 C Relationships Brands/Tradenames Other Intangible Assets Total
Cost:

Balance, December 31, 2018 3 13,288 % 2,288 8 1,366 $ 16,842
Addidons (primarily acquisitions) 30 6 51 87
Foreign currency translation (59) 21 (11) (91)
Measurement period adjusmments (Note 3) 8 492 178 662
Other * {46) (1) 28 (1%

Balance, December 31, 2019 13,205 2,764 1,612 17,581

Less: accumulated amortization:

Balance, December 31, 2018 (317} (22) (380) (719)
Amortization expense (Note 9) (584) 47 (104) (735)
Foreign currency translation — — 2 2
Qther * 16 — (8) 8

Balance, December 31, 2019 (885) (69 {450) {1,444

Net intangible asset balance at December 31, 2019 $ 12,320 % 269 % 1,122 % 16,137
(Miilions of doltars} For the year ended December 31, 2018 Customer Relationships Brands/Tradenames Other Intangible Assets Total
Cost:

Balance, December 31, 2017 g 772 % 46 3 619 % 1,437
Additions due to merger {Note 3) 12,555 2,226 811 15,592
Additions (primarily acquisitions) 1 — 26 27
Foreign currency translation 121 24 ()] 136
Disposals (Note 4) (141) ® (78) (227)
Other * (20) — 3 (23)

Balance, December 31, 2018 13,288 2,288 1,366 16,542

Less: accumulated amortization:

Balance, December 31, 2017 (2607 (18) (374) (652)
Amortizaticn expense (Note 9) (135) ) (71} (215)
Foreign currency translation 4 — 8 12
Disposals {Note 4) 55 5 52 112
Other * 19 — 5 24

Balance, December 31, 2018 (317) (22) (380) (719)

Net balance at December 31, 2018 % 12971 % 2,206 % 986 % 16,223
* Other primarily relates to the write-off of fully amortized assets and reclassificatons.

There are o expected residual values related to these intangible assets. Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017
was $735 million, $215 million and $91 million, respectively. The remaining weighted-average amortization period for intangible assets is approximately 28

years.
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Total estimaced annual amortization expense related to finite-lived intangibles is as follows:

{Millions of dollars)

2020

2021

2022

2023

2024

Thereafter

Total amortization related to finite-lived intangible assets
Indefinite-tived intangible assets at December 31, 2019
Net intangible assets at Decemnber 31, 2019
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718
713
595
570
556
11,115

14,267
1,870

16,137
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NOTE 13. DEBT
The following is a summary of Linde’s outstanding debt a1 December 31, 2019 and 2018:

{Miilions of dollars)

Short-term

Commercial paper and U.S. bank borrowings

Other bank borrowings (primarily international}

Total short-term debt

Long-term (a)

(U.S. dolfar denominated unfess otherwise noted}
1.90% Notes due 2019 (b)
Variable rate notes due 2019 (b)
1.75% Euro denominated notes due 2019 (b,c)
4.25% AUD denorminated notes due 2019 {b)
Variable rate notes due 2019 (b)
2.25% Notes due 2020
1.75% Euro denominated notes dire 2020 (¢}
0.634% Euro denominated notes due 2020
4.05% Notes due 2021
3.87%% Euro denominated notes due 2021 {c)
3.00% Notes due 2021
0.250% Euro denominated notes due 2022 {c)
2.45% Notes due 2022
2.20% Notes due 2022
2.70% Notes due 2023
2.00% Etro denominated notes due 2023 (¢)
5.875% GBP denominated notes due 2023 (c)
1.20% Eura denominated notes due 2024
1.875% Euro denominated notes due 2024 {(c)
2.65% Notes due 2025
1.625% Euro denominated notes due 2025
3.20% Notes due 2026
3.434% Notes due 2026
1.652% Euro denominated notes due 2027
1.00% Euro denominated notes due 2028 (¢}
1.90% Euro denominated notes due 2030
3.55% Notes due 2042
Other

Intermational bank borrowings

Obligations under capital lease

Less: current portion of long-term debt

Total long-term debt
Tuldl Jeli

(a) Amounts ate niet of unamortized discounts, preminms and/or debt issuarice costs as applicable.
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2019 2018
99 § 829
736 656
1,732 1,485
— 500
— 150
— 578
— 71
— 200
300 299
1,137 1,185
56 58
499 499
711 755
499 498
1,129 1,156
599 598
499 498
499 498
776 805
456 454
6L5 628
361 373
398 398
556 568
725 725
196 195
93 96
872 861
118 121
662 662
10 10
309 291
149 81
12,224 13,811
(1,531) (1,523
10,693 12,288
13,956 § 15,296
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(b) In February 2019, Linde repaid $500 million of 1.9% notes that became due; in May 2019 Linde repaid $150 million of variable notes that became
due; in June 2019 Linde repaid €500 million of 1.75% notes that became due and the associated interest rate swap was settled; also in Tine 2019
Tinde setled AUD100 million of varialle 1ate uoies that became due; and in August 2019 Linde repaid $200 million of variable rate notes that
became due.

() December 31, 2015 and 2018 included a cumulative $38 million and $14 million adjustment to carrying value, respectively, related to hedge
accounting of intercst rate swaps.

Credit Facilities

On March 26, 2019 the company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into an unsecured revolving credit agreement (“the Credit Agreement”) with a
syndicate of hanking institutions, which became effective on March 29, 2019. The Credit Agreement provides for total commiaments of $5.0 billion, which
may be increased up to $6.5 billion, subject to receipt of additional commitments and satisfaction of customary conditions. There are no financial
maintenance covenants contained within the Credit Agreement. The revolving credit facility expires on March 26, 2024 with the option to request two one-
year extensions of the expiration date. In connection with the effectiveness of the Credit Agreement, Praxair and Linde AG terminated their major respective
existing revolving credit facilities. No borrowings were outstanding under the Credit Agreement as of December 31, 2019,

On September 3, 2019 Linde and the company’s subsidiaries Praxair and Linde AG entered into a series of parent and subsidiary guarantees related to
currently cutstanding notes issued by Praxair and Linde AG as well as the $5 billion Credit Agreement.

Other Debt Information
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the weighted-average interest rate of short-term borrowings outstanding was 0.6% for both periods.

Expected maturities of long-term debt are as follows:

(Millions of dollars)

2020 3 1,531
2021 1,855
2022 2,330
2023 1,798
2024 983
Thereafter 3,727

% 12,224

As of December 31, 2019, the amount of Linde's assets pledged as collateral was immaterial.

See Note 15 for the fair value information related to debt.

NOTE 14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

In its normal operations, Linde is expused to market risks relating to fluctuations in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, energy costs and tc a
lesser extent precious metal prices. The objective of financial risk management at Linde is to minimize the negative impact of such fluctuations on the
company’s earnings and cash flows. To manage these risks, among other strategies, Linde routinely enters into various derivative financial instruments
(“derivatives”} including interest-rate swap and weasury rate lock agreements, currency-swap agreements, forward contracts, cinrency options, and
commodity-swap agreements. These instruments are not entered into for trading purposes and Linde only uses commonly traded and non-leveraged
instruments.

There are three types of derivatives that the company enters into: (i) those relating to fair-value exposures, (ii) those relating to cash-flow exposures,
and (iii) those relating to foreign currency net investment exposures, Fair-value expasures relate to recognized assets or liabilities, and firm commitments;
cash-flow exposures relate to the variability of future cash flows associated with recognized assets or liabilities, or forecasted transactions; and net investment
exposures relate to the impact of foreign currency exchange rate changes on the carrying value of net assets denominated in foreign currencies.

When a derivative is executed and hedge accounting ts appropriate, it is designated as either a fair-value hedge, cash-flow hedge, or a net investment
hedge. Currently, Linde designates all interest-rate and treasury-rate locks as hedges for accounting purposes; however, cress-currency interest rate contracts
are generally not designated as hedges for accounting
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purposes. Certain currency contracts related to forecasted transactions are designated as hedges for accounting purposes. Whether designated as bedges for
accounting purpeses or not, all derivatives are linked to an appropriate underlying exposure. On an ongoing basis, the company assesses the hedge
effectiveness of al} derivatives designated as hedges for accounting purposes to determine if they continue to be highly effective in offsetting changes in fair
values or cash flows of the underlying hedged items. If it is determined that the hedge is not highly effective, then hedge accounting will be discontinued
prospectively.

Counterpartics to Linde’s derivatives are major banking institutions with credit ratings of investment grade or better. The company has Credit Support
Annexes ("CSAs") in place with their principal counterparties 10 minimize potential default risk and to mitigate counterparty risk. Under the CSAs, the fair
values of derivatives for the purpose of interest rate and currency management are collateralized with cash on a regular basis. As of December 31, 2019, the
impact of such collateral posting arrangements on the fair value of derivatives was insignificant. Management believes the risk of incurring losses on
derivative eontracts related to credit risk is remote and any losses would be immaterial.

The following table is a summary of the notional amount and fair value of derivatives outstanding at December 31, 2019 and 2018 for consolidated
subsidiaries:

Fajr Value
{Millions of dollars} Notional Amounis Assets (a) Liabilities {a)
December 31, 2018 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging
Insiruments:
Currency contracts:
Balance sheet items $ 7936 $ 6357 % 62 % 24 % 37 % 42
Forecasted traiisactians 748 945 14 15 15 17
Cross-currency interest rate swaps 1,029 2,110 35 112 40 40
Commodity contracis N/A N/A — 27 — 9
Total 9,713 9,412 111 178 g2 108
Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments:
Currency contracts:
Balance sheet items $ 7 % — 5 703 — % 3 % —
Forecasted transactions 464 158 9 2 3 3
Commodity contracts N/A N/A 5 — 1 —
Interest rate swaps 1,908 2,164 39 13 -— 10
Total Hedges $ 2,399 % 2322 % 5 % 15 % 7% i3
Total Derivatives 3 12,112 % 11,734 % 167 § 193 % 99 % 121

{a) Current assets of $85 million are recorded in prepaid and other current assets; long-term assets of $82 million are recorded in ather long-term assets;
current liabilities ot $34 million are recorded in other current liabilities; and long-term liabilities of $45 million are recorded in other long-term liabilities.

Balance Sheet ftems

Foreign currency contracts related 1o balance sheet items consist of forward contracts entered into to manage the exposure to flucmations in foreign-
currency exchange rates on recorded balance sheet assets and liabilities denominated in cuirencies other than the functional cuirency of the related operating
unit. Certain forward currency contracts are entered into to protect underlying monetary assets and liabilities dencminated in foreign currencies from foreign
exchange risk and are not designated as hedging instruments. For balance sheet items that are not designated as hedging instruments, the fair value
adjustments on these contracts are offset by the fair value adjustments recorded on the underlying monetary assets and liabilities.

Forecasted Transactions

Foreign currency contracts related to forecasted wansactions consist of forward contracts entered inte to manage the exposure to fluctuations in foreign-
currency exchange raies on (1) forecasted purchases of capital -related equipment and services, {2} forecasted sales, or (3) other forecasted cash flows
denominated in correncies other than the functional currency of the related operating units. For forecasted transactions that are designated as cash flow
hedges, fair value adjustments are
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recorded to accurnulated other comprehensive income ("AOCI") with deferred amounts reclassified to earnings over the same time period as the income
statement impact of the associated purchase. For forecasted transactions that de not qualify for cash flow hedging relationships, fair value adjustments are
recorded directly to parnings

Interest Rate/Cross-Currency Interest Rate Swaps

Cross-currency interest rate swaps are entered into to limit the foreign currency risk of future principal and interest cash flows associated with intercompany
loans, and to a more limited extent bonds, denominated in non-functional currencies. The fair value adjustments on the cross-currency swaps are recorded to
earnings, where they are offset by fair value adjustments on the underlying intercompany loan or bond.

Comumedity Contracts

Commodity contracts are entered into to manage the exposure to fluctuations in commaodity prices, which arise in the normal course of business from its
procurerent transactions. To reduce the extent of this risk, Linde enters into a limited number of electricity, natural gas, and propane gas derivatives, The fair
value adjusmments for the majority of these contracts are recorded (o AOCI and are eventually offset by the income statement impact of the undertlying
commodity purchase.

Net investment hedges

As of December 31, 2019, Linde has not designated any hedges of net investrnent positions in foreign operations. Linde had previously designated Euro-
denominated debt instruments as net investment hedges to reduce the company's exposure to changes in the currency exchange rate on investments in foreign
subsidiaries with Euro functional currencies, Fxchange rate movements of $206 million relating to the previously denominated Euro-dencminated debt
incurred in the financial periods prior to de-designation will remain in AOCE, until appropriate, such as upon sale or liquidation of the foreign cperations at
which time amounis will be reclassified to the consolidated statements of income. Exchange rate movements related to the Euro-denominated debt occurring
after de-designation are showm in the cansolidated statements of income,

Interest Rate Swaps

Linde uses interest rate swaps to hedge the exposwre to changes in the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities as a result of interest rate
changes. These interest rate swaps effectvely convert fixed-rate interest exposures to variable rates; fair value adjustments are recognized in earnings along
with an equally offsetting charge/benefit to earnings for the changes in the fair value of the underlying financial asset or financial liability. The notional value
of outstanding interest rate swaps of Linde with maturity dates from 2020 throngh 2028 was $1,908 millicn at December 31, 2019 and $2,164 at
December 31, 2018 (see Note 13 for further informatan).

Terminated Treasury Rate Locks

The unrecognized aggregate losses related to terminated treasury rate lock contracts on the underlying $500 million 3.00% fixed-rate notes that mature in
2021 and the $500 million 2.20% fixed-rate notes that mature in 2022 at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 were $2 million (net of taxes of $1
million) and $2 million {net of taxes of $1 million), respectively. The unrecognized gains/(losses} for the treasury rate locks are shown in AOCI and are
being recognized on a straight line basis to interest expense - net over the term of the underlying debt agreements.

Impact of derivative instruments on earnings and AQCI

The following table summarizes the impact of the company's derivatives on the consolidated statements of income:

Amount of Pre-Tax Gain {Loss)
(Millions of doltars) Recognized in Earnings *

December 31, 2019 2018 2017
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments

Currency contracts:
Balaxnce sheet items:

Debt-related $ 253 % (118) $ 121
Other balance sheet items 65 3 —
Total 3 318 % (115) 3§ 121

* The gains (losses) on balance sheel items are offset by gains (losses) recorded on the underlying hedged assets and liabilities. Accordingly, the gains (losses) tor the derivatives and the underlying
hedged assets and liabilities related to debl items are recorded in the consclidated statements of income as interest expense-net. Other balance sheet items and anticipated net income gains (losses)
are recorded in the cousolidated statemnents of incorme as other income (expenses)-iet.
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The amounts of gain or loss recognized in AQCI and reclassified to the consolidated statement of income was immaterial for the year ended December 31,
2019. Net losses expected to be reclassified to earnings during the next twelve months are also not material.

The gains (losses} on net investent hedges are recorded as a component of AQC! within foreign currency translarian adjustments in the consolidated balance
sheets and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. The gains (losses) on measury rate locks are recorded as a component of AOCI within
derivative insmuments in the consolidated balance sheets and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. The gains {losses) on net investment
hedges are reclassified (o earnings only when the related currency translation adjustments are reguired to be reclassified, usually upon sale or liquidation of

the investment. The gains (losses) fer interest rate contracts are reclassified to earnings as interest expense —net on a straightline basis over the remaining
maturity of the underlying debt.
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NOTE 15, FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES

The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair valne into three broad levels as follows:

Level 1 — guoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 — quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets or inputs that are observable
Level 3 —inputs that are unobservable {for example cash flow medeling inputs based on assumptions)

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The following table summa

(Millions ef dollars)

Asgets
Derivative assets
Investments and securities *
Total
Liabilities

Derivative liabilities

rizes assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recuering basis at December 31, 2019 and 2018:

Fair Value Measurements Using

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
3 — % — 5 167 % 193 5 — % —
18 2 — — 28 30
$ B8 % 22 8§ 167 § 193 % 28 % 30
$ — % — S 99 % 12t 5 — 3 —

*  Investrnents and securities are recorded in prepaid and other current assets and other long-term assets in the company's censolidated balance sheets.

Level 1 investments and securities are marketable securities traded on an exchange. Level 2 investments are based on market prices obtained from
independent brokers or determined using quantitative models that use as their basis readily observahle market parameters that are actively quoted and can be
validated through external sources, including third-party pricing services, brokers and market transactions, Level 3 investments and securities consist of a
venture fund. For the valuation, Linde uses the net asset value received as part of the fund's quarterly reporting, which for the most part is not based an quoted

prices in active markets. In order
current transaction prices.

to reflect current market conditions, Linde proportionally adjusts these by observable market data (stock exchange prices) or

The following table summarizes the changes in level 3 investments and securities for the year ended December 31, 2019. Gains (losses) recognized in
earnings are recorded to interest expense - net in the company's consolidated statements of incorme.

(Millions of doMars) 2019
Balance at January 1 3 30
Additions 1
Gains (losses) recognized in earnings (3)
Balance at December 31 3 28

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, shori-term debt, accounts receivable-net, and accounts payable approximate carrying value becanse of the
short-term maturities of these instruments.

The fair value of long-term

debr is estimated based on the quoted market prices for the same or similar issues, Long-term debt is categorized within

either Level 1 or Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy depending on the trading volume of the issues and whether or not they are actively quoted in the market
as opposed to traded through over-the-counter transactions. At December 31, 2019, the estimated fair value of Linde’s long-term debt portfolio was $12,375
million versus a carrying value of $12,224 million. At December 31, 2018 the estimated fair value of Linde’s long-term debt portfolio was $13,725 million

versus a carrying value of $13,81

1 million. As Linde AG's assets and liabilities were measured at estimated fair value as of the merger date, differences

between the carrying value and the fair value not significant; remaining differences are attributable to interest rate increases subsequent to when the debt was
issued and relative to stated coupon rates.

109



Table ot Coneents

NOTE 16. EQUITY AND NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS
Linde plc Shareholders® Equity

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, Linde has total authorized share capital of €1,825,000 divided into 1,750,000,000 ordinary shares of €0.001 each,
25,000 A ordinary shares of €1.00 each, 25,000 deferred shares of £1.00 each and 25,000,000 preferred shares of €0.001 each.

At December 31, 2019 there were 552,012,862 and 534,380,544 of Linde plc ordinary shares issued and outstanding, respectively. At December 31,
7019 there were no shares df A ordinary shares, deferred shares or preferved shares issued or outstanding.

At December 31, 2018 there were 551,310,272 and 547,241,630 of Linde plc ordinary shares issued and outstanding, respectively. At Decermber 31,
2018, there were no shares of A ordinary shares, deferred shares or preferred shares issued or outstanding,.

Linde’s Board of Directors may from time to time authorize the issuance of one or more series of preferred stock and, in connection with the creation of
such series, determine the characteristics ef each such series including, witheut limitation, the preference and relative, participating, aptional or ather special
rights, and the qualifications, limitations or reswrictions of the series.

2(1R Merger of Praxair and [ inde A

Following is a summary of the Linde plc shareholders' equity transactions related to the merger:

Additional Paid in

Ordinary Shares Capital Treasury Stock
(Dotlar amounts in mitlions, shares in thousands) Shares Amount Shares Amount
Merger with Linde AG (a) 263,148 § — 3 43,288 — % —_
Conversion of Praxair te Linde plc shares (b) — (3) 3 — —
Cancellation of Praxair Treasury stock (c) (95,324) — (7.113) {95,324) 7,113
Impact of Linde AG merger 167,824 § 3) % 36,178 (95,324) % 7,113

(a)  The total fair value of consideration transfersed for the merger was 543,288 million, resulting in an increase to "Additional paid-in capital” in
stockholders’ equity (see Note 3 for additional informationy.

{by  On Octaber 31, 2018, the conversion of Praxair common stock and Linde AG common siock into Linde ordinary shares resulted in a $3 million
decrease to "Ordinary Shares" with a corresponding increase to "Additional paid-in capital” in stockholders’ equity.

(c)  Each share ot Praxair common stock held in geasury immediately prior to the merger was canceled. The elimination of Praxair's historical treasury
stock at cost resulted in a $7,113 million decrease in "Treasury stock” and "Additional paid-in capital” in steckholders' equity.

As indicated above, in connection with the merger, Praxair and Linde AG common stock was converted into shares of Linde plc ordinary shares, The
{ollowing table provides a swinmary of the share activity resulting from the merger:

(in thousands. except Linde AG exchaenge ratio)
Linde plc shares exchanged for Linde AG shares

Linde AG common stock tendered as of October 31, 2018 (i) 170,875
Business combination agreement exchange ratio (ii) 1.54
Linde plc ordinary shares issued in exchange for Linde AG 263,148
Linde plc shares issued to Praxair shareholders upon conversion

Praxair shares outstanding at merger date 287,907
Total Linde plc shares issued at merger date 551,055

s
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()] Number ef Linde AG shares tendered in the 2617 Exchange Offer.

(ii) Exchange ratio for Linde AG shares as set furde in Wie business combination agreement.

COther Linde plc Ordinary Share and Treasury Stock Transactions

Linde may issue new ordinary shares for dividend reinvestment and stock purchase plans and employee savings and incentive plans. The number of
new Linde ardinary shares issued from the merger date through December 31, 2019 was 958,293 shares.

On December 10, 2018 the Linde board of directors approved the repurchase of $1.0 billion of its ardinary shares under which Linde had repurchased
6,385,887 shares through December 31, 2019 {4,068,642 shares were repurchased through December 31, 2018). Linde completed the repurchases under this
program in the first quarter ot 2019.

Subsequently, on January 22, 2019 the company’s beard of directors approved the additional repurchase of $6.0 billion of its ordinary shares under
which Linde had repurchased 12,016,083 shares through December 31, 2015.

Noncontrolling Interests

Noncontrolling interest cwnership changes are presented within the consolidated statements of equity. The $2,921 million decrease during 2019 was primarily
driven by Linde AG completion of the cash merger squeeze-out of all its minority shares on April 8, 2019. This represents the 8% of Linde AG shares which
were not tendered in the Exchange Offer and were the subject of a cash-merger squeeze-out (See Note 3).

The $186 million decrease during 2018 primarily relates to the sale of Praxair's industrial gases business in Europe (see Notes 1 and 4). The "Impact of
Merger” line item of the consolidated statements of equity includes the fair value of the noncontrolling interests acquired from Linde AG, including the 8% of
Linde AG shares which were not tendered in the Exchange Offer and were intended to be the subject of a cash-merger squeeze-out {(See Note 3).

The $15 million increase during 2017 relates to additional funding provided te PG Technologies, E.1.C ("PGT"} by the joint venture partner.

Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests

Noncontrolling interests with redemption features, such as put/sell options, that are not solely within the company’s contral (“redeemable
noncantrolling interests”) are reported separately in the consolidated balance sheets at the greater of carrying value or redemption value, For redeemable
noncontrolling interests that are not yet exercisable, Linde calculates the redemption value by accreting the carrying value to the redemption value over the
period until exercisable. If the redemption value is greater than the carrying value, any increase is adjusted directly to retained earnings and does not impact
net income. At December 31, 2019, the redeemable noncontrolling interest balance includes industrial gas businesses in EMEA and Americas where the
noncontrolling shareholders have put aptions.
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NOTE 17. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Share-based compensation expense was $95 million in 2019 (562 million and $59 million in 2018 and 2017, respectively). The related income tax
benefit recognized was $42 million in 2019 ($30 million and $53 million in 2018 and 2017, respectively). The expense was primarily recerded in selling,
general and administrative expenses and no share-based compensation expense was capitalized.

Summary of Plans

The 2009 Praxair, Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan was initially adopted by the beard of directors and shareholders of Praxair, Inc. on April 28, 2009 and
has been amended since its initial adoption ('the 2009 Plan"). Upon completion of the business combination of Praxair, Inc. with Linde AG on October 31,
2018, the 2009 Plan was assumed by the company. Prior o April 28, 2009, Praxair, Inc. granted equity awards under the 2002 Praxair, Inc. Long-Term
Incentive Plan , (“the 2002 Plan”) which was also assumed by the company upon completion of the husiness combination. The 2009 Plan permits awards of
stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricied stock and restricted stock units, performance-based stock units and other equity awards to eligible officer
and non-officer employees and non-employee directors of the company and its affiliates. As of December 31, 2019, 6,454,428 shares remained available for
equily grants under the 2009 Plan, of which 1,757,354 shares may be granted as awards other than options or stock appreciation rights.

In 2003, the board of directors and shareholders of Praxair, Inc, adopted the 2005 Egnity Compensation Plan for Non-Empleyee Direciors of Praxair,
Inc. (“the 2005 Plan"}). Upon completion of the business combination in October 2018, the 2005 Plan was alsc assumed by the company. Under the 2005 Plan,
the aggregate number of shares available for option and other equity grants was limited to 2 total of 500,000 shares. The 2005 Plan expired on April 30, 2010,
by its own terms, and no shares were available for grant thereafter.

Upon the completion of the business combination, all options outstanding under the 2009 Plan, the 2002 Plan and the 2005 Plan were converted into
options to acquire the same number of shares of the company and at the same exercise price per share that applied prior to the business combination.

Exercise prices for options granted under the 2009 Plan may not be less than the closing market price of the company’s ordinary shares on the date of
grant and granted sptians may not be re-priced or exchanged without shareholder appraval. Optiens granted under the 2009 Plan subject only to time vesting
requirements may become partially exercisable after a minimum of one year after the date of grant but may not become fully exercisable until at least three
years have elapsed from the date of grane, and all opdions have @ maxintumm duration of ten years. Options granted under predecessar plans had similar terms.

In connection with the business combination, on October 31, 2018 the company's Board of Directors adopied the Long Term Incentive Plan 2018 of
Linde plc (“the LTIP 2018”), the purpase of which is to replace certain outstanding Linde AG equity based awards that were terminated. Under the LT1P
2018, the aggregate number of shares available for replacement opticn rights and replacement restricted share units was set at 473,128 As of December 31,
20189, 260,794 shares remained available for grant, and since the company was obligated to make these replacement awards in 2019, it does not anticipate any
further grants under this plan.

Exercise prices for the replacement aption rights that were granted in 2019 under the LTIP 2018 were equal to EUR 1.67 ($1.92 as converted at an
exchange rate from the time the exchange offer was completed as the option rights are exercisable in U.S, dollars on the NYSE} as prescribed in the business
combination agreement. Each replacement option right granted under the LTIP 2018 is subject to vesting hased on continued service until the end of the four-
year waiting peciod applicable to the relevant Linde AG award that had been granted before tie business combination. After vesing, each option right witl be
exercisable for one year.

In order to satisfy option exercises and other equity grants, the company may issue authorized but previously unissued shares or it may issue treasury
shares.

Stock Option Fair Value

The company utilizes the Black-Scholes Options-Pricing Model to determine the fair value of stock options consistent with that used in prior years.
Management is required 10 make certain assumptions with respect to selected model inputs, including anticipated changes in the underlying stock price {i.e.,
expected volatility) and option exercise activity (i.e., expected life). Expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the company’s stock over the
most recent perjod commensurate with the eslimated expected life of the company’s stock options and ather factors, The expected life of options granted,
which represents the peried of time that the options are expected to be outstanding, is based primarily en historical exercise experience. The expected
dividend yield is based on the company's most recent history and expectation of dividend payouts, The risk-free vate is based on ilie U.S. Treasury yield curve
in effect at the time of grant for a peried commensurate with the estimated expected life. Tf factors change and result in different assumptions in furre
perinds, the stock option
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expense that the company records for future grants may differ significanily from what the company has recorded in the current period.

The weighted-average fair value of options granted during 2019 was $23.38 ($19.29 in 2018 and $12.40 in 2017} based on the Black-Scholes Opticns-
Pricing medel. The increase in grant date fair value year-over-year is primarily attributable to the increase in the company's stock price. The weighted-average
fair value of replacement option rights granted in 2019 was $160.08 based on intrinsic value method.

The following weighted-average assumptions were used to value the grants in 2019, 2618 and 2017:

Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017
Dividend yield 2.0% 2.1% 2.7%
Volatility 14.3% 14.4% 14.0%
Risk-free interest rate 2.38% 2.67% 2.13%
Expected term years 6 5 6

The following table summarizes option activity uader the plans as of December 31, 2019 and changes during the period then ended {averages are
calculated on a weighted basis; life in years; intrinsic value expressed in millions):

Number of Average Average Aggregate
Options Exercise Remaining Intrinsic

Activity {000’s) Price Life Value
Outstanding at January 1, 2019 10,624 §$ 117.65
Granted 1,486 157.14
Exercised (2,705) 103.87
Cancelled or expired (108} 158.17
Questanding at December 31, 2019 9,297 §% 127.04 60 % 798
Exercisable at December 31, 2019 —GEE $ 117 .26 50§ G603

The aggregate intrinsic value represents the difference between the company’s closing stock price of $212.90 as of December 31, 2019 and the exercise
price multiplied by the number of in the money options outstanding as of that date. The total intrinsic value of stock opticns exercised during 2019 was $219
million ($113 millicn and $137 million in 2018 and 2017, respectively).

Cash received from option exercises under all share-based payment arrangements for 2019 was $64 millien ($66 million and $107 million in 2018 and
2017, respectively). The cash tax henefit realized from share-based compensation totaled $56 million for 2019 (330 million and $51 million cash tax henefit
in 2018 and 2017, respectively).

As of December 31, 2019, $32 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock options is expected to be recognized over a
weighted-average period of approximately 1 year.

Performance- Based and Restricted Stock Awards

In 2019, Linde granted 261,760 performance-based stock awards uader the 2009 Plan to senior management that vest, subject to the attainment of pre-
establishied minimum performance criteria, principally on the third anniversary of their date of grant. These awards are tied to either after tax return on capilal
("ROC") performance or relative total shareholder requrn ("T'SR") performance versus that of the S&P 500 (weighted 67%) and Eurofirst 300 (weighted
33%). The actual number of shares issued in settlement of a vested award can range from zere to 200 percent of the target number of shares granted based
upon the company’s attainment of specified performance targets at the end of a three-year period. Compensation expense related to these awards is recognized
over the three-year performance period based oa the fair value of the closing market price of the company’s ordinary shares on the date of the grant and the
estimated performance that will be achieved. Compensation expense for ROC awards will be adjusted during the three-year performance period based upon
the estimated performance evels that will be achieved. TSR awards are measured at their grant date fair value and not subsequently re-measured.

The weighted-average fair value of ROC performance-based stock awards granted in 2019 was $168.47, and during 2017 was $109.68. These fair
values are hased an the closing market price of Linde's ordinary shares on the grant date adjusted for dividends that will net be paid during the vesting period.
There were no ROC performance-based stock awards granted in 2018,
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The weighted-average fair value of performance-based stock tied to relative TSR performance granted in 2019 was $215.85, and during 2017 was
$124.12, and was estimated using a Monte Carlo simulation performed as of the grant date. There were no performance-based stock tied to relative TSR
performance granted in 2018.

Upon completion of the merger, each outstanding ROC and TSR performance-based award granted prior to 2018 was converted into a Linde RSU
based on performance achieved as of immediately prior te the closing of the merger, and became subject to service-vesting conditions only. This resulted in
the conversion of 435,000 performance-based shares into 704,000 restricted stock units. Compensation expense related to these awards will continue to be
recognized over the remainder of the respective three-year service period.

There were 161,072 resicted stock units granted to employees by Linde during 2019. The weighted-average fair value of restricted stock units granted
during 2019 was $165.04 ($144.86 in 2018 and $111.95 in 2017). These fair values are based on the closing market price of Linde's ordinary shares on the
grant date adjusted for dividends that will not be paid during the vesting period. Compensation expense related to the restricted stock units is recognized over
the vesting period.

The following table summarizes non-vested performance-based and restricted stock award activity as of December 31, 2019 and changes during the
pericd then ended (shares based on target amounts, averages are calculated on a weighted basis):

Performance-Based Restricted Stock
Number of Average Number of Average

Shares Grant Date Shares Grant Date

(000°s} Fair Value {000’s) Fair Value
Non-vested at January 1, 2019 — 8 — 1,071 % 118.84
Granted 262 184.29 161 165.04
Vested — e (330) 107.10
Cancelled and Forfeited (16) 184.26 (18) 146.32
Non-vested at December 31, 2019 246 % 184.29 884 % 12943

There are approximately 7 thousand performance-based shares and 11 thousand restricted stock shares that are non-vested at December 31, 2019 which
will be settled in cash due to foreign regulatory limitations, The ligbility related to these grants reflects the current estimate of performance that will be
achieved and the current share price.

As of December 31, 2019, $23 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to performance-based awards and $21 million of unrecognized
compensation cost related to the restricted stock awards is expected to be recognized primarily through the first quarter of 2022,

NOTE 18. RETIREMENT PROGRAMS
Defined Benefit Pension Plans - U.S.

Linde has two main U.S. retirement programs which are non-contributory defined benefit plans: the Linde U.S. Pension Plan and the CBI Pension Plan.
The latter program benefits primarily fonmer employees of CBI Industries, Inc. which Linde acquired in 1996. Effective July 1, 2002, the Linde U.S. Pension
Plan was amended to give participating employees a one-time choice to remain covered by the old formula ar to elect coverage under a new formula. The old
formula is based predominantly on years of service, age and compensation levels prior 10 retirement, while the new formula provides for an annual
contribution to an individual account which grows with interest each year at a predetermined rate. Also, this new formula applies to all new employees hired
after April 30, 2602 into businesses adopting this plan. The U.S. and international pension plan assets are comprised of a diversified mix of investments,
including domestic and international corporate equities, government securities and corporate debt securities. Linde has several plans thar provide
supplementary retirement benefits primarily to higher level employees that are unfunded and are nonqualified for federal tax purposes. Pension coverage for
employees of certain of Linde’s international subsidiaries generally is provided by those companies through separate plans. Obligations under such plans are
primarily provided for through diversified investment portfolios, with some smaller plans provided for under insurance policies or by book reserves.

Defined Benefit Pension Plans - International

Linde has international, defined benefit commitments primarily in Germany and the United Kingdom (U.K.). The defined benefit commitments in
Germany relate to old age pensions, invalidity pensions and surviving dependents pensions. These commitments also take into account vested rights for
periods of service prior to January 1, 2002 based on earlier final-salary pension plan rules. In addition, there are direct commitments in respect of the salary
conversion scheme for the form of cash balance plans. The resulting pension payments are calculated on the basis of an interest guarantee and the
performance of the corresponding investment. There are no minimum funding requirements. The pension obligations in Germany are partly funded by a
Contractual Trust Agreement (CTA). Defined benefit commitments in the U.K. prior to July 1, 2003 are earnings-related and dependent an the period of
service. Such commirments relate to old age pensions, invalidity pensions and surviving dependents pensions. Beginning in April 1, 2011, the amount of
future increases in inflation-linked pensions and of increases in pensionable emoluments was restricted.

Mulii-employer Pension Plans

In the United States Linde participates in eight multi-employer defined benefit pension plans ("MEPs"), pursuant to the terms of collective bargaining
agreentenis, that cover approximately 200 union-represented employees. The collective bargaining agreements expire on different dates through 2026. In
connection with such agreements, the company is required to make periodic contributions to the MEPs in accordance with the terms of the respective
collective bargaining agreements. Linde’s participation in these plans is not material either at the plan level or in the aggregate. Linde’s conuributions to these
plans were $2 million in 2019, 2018, and 2017 (these costs are not included in the tables that follow). For all MEPs, Linde’s cantributions were significantly
less than 1% of the total conuibutions to each plan for 2018 and 2017, Total 2019 contributions were not yet avaitable from the MEPs.

Linde has obtained the most recently available Pension Pretection Act ("PPA") annual funding notices from the Trustees of the MEPs. The PPA
classifies MEPs as either Red, Yellow or Green Zene plans. Among other factors, plans in the Red Zone are generally less than 65 percent funded with a
projected insolvency date within the next twenty vears; plans in the Yellow Zone are generally 65 to 80 percent funded; and plans in the Green Zone are
generally at least 80 percent funded. Red Zone plans are considered to be in “cridcal" or "critical and declining” staws, while Yellow Zone plans are
considered to be in "endangered"” status, Plans that are in neither "critical” nor "endangered” status are considered to have Green Zone status. According to the
most recent data avatlable, four of the MEPs that the company participates in are in a Red Zone status and four are in a Green Zone status. As of
December 31, 2019, the four Red Zone plans have pending or have impiemented financial improvement or rehabilitation plans. Linde does not currently
anticipate significant future obligations due to the funding starus of these plans, If Linde determined it was probable that it would withdraw from an MEP, the
company would record a kability for its pertion of the MEP’s unfunded pension obligations, as calculated at thar time. Historically, such withdrawal payments
have not been significant.




Defined Contribution Plans

Linde’s U.S. business employees are eligible to participate in the Linde defined contribution savings plan, Employees may centribute up to 40% of their
compensation, subject to the maximum allowable by IRS regulations. For the U.S. packaged gases business, company contiibutions to this plan are calculated
as a percentape of salary based en age plus service. U.S. empluyeey vibier than those in the packaged gases business have company contributions to this plan
calculated on a graduated scale based on employee contributions to the plan. The cost for these defined contribution plans was $47 million in 2019, $33
million in 2018 and $29 million in 2017 (these costs are not included in the tables that follow).

The defined contribution plans include a nen-leveraged emplayee stock ownership plan ("ESOP") which covers all employees participating in this plan.
‘The collective number of shares of Linde ordinary shares in the ESOP totaled 2,070,100 at December 31, 2019.

Certain international subsidiaries of the company also sponsor defined contribution plans where contributions are determined under various formulas.
The expense for these plans was $95 million in 2019, $32 million in 2018 and $21 million in 2017 (these expenses are not included in the tables that follow).

Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB)

Linde provides health care and life insurance benefits to certain eligible retired employees. These benefits are provided through various insurance
companies and healthcare providers. The company does not currently fund its postretiement benefits obligations, Linde’s retiree plans may be changed or
terminated by Linde at any time for any reason with no liability to current or future retirees.

Linde uses a measurement date of December 31 for its pension and other post-retirement benefit plans.
Pension and Postretirement Benefit Costs

The components of net pension and postretirement benefits other than pension ("OPEB") costs for 2019, 2018 and 2017 are shown in the table below
(2018 reflects the impact of the Linde AG merger on October 31, 2018 (see Notes 1 and 3) and the divestiture of Praxair's European industrial gases business
on December 3, 2018 (see Notes 1 and 4)):

Pensions OPEB
{Millions of dollars)
Year Ended December 31, 2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017
Amount recognized in Operating Profit
Service cost 3 142 % 74 % L 2 % 2 % 3
Amount recognized in Net pension and OPEB cost
(benefit), excluding service cost
Interest cost 261 128 103 7 5 5
Expected raturn an plan assets (462) (219) (161) —_ —_ —
Net amortization and deferral 61 71 68 (4) (3 3
Curtailment and termination bencfits (a) 8 — — —_ — (18)
Setlement charges (b} 97 14 2 — — —
$ 39) $ e 5 12 % 3 % 2 8 (16)
Amount recognized in Net gain on sale of businesses
Settlement gains from divestitures {(c) — (44) — — — —
Net periodic benefit cost (benefit) $ w7 % 24 3 58 % s $ 4 8 (13)

(a) In 2018, Linde recorded curtailment gains of $9 million and a charge of 517 million for termination benefits, primarily in connection with a defined
benefit pension plan freeze. The curtailment gain recorded during the year ended December 31, 2017 resulted from the termination of an OPER plan in South
America in the first quarter.

(b} In the third and fourth quarters of 2019, Linde recorded pension settlement charges of $40 million and 56 million, respectively, related to lump sum
paymerts made from a U.S. qualified plan. These payments were triggered by merger-related divestitures. In the first quarter of 2019, benefits of $91 million
were paid related to the setthement of a U.5. non-gualified plan. Such benefits were wiggered by a change in control provision and resulted in a settlement
charge of $31 million.

2018 includes the impact of a $4 million charge and a $10 millien charge recorded in the third and fourth quarters, respectively. In the third guarter, a series of
lump sum benefit payments made from the U.S. supplemental pension plan triggered a settlement of the related pension obligation. In the fourth quarter, a
change in control provision triggered the settlement of a U.S. non-qualified plan.

2017 includes the impact of a $2 million chacge related to a series of lump sum benefit payments for employees under an international pension plan.

(<) In connection with Praxair merger-related divestitures, primarily the European industrial gases business, certain European pension plan obligations were
settled, This resulted in the recognitiont of associated pension benefit obligations and deferred losses in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
within operating profit in the “Net gain on sale of businesses” line item.
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Funded Status

Changes in the benefit obligation and plan assets far Linde’s pension and OPEB programs, including reconciliation of the funded status of the plans to
amounts recarded in the consolidated balance sheet, as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 are shown below.
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(Miilions of dollars)
Year Ended December 31,

Change in Benefit Obligation ("PBO")
Benefit obligation, January 1
Merger impact {a)
Service cost
Interest cost
Divestitures (b)
Participant contributions
Plan amendment
Actuarial loss (gain)
Benefits paid
Plan settlement
Plan curtailment
Foreign currency translation and other
changes
Benefit obligation, December 31
Accumulated benefit obligation ("ABO™)
Change in Plan Assets
Fair value of plan assets, January 1
Merger impact (a)
Actual return on plan assets
Company contributions
Benefits paid from plan assets
Divestitures (b}

Foreign currency translation and other
changes

Fair value of plan assets, December 31
Fuided Status, End of Year
Recorded in the Balance Sheet (Note 9)
(ither long-term assets
Other current liabilities
Other long-term liabilitics
Net amoumt recognized, December 31

Amounts recognized in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) consist of:

Net actuarial loss {gain)
Prior service cost {credit)
Deferred tax benefit (Note 7)

Amount recognized in accumulated other
comprehensive income {loss) (Note &)

Pensions
2019 2018 OPEB
.5, International U.s. International 2019 2018

2508 3% 7533 % 2215 % 725 % 184 3 146
— -— 413 6,920 — 53
38 104 42 32 2 2

81 180 74 54 7 5
(1) — — (106) - -

-— 20 — 4 8 9

— i3 — 1 — —
266 1,045 (100) 7 8 (1)
(105) (333) (111) 84) 20) (19)
(235) —_ (27) — — —
— ® — — 2 —
— 136 — (20) 1 60
2,552 8,689 2,508 % 7533 $ 192 8 184

2,464 8,553 2428 % 7,385

1952 % 6292 % 1,655 3 567 % — 5 —
— —_ 475 5,880 — —
341 598 (72) (88) — —
— 94 — 75 — —
(244} (268) (106} (69) — —
(1) — — (49) — —

— 172 — (24 — —
2048  § 6,888 1852 % 6292 §$ — 8 —
504y % (1,801) 556y % (1,241 § (192) §$ (184)
— % 78 3% 47 % 93 % — % —
(6) 1 (54} (10} (1 a3
(498} (1,869) (509} (1,324) (181) (171)
(504) % (1,801 $ (556) 3 (1,241 % (192) $ (184)
753 % 1,110 § 834 3 339§ [Q11) I @3
_ 4 10 () (5)
(190} (251) (212) (87) (5) 7
563 % 863 3 622 § 262 % (19 $ 21)
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(a) Represents Linde AG plan assets and benefit obligations assumed as part of the merger. Such plan assets and benefit obligations were remeasured as of the
nerger date and all subsequent activity through December 31, 2018 is presented within the vespective captions above.

(b} Represents plan assets and benefit obligations associated with the divestiture of the majority of the Praxair industrial gases bustness in Europe.

Comparative funded status information as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 for select internadonal pension plans is presented in the table below as the benefit
obligations of these plans are considered to be significant relative to the total benefit obligation:

United Kingdom Germaity Iute(r)'r::i:mal Tatal Internaticnal
(Millions of dollars) 2019 2019 2019 2019
Benefit obligation, December 31 $ 5221 % 2,180 % 1,288 § 8,689
Eair value ol glan «ssets, Decetber 31 4,777 1,119 992 6,888
Funded Status, End of Year $ (444) % (1,061) % (296) §$ (1,801)
Other
United Kingdom Germany International Total International
(Millions of doliars) 2018 2018 2018 2018
Benefit obligation, December 31 $ 4444 3 1,916 § 1,173 § 7,533
Fair vajue ot plan assets, December 31 4,339 1,043 910 6,292
Funded Status, End of Year $ (105) $ @73 % (263) $ (1,241)
The changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized in other comprehensive income in 2019 and 2018 are as foliows:
Pensions OPEDR
{Millions of dollars} 2019 2018 2018 2018
Current year net actuarial losses (gains)* 5 B34 3 286 % 8 % (1
Amortization of net actuarial gains {lasses) (%5} {7 3 2
Divestitures — (12) — —
Plan amendment 4) — — —
Amortization of prior service credits (costs) 2) ) 1 1
Pension settlements (973 (14) —_ —
Curtailments — — 2 —
Foreign currency translation and other changes 12 {16} — 1
Total recognized in other comprehensive income % 684 § 173 3 14 3% (]

Pension net actuarial losses in 2019 are largely driven by lower discount rates across all significant pension plans. In the U.S., the benefit from the
actual return on assets more than offset the impacts of unfavarable liability experience, resulting from the low discount rate environment. For the
international plans, the unfavorable impact of lower discount rates outweighed favorable plan asset experience. Pension net actuarial losses in 2018
are driven by lower U.5. discount rates, which more than offset favorable plan asset experience. OPEB net actuarial losses in 2019 relate to the low
interest rate environment, which was partially offset by favorable actual benefit payment experience. Net actuarial gains in 2018 relate to the benefits
from higher U.S. discount rates and favorable actual participant experience.

The amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) that are expected to be recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost during
2020 are as follows:

(Millions of dollars} Pension OPEB

Net actuarial loss (gain) $ 8 8 2)

Prior sevvice cost (credit) 2 [9)]
$ 96§ (3}
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The following table provides information for pension plans where the accumulated benefit obligation exceeds the fair value of the plan assets:

Pensions
(Millions of dolfars) 2019 2018
Year Ended December 31, U.8. Tnternational uU.s. International
Projected benefit abligation ("PBQ") $ 2,552 % 7,768 & 2,139 % 6,681
Accumdlated benefit obligation ("ABO") $ 2464 & 7664  § 2,060 % 6,586
Fair value of plan assets $ 2,048 % 5849 § 1,482 § 5,307

Assumptions

The assumptions used to determine benefit obligations are as of the respective balance sheet dates and the assumptions
used to determine net benefit cost are as of the previous year-end, as shown below:

Pensions
U.S. Tnternatienal OPEB
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Weighted average assumptions used to determine
benefir obligations at December 31,
Discount rate 3.20% 4.20% 1.91% 2.729% 3.19% 4.16%
Rate of increase in compensation levels 3.25% 3.25% 2.46% 2.38% N/A N/A
Weighted average assumprions used to delermine net
periodic benefit cost for years ended December 31,
Discount rate 4.20% 3.73% 2.72% 2.73% 4.16% 3.81%
Rate of increase in compensation levels 3.25% 3.25% 2.38% 2.45% N/A NA
Expected long-term rate of retum on plan assers (1) 7.27% 7.62% 5.15% 5.13% N/A N/A
(1) The expected long term rate of return on the U.S. and international plan assets is estimated based on the plans' investment strategy and asset

allocation, historical capital market performance and, to a lesser extent, historical plan performarnce. For the U.S. plans, the expected rate of return of
7.27% was derived based on the target asset allocation of 40%-60% equity securities (approximately 8.5% expected return), 30%-50% fixed income
securities (approximately 5.3% expected return) and 5%-15% alternative investments (approximately 6.8% expected return). For the international
plans, the expected rate of return was derived based on the weighted average target asset allocation of 15%-25% equity securities (approximately
6.1% expected return), 30%-50% fixed income securities (approximately 4.8% expected return), and 30%-50% alternative investments
{approximately 5.2% expected return). For the U.S. plan assets, the actual annualized total return for the most recent 10-year period ended December
31, 2019 was approximately 9.2%. For the international plan assets, the actual annualized total return for the same period was approximately 7.0%.
Changes to plan asset allocations and investment strategy over this time period limit the value of historical plan performance as factor in estimating
the expected long term rate of return. For 2020, the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets will be 7.00% for the 11.S. plans. Expected
weighted average remuns for international plans will vary.
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OPEB

Assumed healthcare cost trend rates 2019 20128
Historical Praxair, Inc. plans

Healthcare cost trend assumad 7.00% 6.25%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (the ultimate trend rate) 5.00% 5.00%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rae 2027 2023
Historical Linde AG plans

Healihcare cost trend assumed 549% 5.49%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (the ultimate trend rate) 4.50% 4.50%
Year that the rate reaches the uldmate wend rate 2038 2038

These healthcare cost trend rate assumptions have an impact on the amounts reported. However, cost caps limit the impact en the net OPEB benefit cost
in the U.S. To illustrate the effect, a one-percentage point change in assumed heaithcare
cost trend rates would have the following effects:

One-Percentage Point

(Millions of dollars} Increase Decrease
Effect on the total of service and intetest cost components of net OPER benefit cost 3 —  § —_
Effect on OPEB benefit obligation 5 7 0% (6)

Pension Plan Assets

The investments ot the U.S. pension plan are managed to meet the future expected benefit liabilities of the plan over the long term by investing in
diversified portfolios consistent with prudent diversificarion and historical and expected capital market returns, Investment strategies are reviewed by
management and investmnent performance is uacked against appropsiate benchmarks. There are no concentrations of risk as it relates to ihe assets within the
plans. The international pension plans are managed individually based on diversified investment portfolios, with different target asset allocations that vary for
each plan. Linde’s U.5. and internaticnal pension plans’ weighted-average asset allocations at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the target asset allacation
range for 2019, by major asset category, are as follows:

.S, International
Asset Category. Target 2019 Target 2018 2019 2018 Target 2019 Target 2018 2019 2018
Equity securities 40%-60% 40%-60% 55% 48% 15%-25% 15%-25% 23% 206%
Fixed income securities 30%-50% 30%.-50% 30% 0% 309%-50% 309%-50% 41% 46%
Other 5%-15% 5%-15% 15% 13% 30%-50% 30%-40% 36% 34%
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The following table summarizes pension assets measured at fair value by asset category at December 31, 2019 and 2018. During the years presented,
there has been no transfer of assets between Levels 1, 2 and 3 (see Note 15 for definition of the levels):

Fair Value Measurements Using

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 ** Total
(Miltions of dollars) 2019 2013 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Cash and cash equivalents $ 436 % 348 % — % — % — 5 — % a36 3 348
Equity securities:
Global equities 1,395 1,131 — —_ — — 1,395 1,131
Mual funds 110 74 52 43 — — 162 117
Fixed income securities:
Government honds — — 1,642 1,772 —_ — 1,642 1,772
Emerging market debt — —_ 459 522 — — 459 522
Mutual funds 225 109 14 21 — — 239 130
Corporate bonds — — 401 382 — — 401 352
Bank luans — — 210 313 — — 210 313
Alternative investments:
Real estate funds — — — — 316 298 316 298
Private debt — — — — 1,003 671 1,003 671
Other investments — — 3 33 — — 33 33
Liguid alternative — — 1,087 1,142 — — 1,087 1,192
Total plan assets at fair value,
December 31, $ 2166 $ 1662 § 388 § 4278 § 1319 § 969 $ 7383 $ 6,909
Pooled funds * 1,553 1,335
Total fair value plan assets
December 31, $ 8936 § 824

* Pooled funds are measured using the net asset value ("NAV") as a practical expedient for fair value as permissible under the accounting standard for fair
value measurements and have not been categorized in the fair value hierarchy.

**+ The following table summarizes changes in fair value of the pension plan assets dlassified as level 3 for the periods ended December 31, 2015 and 2018:

Insurance Real Estate

(Millions of dollars) Contracts Funds Private Debt Total

Balance, December 31, 2017 $ 50 % 158 $ — 5 208
Assumed in Linde AG merger — 148 667 815
Gain/(L.oss) far the perind — 9 4 13
Merger-related divestitures (49) — — 49
Sales — (1nh — 17
Foreign currency translation ( — — n
Balance, December 31, 2018 $ — % 298 % 671 % 969
Gain/(l.nss} far the period — 24 30 54
Acquisitions — — 14 14
Purchases — 26 304 330
Sales —_ (22) (33) (55)
Iransfer inte / (owt of} Level 3 — (10 — o
Foreign currency translaticn — e 17 17
Balance, December 31, 2019 % — % 316 % o034 1,319

The descriptions and fair value methodologies for the company's pension plan assets are as follows:
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Cash and Cash Equivalents — This category includes cash and short-term interest bearing investments with mauwwities of three months or less.
Investments are valued at cost plus accrued interest. Cash and cash equivalents are classified within level 1 of the valuation hierarchy.

Equity Securities — This category is commprised of shares of commen stock in U.5. and international companies from a diverse set of industries and size.
Common stock is valued at the closing market price reported on a U.S. or international exchange where the security is actively traded. Equity securities are
classified within level 1 of the valuation hierarchy.

Mutual Funds — These categories consist of publidy and privately managed funds that invest primarily in marketable equity and fixed income
securities. The fair value of these invesmments is determined by reference to the net asset value of the underlying securities of the fund. Shares of publicly
traded mutuak funds are valued at the net asset value quoted on the exchange where the fund is traded and are primarily classified as level 1 within the
valuation hierarchy.

U.S. and International Government Bonds — This category includes U.S. treasuries, U.S. federal agency obligations and international government debr.
The majority of these investments do not have quoted market prices available far a specific government security and so the fair value is determined using
quoted prices of similar securities in active markets and is classified as level 2 within the valuation hierarchy.

Corporate Bonds — This category is comprised of corporate bonds of U.S. and international companies from a diverse set of industries and size. The fair
values for 1.S. and international carporate bands are determined using quoted prices of simiar securides in active markeis and ahservable data or braker or
dealer quotations. The fair values for these investments are classified as level 2 within the valuation hierarchy.

Pooled Funds - Pooled fund NAVs are provided by the trustee and are determined by reference ta the fair vatue of the underlying securities of the trust,
less its liabilities, which are valued primarily through the use of directly or indirectly observable inputs. Depending on the pooled fund, underlying securities
may inciude marketable equity securities or fixed income securities.

Bank Loarts - This categary is comyrised of traded syadicated loans of larger corporate borrowers. Such loans are issued by sub-investment grade rated
companies both in the U.S. and internationally and are syndicated by investment banks to institutional investors. They are regularly traded in an active dealer
market comprised of large investment banks, which supply bid and offer quotes and are therefore classified within level 2 of the valuation hierarchy.

Liquid Alternative Investments - This category is comprised of investments in alternative mutual funds whose holdings include liquid securities, cash,
and derivatives. Such funds focus on diversification and employ a variety of investing strategies including long/shert equity, multi-swrategy, and global macro.
The fzir value of these investments is determined by reference to the net asset value of the underlying holdings of the tund, which can be determined using
observable data (e.g., indices, yield curves, quated prices of similar securities), and is classified within level 2 of the valuation hierarchy.

Insurance Contracts — The fair value of insurance contracts is determined based on the cash surrender value of the insurance contract, which is
determined based on such factors as the fair value of the underlying assets and discounted cash flows. These contracts are with highly rated insurance
companies. Insurgnce contracts are classified within level 3 of the valuation hierarchy.

Reqa! Estate Funds ~ This category includes real estate properties, parmership equities and investraents in operating companies. The fair value of the
assets is determined using discounted cash flows by estmating an income stream for the property plus a reversion into a present value at a risk adjusted rate.
Yield rates and growth assumptions utlized are derived from market transactions as well as other financial and indusery data. The fair value for these
investments are classified within level 3 of the valuation hierarchy.

Private Debt - This category includes non-traded, privately-arranged leans between one or a small group of private debt investment managers and
corporate horrowers, which are typically too small to access the syndicated market and have no credit rating. This category also includes similar loans to real
estate companies or individual properties. Loans included in this category are valued at par value, are held to maturity or to call, and are classified within level
3 of the valuation hierarchy.

Contributions

At a minimum, Linde contributes 1o its pension plans to comply with local regulatory requirements (e.g., ERISA in the United States). Discretionary
coneributions in excess of the local minimum requirements are made based on many factors, including long-term projections of the plans’ funded status, the
economic environment, potential risk of overfunding, pensicn insurance costs and altemative uses of the cash. Changes to these factors can impact the timing
of discretionary coniributions from year (o year. Pensicn contributions were $94 million in 2019, $87 million in 2018 and $19 million in 2017, Estimated
required contributions for 2020 are currently expected to be in the range of $50 million o $80 million.
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Estimated Future Benefit Payments

The following table presents estimated future henefit payments, net of participant contributions:

{Millions of dollars)

Year Ended December 31,
2020

2021

2022

2023

2024

2025-2029
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Pensions

187
143
164
147
149
760

311
323
335
342
352
879

15
14
14
14
12
55
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NOTE 13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The company accrues non income-tax liabilities for contingencies when management believes that a [oss is probable and the amounts can be reasonably
estimated, while contingent gains are recognized only when realized. In the event any losses are sustained in excess of accruals, they will be charged against
income at that time. Attorney fees are recorded as incurred. Commitmients represent obligations, such as those for future purchases of goods or services, that
are not yet recorded on the company’s balance sheet as liabilities. The company records liabilities for commitments when incurred (i.e., when the goods or
services are received).

Contingent Liabilities

Linde is subject to various lawsuits and government investigations that arise from time to time in the ordinary course of business. These actions are
based upon alleged environmental, tax, antitrust and personal injury claims, among others. Linde has strong defenses in these cases and intends 1o defend
itself vigorously. It is possible that the company may incur losses in connection with some of these actions in excess of accrued liabilities. Management does
not anticipate that in the aggregate such losses would have a material adverse effect on the company’s consolidated financial position or liquidity; however, it
is possible that the final outcomes could have a significant impact on the company’s reported results of operations in any given period.

Significant marters are:

During May 2009, the Brazilian governmeni published Law 11941/2009 instituting a new voluntary amnesty program (“Refis Program”) which
allowed Brazilian companies to setile certain federal tax disputes at reduced amounts. During the 2009 third quarter, the company decided that it
was economically beneficial to seftfe many of its outstanding federal tax disputes and such disputes were enrciled in the Refis Program, subject
to final calculation and review by the Brazilian federal government. The company recorded estimated liabilities based on the tarms of the Refis
Program. Since 2009, Linde has beer unable to reach final agreement on the calculations and initiated litigation against the government in an
attempt to resolve certain items. Open issues relate to the following marers: (i) application of cash deposits and net operating loss carryforwards
to satisfy obligations and (ii} the amount of tax reductions available under the Refis Program. It is difficult to estimate the timing of resolution of
legal matters in Brasil.

At Decernber 31, 2015 the most significant non-incorte and incomte tax clajms in Brazil, after enroliment in the Refis Program, relate to state
VAT tax matters and a federal income tax matter where the axing authorities are challenging the tax rate that should be applied to income
generated by a subsidiary company. The total estimated exposure relating to such claims, including interest and penalties, as appropriate, is
approximately $260 million. Linde has not recorded any liabilities related to such claims based on management judgments, after considering
judgments and epinions of outside counsel, Because litigation in Brazil historically takes mauny years ta resalve, it is very difficult to estimate
the timing of resolution of these matters; however, it is possible that certain of these matters may be resolved wishin the near term. The company
is vigorously defending against the proceedings.

On September 1, 2010, CADE (Brazilian Administrative Council for Economic Defense) announced alleged anticompetitive activity on the past
of five industrial gas companies in Brazil and imposed fines. Originally, CADE impesed a civil fine of R$2.2 billion Brazilian reais ($546
million} on White Martins, the Brazil-based subsidiary of Praxair, Inc. The fine was reduced to R$1.7 billion Brazilian reais ($422 million) due
to a calculation error made by CADE. On Seprember 14, 2015, the fine against White Martins was overturned by the Ninth Federal Court of
Brasilia. CADE appeaied this decision on June 30, 2016.

Sirlarly, on September 1, 2010, CADE imposed a civil fine of R$237 million Brazilian reais {$59 million) on Linde Gases Ltda., the former
Brazil-based subsidiary of Linde AG, which was divested to MG Industries GmbH on March 1, 2019 and with respect to which Linde provided
a contractual indemnity. The fine was reduced to R$188 million Brazilian reais (847 million) due to a calcularion error made by CADE. On May
6, 2014 the fine against Linde Gases Ltda. was overturned by the Seventh Federal Caurt in Brasilia. CADE appealed this decision on October
27,2016,

Linde has strong defenses and is confident that it will prevail on appeal and have the fines overturned. Linde strongly believes that the
allegations of anticompetitive activity against cur current and former Brazilian subsidiaries are not supported by valid and sufficient evidence.
Linde believes that this decision will not stand vp to judicial review and deems the possibility of cash outflows 10 be extremely unlikely. As a
result, no reserves have been recorded as management does not believe that a toss from this case is probable.
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. On and after April 23, 2019 former shareholders of Linde AG filed appraisal proceedings at the District Court (Landgericht) Munich {
(Genmany), seeking an increase of the cash consideration paid in connection with the previously completed cash merger squeeze-out of all of
Linde AG"s minorily shareliolders for €£109.4G per share. Any such increase would apply tn all 14,763,113 Linde AG shares that were
outstanding on April 8, 2019, when the cash merger squeeze-out was completed. The period for plaintiffs to file claims expired on July 9, 2019.
The company believes the consideration paid was fair and that the claims lack merit, and no reserve has been established. We cannot estimate
the timing of resolution.

Commitments

At December 31, 2019, Linde had undrawn outstanding letters of credit, bank guarantees and surety bonds valued at approximately $3,276 million from
financial institutions. These relate primarily to customer contract performance guarantees (including plant construction in connection with certain on-site
contracts), self-insurance claims and other commercial and governmental requirements, including foreign litigation matters.

Other commitments related to leases, tax liabilites for uncertain tax positiens, long-term debt, other post retirement and pension obligations are
summarized elsewhere in the financial statements {see Notes 6, 7, 13, and 18).
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NOTE 20. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Effective October 31, 2018, Praxair and Linde AG completed the previously announced merger, resulting in the formation of Linde plc (see Nete 1
for additional information on the merger). As a result of the merger and effective with the lifting of the hold separate order effective on March 1, 2019, new
operating segments were created which are used by the company's Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM?"} to allocate company Tesources and assess
performance. Linde’s operations consist of two major product lines: industrial gases and engineering. As further described in the following paragraph, Linde’s
industrial gases operations are managed on a geographic basis, which represent three of the company's new reportable segments - Americas, EMEA
(Europe/Middle East/Africa), and APAC (Asia/South Pacific); a fourth reportable segment which represents the company's Engineering business, designs and
manufactures equipment for air separation and other industrial gas applications specifically for end customers and is managed on a worldwide basis operating
in all three geographic segments. Other consists of corporate costs and a few smaller businesses which individually do nat meet the quantitative thresholds for
separate presentation.

The industrial gases product line centers on the manufacturing and distribution of atmospheric gases (axygen, nitrogen, argon, rave gases) and
process gases (carbon dioxide, helium, hydrogen, electronic gases, specialty gases. acetylene). Many nf these praducts are ce-products of the same
manutactuitng process. Linde manufactures and distributes nearly all of its products and manages ils customer relationships on a regional basis. Linde’s
industrial gases are dismibuted to various end-markets within a regional segment through one of three basic distribution metheds: on-site or tonnage; merchant
or bulk; and packaged or cylinder gases. The distribution methods are generally integrated in order to best meet the customer’s needs and very few of its
products can be economically transported outside of a region. Therefore, the distributiont economics are specific to the various geographies in which the
company operates and are consistent with how management assesses performance.

The company’s measure af profitloss for segment reporting purposes remains unchanged - Segment operating profit. Segment operating profit is
defined as operating profit excluding purchase accounting impacts of the Linde AG merger, intercampany royalties, and items not indicative of ongoing
business trends. This is the manner in which the company’s CODM assesses performance and allocates resources. Similarly, total assets have not been
included as this is not provided to the CODM for their assessment. For a description of Linde's previous operating segments, refer to Note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements of Linde's 2018 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The table below presents information about reportable segments for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017. The year ended December 31,
2019 reflects the results of both Praxair and Linde AG for the entire year. The year ended December 31, 2018 reflects the results of Praxair for the entire year
and the results of Linde AG for the period beginning after October 31, 2018 (the merger date), including the impacis of purchase accounting (See Notes 1, 3
and 4 to the consolidated firancial statements). The historical periods prior to 2018 reflect the results of Praxair. Prior periods presented have been recast to be
consistent with the new segment structure:

(Millions of doltars} 2019 2018 2017

Sales (a)

Americas % 10993 § BO17 3% 7,204

EMEA 6,643 2,644 1,520

APAC 5,839 2,445 1,571

Engineering 2,799 459 N/A

Other 1,854 1,270 1,063
Total Sales $ 28228 § 14,836 % 11,358
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Operating Profit

Americas

EMEA

APAC

Engineering

Other
Segment operating profit

Cost reduction programs and other charges

Net gain on sale of business

Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG
Total operating profit

Depreciation and Ameortization

Americas

EMEA

APAC

Engineering

Other
Segment depreciation and amortization

Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG
Total depreciation and amortization

Capital Expenditures and Acquisitions
Americas

EMEA

APAC

Engineering

Other

Total Capital Expenditures and Acquisitions

Sales by Major Country
United States
Germany
China
United Kingdom
Australia
Brazil
Gther - foreign
Total Sales by Major Country
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2019 2018 2017
2,578 2,053 1,854
1,367 481 317
1,198 465 329

390 14 N/A
(245) (37} (4)
5,288 2,976 2,496
(567) (309) 52)

164 3,294 N/A

{1,952) (714) N/A
2,933 5,247 2,444

2019 2018 2017
1,195 860 778
749 269 168
613 271 178

35 5 N/A
143 79 60
2,735 1,484 1,184

1,940 346 N/A
4,675 1,830 1,184

2019 2018 2017
1,814 1,068 921
738 329 141
1,231 372 207

79 27 N/A
45 112 75
3,907 1,908 1,344

2019 2018 2017
8,604 5,942 4,973
3,630 568 401
2,005 1.032 735
1,653 398 131

1,127 183 N/A
994 1,003 1,100
10,215 5,410 4,018
28,228 14,836 11,358
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2019 2018 2017

Long-lived Assets by Major Country (b)

United States $ 7,498 § 7,189  $ 4,979
Germany 2,429 2,411 413
China 2,254 2,237 1,060
United Kingdom 1,479 1,582 55
Australja 1,214 1,476 N/A
Brazil 956 1,012 1,204
Other — foreign 13,234 13,810 4,114
Total long-lived assets $ 29,064 § 29717 § 11,825
(a) Sales reflect external sales only and include Linde AG sales from the merger date of October 31, 2018 forward. Intersegment sales, primarily from

Engineering 19 the industrial gases segments, were not material,

(by Long-lived assets inctude property, plant and equipment - net and reflect the impac of the merger with Linde AG (refer to Note 3).
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21. REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is accounted for in accordance with ASC 606. Revenne is renngnized ac control of goods or sewvices are transferred to customers in an amount that
1ellects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled to receive in exchange for the goods or services.

Contracts with Customers

Approximately 83% of Linde's consolidated sales are generated from industrial gases and related products in three geographic segments (Americas,
FMEA, and APAC) and the remaining 17% is related primarily to the Fngineering segment, and to a lesser extent Other (see Note 20 for operating segment
details). Linde serves a diverse group of industries including healthcare, energy, manufacturing, food, beverage carbonation, fiber-optics, steel making,
aerospace, chemicals and water treatment.

Industrial Gases

Within each of the company’s geographic segments for industrial gases, there are three basic distribution methods: (1) on-site or tonnage; {il) merchant or bulk
liquid; and {iii) packaged or cylinder gases. The distribution method used by Linde to supply a customer is determined by many factors, including the
customer’s volume requirements and location. The distribution method generally determines the contract terms with the customer and, accordingly, the
revenue recogrition accounting practices. Linde's primary products in its industrial gases business are atmospheric gases (oxXygen, nitrogen, argon, rare gases}
and process gases (carbon dioxide, helium, hydrogen, electronic gases, specialty gases, acetylene). These products are generally sold through one of the three
distribution methods.

Following is a description of each of the three industrial gases distribution methods and the respective revenue recognition policies:

Ont-site. Customers that require the largest volumes of product and that have a relatively constant demand pattern are supplied by cryogenic and process gas
on-site plants. Linde constructs plants an or adjacent o these customers’ sites and supplies the product directly to customers by pipeline. Where there are
large concentrations of customers, a single pipeline may be connected to several plants and customers. On-site product supply contracts generally are total
requirement contracts with terms typically ranging from 10-20 years and contain minimum purchase requirements and price escalation provisions. Many of
the cryogenic ou-site plants also produce liquid products for the merchant market. Therefore, plants are typically not dedicated 1o a single custonier.
Additicnally, Linde is responsible for the design, construction, operations and maintenance of the plants and our customers typically have no involvement in
these activities. Advanced air separation processes also allow on-site delivery to customers with smaller volume requirements.

The company’s performance obligations related to on-site customers are satisfied over time as customers receive and obtain control of the preduct. Linde has
elected to apply the practical expedient for measuring progress towatds the completion of a performance obligation and recognizes revenue as the company
has the right to invoice each customer, which generally corresponds with product delivery. Accordingly, revenue is recognized when preduct is delivered to
the customer and the company has the right to invoice the customer in accordance with the contract terms. Consideration in these contracts is generally based
on pricing which fluctuates with various price indices. Variable components of consideration exist within on-site contracts but are considered constrained.

Merchant. Merchant deliveries generally are made from Linde's plants by tanker trucks to storage containers at the customer's site. Due to the relatively high
distribution cost, merchant oxygen and nitrogen generally have a relatively small distribution radius from the plants at which they are produced. Merchant
argon, hydrogen and helivm can be shipped much longer distances. The customer agreements used in the merchant business are usually three to seven year
supply agreements based on the requirements of the customer. These coniracts generally do not contain minimum purchase requirements or volume
commitments.

The company’s performance obligations 1elated to merchant customers are generally satisfied at a point in time as the customers receive and obtain controt of
the product. Revenue is recognized when product is delivered to the customer and the company has the right to invoice the customer in accordance with the
contract terms. Any variable components of consideration within merchant contracts are constrained however this consideration is not significant.

Packaged Gases. Customers requiring small volumes are supplied products in containers called cylinders, under medium to high pressure. Linde distributes
merchant gases from its production plants to company-owned cylinder filling plants where cylinders are then filled for distribution to customers. Cylinders
may be delivered to the customer’s site or picked up by the customer at a packaging facility or retail store. Linde invoices the customer for the industrial gases
and the use of the cylinder container(s}. The company alse sells hardgoods and welding equipment purchased from independent manufacturers. Packaged
gases are generally sold under one 1o three-year supply contracts and purchase orders and do not contain minimum purchase requirements or volume
commitments.
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The company’s perfonmance obligations related to packaged gases are satisfied at a point in time. Accordingly, revenue is recognized when preduct is
delivered to the customer or when the customer picks up preduct from a packaged gas facility or retail store, and the company has the right to payment from
the customer in accordance with the contract terms. Any variable consideration is constrained and will be recognized when the uncertainty related to the
consideration is resolved.

Linde Engineering

The company designs and manufactures equipment for aiy separation and other industrial gas applications manufactured specifically for end customers. Sale
of equipment contracts are generally comprised of a single performance obfigation. Revenue from sale of equipment is generally recognized over time as
Linde has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date and performance does not create an asset with alternative use. For contracts
recognized over time, revenue is recognized primarily using a cost incurred input methed. Costs incurred to date relative to total estimated costs at completion
are used to measure progress toward satisfying performance obligations. Costs incurred include material, labor, and overhead costs and represent work
contribuiing and proportionate to the transfer of control to the customer. Contract madifications are typically accounted for as part of the existing contract and
are recognized as a cumulative adjustment for the inception-te-date effect of such change.

Contract Assets and Livbilities

Contract assets and liabilities result from differences in tming of revenue recognition and customer invoicing. Contract assets primarily relate to sale of
equipment contracts for which revenue is recognized over time. The balance represents unbilled revenue which occurs when revenue recognized under the
measure of progress exceeds ameunts invoiced to customers. Customer invoices may be based on the passage of time, the achievement of certain contractual
milestones or a combination of both criteria. Contract liabilities include advance payments or right to consideration prior to performance under the contract.
Contract liabilities are recognized as revenue as performance ohligations are satisfied under contract terms. Linde has contract assets of $368 million at
December 31, 2019. Total contract liabilities are $2,106 million at December 31, 2012 (current of $1,758 millipn snd $348 million within other long-term
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets). Total contract liabilities were $1,934 million at December 31, 2018 (current contract liabilities of $1,546
million, $234 million classified as deferred income within other current liabilities and $154 million in other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance
sheets). Revenue recognized for the twetve months ended December 31, 2019 that was included in the contract liability at December 31, 2018 was 51,168
million. Contract assets and liabilities primarily relate to the Linde Engineering business acguired in the merger. The industrial gases business does not
typically have material contract assets or liabilites.

Payment Terms and Other

Linde generally receives payment afier perfortmance obligations are satisfied, and customer prepayments are not typical for the industrial gases business.
Payment terms vary based on the country where sales originate and local customary payment practices. Linde does not offer extended financing outside of
customary payment terms. Amounts billed for sales and use iaxes, value-added taxes, and certain excise and other specific transactional taxes imposed on
revenue praducing transactions are presented an a net hasis and are not included in sales within the consalidated statement of inceme. Additionally, sales
returns and allowances are not a normal practice in the indusiry and are not significant.

Disaggregated Revenue Information

As described above and in Note 29, the company manages its industrial gases business on a geographic basis, while the Engineering and Other businesses are
generally managed on a global basis. Furthermore, the company believes that reporting sales by distribution method by reportable geographic segment best
ilustrates the nature, timing, type of customer, and contract terms for its revenues, including terms and pricing,.

The following tables show sales by distribution method at the consolidated level and for each reportable segment and Other for the years ended December 31,
2619 and 2018, The year ended December 31, 2019 reflects che results of both Praxair and Linde AG for the entise year. The year ended December 31, 2G18
reflects the resulis of Praxair for the entire year and the resubts of Linde AG for the period beginning after Qctober 31, 2018 (the merger date),
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(Millions of doltars) Year Ended December 31, 2019

Sales Americas EMEA APAC Engineering Other Total Yo
Merchant $ 2945 $ 1,856 $ 2,080 $ - § 184 3 7,066 25%
On-Site 2,758 1,434 2,060 — — 6,252 22%
Packaged Gas 5,185 3,347 1,562 — 19 10,113 36%
Other 104 6 137 2,799 1,751 4,797 17%
$ 10,993 % 6,643 3 5839 % 2,793 % 1954 $ 28,228 100%
(Mitlions of dollars) Year Ended December 31, 2018
Sales Americas EMEA APAC Engineering Other Total %
Merchant $ 2,775 % 832 $ 826 % — % 119 $ 4,552 31%
On-Site 2,405 536 1,156 — -— 4,097 28%
Packaged Gas 2,800 1,271 443 — 3 4,517 30%
Other 37 5 21 459 1,148 1,670 11%
% 8,017 $ 2644 $ 2,446 % 459 § 1,270 $§ 14,836 100%

Remaining Performance Obligations

As described above, Linde's contracts with on-site customers are under long-terin supply arrangements which generally require the customer to purchase their
requirements from Linde and also have minimum purchase requirements. The company estimates the consideration related to minimum purchase
requirements is approximately $48 billion. This amount excludes all sales above minimum purchase requirements, which can be significant depending on
customer needs. Tn the future, actual amounts will be different due te impacts from several factors, many of which are beyond the company’s control
including, but not limited to, timing of newly signed, terminated and renewed contracts, inflationary price escalations, currency exchange rates, and pass-
through costs related to natural gas and electricity. The actual duraticn of long-term supply contracts ranges up to twenty years. The company estimates that
approximately half of the revenue related 1o minimum purchase requirements will be earned in the next five years and the remaining thereafter.
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NOTE 22. QUARTERLY DATA (UNAUDITED)

(Pollar amounts in millions, except per share dataj

2019 1Q () 2Q(a) 3Q (a) 4Q () YEAR ()
Sales % 65,944 7,204 7,000 7,080 28,228
Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and amartization 4,116 4,280 4,061 4,187 16,644
Depreciation and amortization 1,223 1,195 1,095 1,162 4,675
Operating profit 609 669 1,000 655 2,933
Net income — Linde pl¢ 517 522 735 511 2,285
Income from continuing operations 435 513 728 507 2,183
Income from discontinued operations 82 9 7 4 102
Basic Per Share Data

Income from continning operations $ 0.80 0.95 1.35 0.94 4.03
Income from discontinued operations 0.15 0.02 0.01 0.01 0.19
Weighted average shares (000’s) 545,554 542,561 539,753 536,768 541,094
Diluted Per Share Data

Income from continming operations $ 0.79 0.94 1.34 0.94 4.00
Income from discontinued operations 0.15 0.02 0.01 0.01 0.19
Weighted average shares {000’s) 549,147 546,488 543,616 540,919 545,170
2018 1Q(a) 2Q(a) 39 (@) 4Q (a) YEAR {a)
Sales 5 2,983 3,044 3,008 5,801 14,836
Cost of sales, exclusive of depreciation and ameriization 1,661 1,706 1,698 3,955 9,20
Depreciation and amortization 311 31 306 902 1,830
Operating profit 653 689 669 3,236 5,247
Net income — Linde plc 462 480 461 2,978 4,381
Income from continuing operations 462 480 461 2,870 4,273
income from discontinued operations _ — — 168 108
Basic Per Share Data

Income from continuing cperations® $ 1.61 1.67 1.60 6.27 1293
Income froin discontinued operations* — — — 024 0.33
Weighted average shares (000’s} 287,504 287,803 288,093 457,518 330,401
Difuted Per Share Data

Income from condnuing operations* $ 1.59 1.65 1.58 6.22 12.79
Income from discontinued operations*® — — — 0.23 0.32
Weighted average shares (000's) 290,809 290,908 291,513 461,150 334,127

calculated for the year.

(a) 2019 ang 2018 incJude the impact of the following matters (see Notes 3, 4, 5, 7, 12 and 18):
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Operating
Profit/ Tncome from Continuing
{Miitions of dollars) (Loss) Operations
ol
Cost reduction programs and other charges 8N % (81)
Pension settlement charge — (38
Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (531) (378)
Q2
Cost reduction programs and other charges (141) (123)
Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (515) (368)
Q3
Cost reduction programs and other charges (125) (91)
Pension settlement charge — (30)
Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (425) (312)
Gain on sale of business 164 108
Q4
Cost reduction programs and other charges (212) (160)
Pension settlement charge — 4
Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (481) (354)
Year 2019 (2,355) % (1,831)
Operating
Profit/ Income from Continuing
{Millionts of dollars} {Loss) Operations
(03}
Cost reduction programs and other charges (19, % (18)
Q2
Cost reduction programs and other charges (24) (2L
Q3
Cost reduclion programs and other charges (31) (29)
Pension settlement charge — 3
Q4
Cost reduction programs and other charges (235) {238)
Gain on sale of business 3,294 2,923
Bond redemption — (20)
Pension settlement charge — 8
Tax Act and other tax charges — 17
Purchase accounting impacts - Linde AG (714) (451)
Year 2018 2271 § 2,152
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Based on an evaluatian of the effectiveness of Linde’s disclosure controls and procedures, which was made under the supervision and with the
participation of management, including Linde’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer, the principal executive officer and principal
financial officer have each conclnded that, as of the end of the annual period covered by this report, such disclosure controls and procedures are effective in
ensuring that information required to be disclosed by Linde in reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the tme periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms, and accumulated and
communicated to management including Linde’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Refer to Item 8 for Management’s Report on [nternal Control Over Financial Reparting as of December 31, 2019.
Changes in Internal Controel over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in Linde’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2019 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, Linde’s internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None,
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Certain information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections captioned “Corparate Governance and Board Matters -
Director Nominees” and “Corporate Governance And Board Matters - "Delinquent Section 16 {(a) Reports” in Linde's Prexy Statement to be filed by April 30,
2020 for the Annual General Meeting.

Identification of the Audit Committee

Linde has a separately-designated standing Audit Comumittee established in accordance with Section 3(a)}(58)(A} of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 as amended (the “Exchange Act”). The members of that audit committee are Prof. Dr. Clemens Borsig (chairman), Dr. Nance K. Dicciani, Dr. Thomas
Enders, Edward G. Galante, Larry D. McVay and Dr. Victoria Ossadnik, and each member is indepeadent within the meaning of the independence standards
adopted by the Board of Directers and those of the New York Stock Exchange.

Audit Committee Financial Expert

The Linde Board of Directors has determined that Prof. Dr. Clemens Bérsig is an “audit committee financial expert” as defined by Item 407(d)(5)(ii) of
Regulation S-K of the Exchange Act and is independent within the meaning of the independence standards adopted by the Board of Directors and thase of the
New York Stock Exchange.

Code of Ethics

Linde has adopted a code of ethics that applies to the company’s directors and all employees, including its Chief Executive Offtcer, Chief Financial
Officer, and Chief Accounting Otticer. This cede of ethics, including specific standards for implementing certain provisicns of the code, has been approved
by the Linde Beard of Directors and is named the “Code of Business Integrity”. This document is posted on the company’s public website, www.linde.com
but is not incorporated herein.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections capticned “Executdve Compensation Matters” and “Corporate
Governance and Board Matters - Director Compensation” in Linde’s Proxy Statement to be filed by April 30, 2020 for the Annual General Meeting.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

Equity Compensation Plans Information - The table below provides information as of Decernber 31, 2019 about company shares that may be issued
upon the exercise of options, warrants and rights granted to employees or members of Linde’s Board of Directors under equity compensation plans thac were
assumed by Linde upon the completion of the business combination on October 31, 2018.

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS TABLE

Number of securities
remaining available for

Number of securities to Weighted-average future issuance under

be isswed upan exercise exercise price of equity compensation plans

of outsianding options, outstanding options, (excluding securities
Plan Category warrants and rights warrants and rights reflected in column
Equity compensation plans approved by
shareholders 10,426,688 (1) $ 127.04 6,715,222 (2)
Equity compensation plans not approved by
sharehelders — . _
Total 10,426,688 8 127.04 6,715,222

n This amount includes BR3,922 restricted shares and 246,220 performance shares.

(2) This amount includes 6,454,428 shares available fos future issuance pursuant to the Amended and Restated 2009 Praxair, Inc. Long Term Incentive
Plan assumed by Linde, and 260,794 shares available for future issuance pursuant to the Long Term Incentive Plan 2018 of Linde plc.

Certain information requived by this item regarding the beneficial ownership of the company’s ordinary shares is incorporated herein by reference 1o the
section captioned “Taformadou ¢n Share Ownership” in Linde’s Proxy Staterent to be fited by April 30, 2020 for the Anaual General Meeting.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections captioned “Corperate Governance And Board Matters — Review,
Approval or Ratification of Transactions with Related Parsons,” “Corporate Governance Ard Board Matters — Certain Relationships and Transactions,” and
“Corporate Governance And Board Matters — Director Independence” in Linde’s Proxy Statement to be filed by April 30, 2020 for the Annual General
Meeting.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Information requived by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the section captioned “Audit Matters” in Linde’s Proxy Statement o be filed
by April 30, 2020 for the Annual General Meeting.
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PART 1V
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
{4) the following documents are filed as part of this report:

(1) The company’s 2019 Consclidated Financial Statements and the Report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm are included
in Part IT, Trem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

(2) Financial Statement Schedules — All financial statement schedules have been amitted because they are not applicable or the required
information is shown in the financial statements or notes thereto.

(3) Exhibits — The exhibits filed as part of this Annual Report cn Form 10-K are listed in the accompanying index.
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Linde plc and Subsidiaries

Description

Busingess Combipation Apreemen| by ond gmone Linds Aktengesellschalt Praggi dng. Zamabgh M C. Zamaligh Hobdeo | TG apd Zavaljoht
Subce, e dated ao of June 12017 (Biled as Bahilit 2.1 o Prasair, Tnes's Cyepent Report on Form B-k dated June 1. 2017, Pibing Mo 1211637,
and {8 incorporated herein by reference. )

Amegdmens No 1. dated \ugust 10, 2017, 1w the Business Combinaion Vereement. by gk amons Pravair, 1ne,. Linde dhiiepsesellychal,
Linde ple, Zamabpht Hroldeo LY and Zamalioht Subce, doe (Filed oy Fahibit 21 o Prasain, Tne's Coereot Boport on Borar -8 cdated \upps
10,2017, 8 dling Mo, 1-11047, and iy incorporated herehy by reterence.)

Sali aeed Parechase Ygreement. daed July

2008, by aned amany Prosaue, Jnc.. Taive: Nippog Saaso Corpatation a7 apd Linds ple with

et Lo the sale ot a mapority of Prasdic's Tstaesses in Luecepo o Bajvain coanneefjon with the Business Combipation Agreement (1iled as
Eahihit 2.0 o the Conpany s Quartedy Report on Form 10-0) for e quarier ended Septernber 30, 2018 File N 138740, and is inn orporated

T

Sale and Purchave Apseement. dated Tuty 16, 2018, by and among 1inde AG. Prasair ine,
Indusiries {8 4, Tne, (the MG enitics and Messer Ganada, {9¢. Bring catieosh elv_geferred o as *Wesser™h and Uinde ple with respegt o Lhe safe
of ceain gssors of 1 inde VG iR e Smerivas and cestain assets of Presain, Inc, to Messer in connedtinn with the Bosiness Combination

Awpement (Fled as babinit 2.2 w vhe Compans s Quantety Bepov os Fotm 30 401 ihe quater caded Sepaember 30, 2018, klle So. L8730,
and is incorporated hereby T teterence)

MG ndusries GobH, Moesser Conada Ine, MO

Firg Amendmentdated Seprember 21, 2018 v the Syle gnd Puichase Aorepment, doted July 16, 2018, By gnd gmogyg §inde AG, Praxgir, fne,,
Moesser, and Linde ple with respect o the sale of Conain gdditional assers of Linde AG g the Amgricgs 1o Messer incopnection with the

200 Vil N 187 80, and is jncyrpesated Bereby by refereng o)

Second Ymepdment deted Deohor 19, 0818 10 the Sabe g Pur base Aoecemene. dated July 16, s aitiomlod y_the Borss \mendimen:
theteru. by ond among 1inde 3G, Proaair, Lpc, Messer gnd Linde plo., awith respest o the sale of conain additional assets o Linde AG in e

ADenicds o Messer in conneion wich the DBusiaess Combinaion Asiecrment {Filed as Tahibit 2.2 by the Company’s Ouarterly Roportgn Torm
160} Tgrahe quarter ended Sepemivr 30, 2018, Bude Mo T-TI037,_and s incurpordfed herodn_by_refejencel,

third Amendmen] daged Februan,_ 20, 2019 o the Sale and Purchgse Vercement. doted Juds 16, 2018, ay amwnded bv_the Firsg and Second
Smemdment therews, by and among Cinde AG Prasair_{ne, SMesser, g Linde plc, with respect by the sabe v (oiain additiongd aysets of

Linde AG inthe Vimericas by Messer io comned o with the Business Combiantion Agreemesne daced as of Jure 1, 2007, a5 amwended, i el et
cemhination of the busipesses of Finde A

March 10, Fike Noo 1-11037. and s inuorparated hereby b potoren o)

< ded on

Sipended and Resintpd Public 1imited Compaps_Constitaion ot biode pde il jied as Fabibet 33 @ th Compans s Cuoent Repett o Foim 8-k,

[vd on Octobor 302018 1le N 343-2 LR85 and fnvorponated Wreein by referepee),

Desoripion o b indie ple Cadinary Shaes

eretesigore, Gaterd s of fuls 1301992 hetwern Paangin, fm and U6 Hank Natdonad \eaocradion s the wgfongne s g essor fetstee t Bonh of
A ca, s, fopmely Contnendas Bank, Natomal dssociaton (Fide-bos Txhibvitd o Proser, Ine s Current Beportan Forny Ho daed
Mok 19, 2007

iking Mo 1-0HIT and dneorponted herein by elervneel,

Vo of Subordinaied Indentuee bor Pravai;, Lac (Eiled as bahibol 303w Pravain, Tnes Pocin S=3, dled on Mav 120 2005, ke ol 1332048053,

and is ey posated e by efeence.d

Supplerwnl ndenmre, doted ay of Sepugnber 3, 2019, awens T inde pic, Proxae, Jag 1 ivde AG and 105, Banl Nadonal Assocation, ag

razbd L1 AU

trustee (Flipd s Exbibit 4.2 1o the Linde ple Form 8- dated Sepember 6, 2019, bime Ny 1-387 30 and ingorpmorated heeein ba_eleione)

Copies of the agreements relating 10 long-term debt which are not required o be filed as exhibits to this Anmual Report on Form 10-K will be
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.
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Credit Aoreement dated as of Mareh 26, 2009, anwng T inde ple. ceramn ol s subardiarieg uties thecews as borera ers, the lepders pacty_theteto
and Bonk ab Mdmerica, N Y., as ddmiosoative Veent (Filed gs Eghibi 10,010 1 inde ple's current repoi on Foemn 88 doged Spril 3. 2019,
Eihing Mo, 1238730, and incerparated herein by eterence),

N4 as Admimsuarise Agent (Liled as b xhibic 10,2 to the Lande ple borm 8-k deted Sepember 6, 2018, 1iling No 1238730, and incorporated

herein by_reference)

Long lerm bncermive Plan 2088 of §inde ple (Liled gy Tabibit 14w the Compane’s Boon $-8. fied on Oviober 31, 2008, File No, 343-2208084,

aind 1ncospurated Nereln by relvrence)

Linde ple Aingal Variable Compensation Plan ettective Tangary L 2019 {Filed gs Pabibie 10,0 tashe Company s Current Heport on Por 8-k,
liled on lanuary 25, 2019, File No  1-48740, and 1 incorporgted herely By _oterenee)

Fotm of Frocotve Severange Sompensdion A eevment efles Cve lanuary 1, 2009 (Pded os Babilby 1002 10 Prasair, s 2008 Aonudl Report
on Form 10-K. Filing o, 1-11037, god ncor pocated Berein hy_rederend ),

Lorm of dmendment, elecive December 31, 2002 0 Baeontive Severance Comprensation vereements that wers et{ecgive fanuary_1, 2009
(Fiipd as Exhibit 10,1 to Pravein, Ing s Curren Repon on Forns 8:8 daed Decomber 14, 2002, Fibing No. 1211037, and incorporgied heeein Ly,

relerence.

Poun ol Faedunive Severante Compensdinn A deciem ehiecive Tansay 1, 2000 (Filed as Eahibit 1002 1o Prasai, Iocs Guarkerly Repocton
Lorm 10-0) Tor the guarter ended June 30, 2000, 1 No, 1-H0 37, and incorpoated herein by_reference),

Comm at vsendment, cftective December 31, 2002 1w Executive Seyveranee Compensation dureeinents that were eftective lanuary 1, 2010
(EFifeel s Lahibit 10020 10 Proaair, e s 2072 Sl Repoit o borne 18-K, Filing No. 1-110137, and sncorporated berein by reterence),

Foum ol Pxeoutive Severamee Compensatinn Agreement effeciive Januayy 1, 2003 (Filed as Phibn 10.02d w0 Prasair, Tow's 2012 Vrwal Report
on Lot T0-K. Filing . 111037, and incorporated hecein by_telerence)

Foum ot Asenppiion of Bracain, Ine Doeconse Scverance Compuwensation ygreement by § inde ple (Fibed o Fxebion 10 05%¢ w1 iade plo’s 2008
Anaual Reporton Form 10-K. T ding No. 1- 38730, und incorporated hewein by_relerence),

Praxair e, Supplemeneal Retirement Incomie Plan A ettective fuauary 1, 2008 (Fded as il 10000 b Prasaic, e 's JOU8 Annual Report
nn Form 16-K. 1 iling No, 1=11337 . and incorporated hetein by reference)

First amendiment o e Prasair, Ine. Supplemental Retirement lncome Plan Y effective Janoary 1. 2000 (Filed as Eshibit 10 05 1 Praxair,
Lc.'s 2009 Aooual Report on Torm 10-K 4 iling Ne U037, and incerpopates] heiein By eterenced,

Second vmendnent to Praxaie, Ine, Supplemenad Hetieawns Iocomwe Plan y effective Tebruary 232000 (Ll ge Pxhibit 10 0% ro Pronair,

[nc's 2006 Annual Reporton borm 10-k, Tling Nee 121 HI37 and 1y i orporatiecd hereby by refesence),

Prasair, 1o Supplementdl Reticenent lncome Plan B amended and restated effective Deeember 3, 2007 (Liled as Bahibin 10,0050 w0 Prasai,
Inu's 2008 Sonual Bepoeet on Borm H-KE

v N T HOAT, anek ineorporates] hesgin by eterciy el

it amendment by the Prasaic, dne, Supplementast Reticement Income Plag B eflective Jenaary 1, 2000 (Filed gs Tabibi 10,054 1o Plaxaiy, Ine.'s
2009 Annugl Bepocton Form 108, Liling No 3-18037, and incarporated berem by reterenced,

Secapd Ampadment s Ui ne Supplenentd] Revrement Iocome PLin B etteciive Jaby T 2002 (] el as Febibin 10050 160 Prasaiz fng s
2062 Aopual Reporson Form 189-K, Liling Mo, 1-11037, and incorporgied berein by reference)

Third Amendment o Prasdgir, Toe, Supplemenial Retirement Incoms Plan 83 elfective February 28, 2017 thited as Fxhibiz HLO50 05 Prason,
I s 2016 Annual Reporl oo Form 10-1. Fiting MNee 1=11037, and 18 inworporated berein by_reterence),

Pravair. Ine Feuabization Benetit Plan amended and restared ettective December 31, 2007 {Filed as Eahibit 10.05¢ 1 Praxair [ne s 2008
dnnual Repor on Fom 18-K. Liliog S, 1=14H037, amd ineospueared borein By _reference),

Lirst amendment to the Praain dnc. baualization Benetic Blan ottectye Junuary 1 2010 (Ciled o §ahifit 10,050 0 Prosair fm s 2009

Anoual Bepareen Lo 18-K, Tilioe No 1-11037 and incorporated bereig Hy_retaeace),

Second Amendment to e Prasalr, Inc bguabizagion Benetic Plan effecgive Pebraary 28, 2007 (P iled oo § xhibit 10.05) w Prosair, Tog s
20006 Annwg] Reprst on Form 10-k, Fiting Do, LT3, and i incorpoated berein by seferenced,
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*10.06f

*10.06g

*10.06h
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*10.08
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*10.09

*10.10

*10.10a

*10.10b

*10.10c¢

Fhird Amendmient to the Prasain Inc. fyualization PGenetit Plan eHecgive December 1 2007 (Fited go Fhibin 30 004 (o Praxair, dogs
2017 Sunua! Renort on Form 10-K, 1ile No. 1-11037 . and §s incorporaed Gerein v telerenge)

Fourth Amendment o the Praxai- 1ae, Synplemental Retivement bncome Plan B effecive December 12007 (Eiled o Labibic 1005110

Prosair, o s 2017 Anowal Report gn Foan 10-K, File N, 1-11037, and s incorporawed herein by teterepce)

fhird A otendment to the Prasgin dne, Supplegvnts! Redirement fncome Plan 3 offecive Duember 1, 201 7 (Gited as Tadiibic [0.05m

Praxair. Joc s 2017 Ynnual Repat an borm 10-K, Hile No. 1-11037. anrd is incarporgied herein by relerence),

Praxair, Ine 2018 Foual zadon Benztin Plan (Eiled as Badubit 9.0 w0 Prasaie, Ine.’s Cagent Report on Foon 8- tiled on Qetaber 22,
2018, File No. 1-11037. and incorgerated Berein by_reterencey,

['raxgir. e, 2018 Supplemental Reggement Income Pan 4 (Filed ay Eaibit 992 1w Peasdie Ing s Cureond Ropt on b orm B0 filod on
Octisher 22, 2008, de Mo 1-11047 and g orporgred hereln by reterence)

Prasain, dpc 2008 Supnlemental Berirement Tncgiue Plan B (Filed as b xiibic 96,3 to Praxaic, foe s Curtent Repoit gn Porgy 8-I8 jed
Ocpiber 22 240008 Dile N T=3031007 and Joe oy poraied berein by veference),

Proxair [ne. Divectonr s fees Deterra! Plan amended and resiated ebfeetive fapeary 20, 2000 (T iled gy Exhihis 10,06 10 Praxaie fne.’s Aoy
Vitngal Hepott on Form WK, Filing No. 1211087, and incezporated hesein by refoence?,

Prasgit, Ine. Compensaion Belerral Propram Amended and Restated as of July 15, 2004 [Filed as Fahibii 10.01 G Prasair, Inc'y

Lirst vmeadment 1o the Prasair Costpensaian Deferral Program efecive Felruary 28, 200 7,08 led oo § ahibin 1074 w0 Prasain e s

2016 Annpal Heport on Fermm [0-K_Eiling Mo, 1211037, and js iacoporated herein by reletence).

Seivice Credit_irangement tor Stophen b Apeel dated Mav 232007 was Tiled as Ushibi 10,20 by Prasair, (nc's Form 8- lied on My,

24, 2007 andd Iy incer porated herein by reterepee

Anended and Restawed 2008 Praseir, Toe. Lope Tenn Incentise 121an (1 iled as Eahibin 4.0 w0 Pravgin Inc's Form S-8. filed on October
31,2008 ile Moo 333-228084 and ipconporgred herein Ov_teterence),

Form vt Standard Ootion Awaed wades the 2008 Praxairn, inc. Long Term Dncentis e Plan {Filed as [hiblt 10022 1 Prasair, Ine’s 2004
Annua] Hepott on Tovm VK, Filine No. =007 and ineosporated herein by reference)

Lorm ol Lransforable Opticn Ywad under the 20009 Poisairn, Ine, §oog Term incentive Tan (Uiled as Exibie 10223 0 Prear, Lk s 2009
Annua] Beport on Parm [0-K Filing N, 1110057 and ingoerperated herein dpy_referen e,

Uist Amendoent, sbated s o8 Aol 25, 2017 o the dmenshvd and Restaed 2009 Prosain, Joc Lang Termt fncemtive Plad (el g Fxhibi

00T 10 Prasair, Focs Quarterly Report on Form 10-0) toc the uantes eoded Aare b 38 2007, Filing S 12010087 and is incorporaged
hetein b _reberence)
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*10.10d Form ot Trensterable Option Sward under the Amended_and Resiated 2008 Praxdirn, 1o, Lone Teem Wnceotn e Plan bor grants inade i
2015-2017 (Liled s }hibit 10.26 1 Praxair, Inc's 2614 Vnnual Reporton Form 10-K, Lling o 11037, and incorpoiated berein |y,
reference )

*10.10e Lo of Fransterable Option \ward under the Areended and Restaied 2009 Praxair, Iac, iong Term nceanve Plan foi erants made in

2008 (Filed as 2 abibil 10260 10 Prosan foe s 2017 Aooos! Reputan poem 10-R. File Ne, -85 and ineospogaeed ferein by,
feterence)

*10.10f Form ot Restoiced Stach Ulnit ward under e dYmended and Bestated 2009 Prasaic e, Doire_Leim Incentive Pl Tor orants rigde in
2015 and thereatier (1 ied oy bxhibit 10,27 10 Prosgit, Inc. s 2014 Aual Repog on Torm 10-K Eiling Nu. 2-11037, and bworporated
herein by rederence,

*10.10g Fonn of Restricled Stock tnit Wweard wnderthe Ameoded and Restared 2009 Prasdair. Iee J oms Lermyincenuyve Pl bor seanis mode i
2008 ¢Filud as Fahibil 10,270 1o Praxair, T, 2017 Annugd Report oo Form 10-K, Tile No. 1-THB37. and incurporaled herin s,

refereaced,

*10.10h Foms et No-Fmpioves Dies o Besuicned Stock Unie vced widet the Apcnded and Bestated 2009 Prasain e T osg oo locentiy e
Plan ¢ Liled as Pxchibic 1001 @0 Prosair, Inc s Qoacerty Repon on Lenm 10-0) for the guagier ended Jue 30, 2015, Filias o 1-i10147

antl i e proraree! hetein by reforem ),

10,101 Lorm of Nnp-fmpiovee Director Restricied Stock Tni Award uader the Ameonded and Restared 2009 Provoir, Tac, Bong Jeem Icentive

Plan for granls made in 2059 and thogeaiter

*10.10j Vonw et Pransferable Optiog dwand under the Svoended and Reswaied 2009 Prasain, Toe. Long e ncentive PLan teg 9180ty Becinning
2019 (Filed as Fxhibie 100 o binde plos 20018 Yangal Report on Form 0= 1iling Noo 138730, and ncoijilaied Derein by,

retersie)

*10.10k Furm of Restricted Stw b Unit Award under the Amended god Restated 2009 Pravar dne, Long Term Ineentive Plaa Lo grams beginning
0y 2019 (Eiled as Exinibit 80008 w0 Tinvle pic's 2R Anoual Report on boum [0-K Fiking No. 12387 34, and incorporated herein e
relereiieey.

*10.10! Lorm of Pertormane Share Hnie waard pnde; the Ameaded aned Restaed 2009 Prevair. {ne, Tong Term Incentive Plan for srants

beginning in V1Y with Return on Copitg! periormance metrics (1iked s Fxhibic 101N 1o 1 inde plc’s J018 Annual Reporton |erm 10-
k. Filing No. 1-48730. and incorporated herein by referemce).

*10.10m Porm of Perbormance Share (i Award pndes the A mended aned Rostated 2009 Praxair, e, 1 ong Term Tnventive Plan for grants
Beginning in 20019 with Total Sharebolder Rewn performarwe metzies (Liled as Lxhibic 103110 0 1 inde ple’s 2008 Apnugi Bepoit on
Corm 10-K, Tiling Noo 1-38730, and incorporaed herein by reterence)

1011 Porm of Binplayer-Funded Pension Plan Precuteve Spreenent of Tride VG fded as Bahibo 10 U o {inde plis 2018 Arnugl Bepocl
v Forr 10-h. Filing N, £-387 30, and incnrporated herein by telerence)

*10.12 Forms of §inde A Dxecuuve Fmplovaent varcement fbded as b oabibig 10,05 w0 inde gl 's 2008 Aoowal Repwaton Vorm (=K, T iling
No 1238730, ad incoopated berein Dyverereiw),

*10.12a Ponm of Chanee Contesl Agpeadic o Dinde VG T secughve Pmplosment Vereement (Filed as Lahili 10,053 o Dinde plo’s 2018
Annual Reporeon Lorm V0-R iling Mo 1387300 and incomorated hesein by relerenoe),
s 1 ¥ .

*10.13 Service vprepmyeag v and between Linde Holdime GmbH and 8i Sanjin | amba, dated December 20, 201049
*10.13a Pension Agreenent ameng §inde \G, [iade Holding GmbH oud Mr Sanjiv Lamba dated December 20, 2019.
*10.14 Fonm ot Linde ple Direcor Indemnitivetion Agreement (Tiled gy Fbibin 1001 10 the Coinpany”s Current Report on Fonn 8-k, Hed oo

Ocioher 31,2018 Fle No, 333-21805, ond incorporated herem by_relereoce)

18 Preferability | citer on {hagge in Ao ounsing Principle
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2101
2301
316t
31.02

3201

32.02

10L.INS

101.5CH
101.CAL
101.LAB
101.PRE

10L.DEF

Subsicharies gf 1inde ple

Consent of indepeadent Bedistered Puldic Yooountiog {irm,

Rule_{3d-14(0) Cerufication

Rule 133.1443) Cernitication

Segdiog 13506 eiticaion (such cert tiegtions are furnished tor the intormatun o the £ Goumisstion angd shall ot be deemied incorporated
b reterene Jato anv_Hhny under the Seeurities Ace or the BEschange yei).

Sectit 1350 Certidication {suh ceriztications gre lurnished for the intormation of the Commission and shatl g be degmed incoropated
Dy_telerenes dnlo ay difing undur the Secuiies e ibe Eachague Ao,

XBRL Instance Document: The XBRL Instance Document does not appear in the Lateractive Data File because its XBRL tags are
embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

NBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
NBRL Taxenomy Extension Label Linkbase
XBRI. Taxononty Extension Presentation Linkbase

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase

Copies of exhibits incorporated by reference can be obtained from the SEC and are located in SEC File No. 1-11037.

* Indicatey @ management comract or compensatary plan ar arrangement.
Certain schedules or similar attachments have been omiited pursuant 1o Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation $-K. The Registrant agrees 1o furnish supplemental copies of
- any of the omitted schedules or attachments upon request by the SEC,
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SIGNATURES
Linde plc and Subsidiaries

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized,

Linde plc
(Regisirant)
By: /s/  KELCEY E. HOYT

Kelcey E. Hoyt
Chief Accounting Officer

Date: March 2, 2020

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons or behalf of the
Resgistrant and in the capacities indicated on March 2, 2020.

5' MATTHFW J, WHITE

Matthew J. White
Chief Financiaf Officer

s/ PROF, DR, WOLFGANG REITZLE s/ STEPHEN F. ANGEL

Wolfgang Reitzle Stephen F. Angel
Chairman Chief Executive Officer and Director

s’

PROF. DDR. ANN-KRISTIN ACHLIETNER

/5 DR.CLEMENS BORSIG

fs/ DR.NANCE K. DICCIANL

Ann-Kristin Achleitner

‘

s/

Direcior

DR. THOMAS ENDERS

Clemens Borsig
Director

Js/ FRANZ FEHRENBACH

Nanee K. Dicciani
Director

/s/ EDWARD (. GALANTE

Thomas Enders
Director

LARRY D. MCVAY

Franz Fehrenbach
Director

s DR, VICTORIA OSSADNIK

Edward G. Galante
Director

/sf PROFE. DR, MARTIN H. RICHENHAGEN

Larry D. McVay
Director

ROUBERT L. wWwOOD

Raobert L. Wood
Director

Victoria Ossadnik
Director
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Martin Richenhagen
Director



Juan Pelaez

Vice President Investos Refations
juan.Pelaez@linde.com

+1 2038372213

Genersal Inquiries
Investor.Relations@linde.com
+1 203 837-2210

Ordinary Shares Listing (Symbol: LIN}
New York Stock £xchange

Frankfurt Stock Exchange

CUSIP: G5494) 103

ISIN: IEOCBZ12WP82

stack Transfer Agent and Stock Record
Keeping

Computershare Trust Company, N.A.
("Computershare”} is Linde’s stock transfer
agent and registrar, and administers atl
matters for shareholders of record.

For information about account records, stock
certificates, change of address and dividend
payments, contact: +1 866 201-5090 Toll Free
and +1 781 575-2553 outside the United States
or web.queries@computershare.com.

website address:
www.computershase.com/investor

By mail, address shareholder inquiries to:
Computershare Investor Services

462 South 4th Sireet

Suite 1600

Lauisville, XY, 40202

United States of America

Dividend Reinvestment Plan
Linde provides investors a convenient,
low-cost program that allows dividends

to be autamatically reinvested into

additionat shares of Linde ordinary shares.
Contact Computesshare for full details.

For mare information visit us onfine
at www.linde.com




Linde plc
The Priestley Centre, 10 Priestley Road, The Surrey Research Park, Guildford, surrey GU2 7XY, United Kingdom, www.linde.com




